
 
 
 

Development Control B 
Committee 

 

Agenda 
 
 
 

Date:      Wednesday, 8 March 2023 
Time:      2.00 pm 
Venue:   The Council Chamber, City Hall, College Green, 
Bristol, BS1 5TR 
 
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public Forum are advised that all 
Development Control meetings are filmed for live or subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting 
pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except where there are confidential or exempt items) and the 
footage will be available for two years.  
If you ask a question or make a representation, then you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to 
have given your consent to this. If you do not wish to be filmed you need to make yourself known to the 
webcasting staff. However, the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means that 
persons attending meetings may take photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and report on 
the meeting (Oral commentary is not permitted during the meeting as it would be disruptive). Members 
of the public should therefore be aware that they may be filmed by others attending and that is not 
within the council’s control. 
 
Councillors: Ani Stafford-Townsend (Chair), Chris Windows (Vice-Chair), Lesley Alexander, 
Fabian Breckels, Andrew Brown, Lorraine Francis, Katja Hornchen, Guy Poultney and Chris Jackson 
 
Copies to: Gary Collins, Matthew Cockburn, Norman Cornthwaite, Jeremy Livitt, Rachael Dando, 
David Fowler (Members' Office Manager (Conservative)), Stephen Fulham, Paul Shanks, Stephen 
Peacock (Chief Executive), Philippa Howson and John Smith (Director: Economy of Place) 
 
Issued by: Jeremy Livitt, Democratic Services 
City Hall, PO Box 3399, Bristol, BS1 9NE 
E-mail: democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 
Date: Monday, 27 February 2023 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 
Development Control B Committee – Agenda 

 

 

Agenda 
  

1. Welcome, Introduction and Safety Information  2.00 pm 
 (Pages 4 - 7)  

2. Apologies for Absence   
   

3. Declarations of Interest   
To note any interests relevant to the consideration of items on the agenda. 
  
Any declarations of interest made at the meeting which are not on the register of 
interests should be notified to the Monitoring Officer for inclusion. 
 

 

 

4. Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 18th 
January 2023  

 

To agree the minutes of the last meeting as a correct record. 
 

(Pages 8 - 14) 
 

5. Action Sheet   
The Committee is requested to note any outstanding actions listed on the rolling 
Action Sheet for DCB Committee. 

(Page 15) 

  

6. Appeals   
To note appeals lodged, imminent public inquiries and appeals awaiting decision.  
 

(Pages 16 - 26) 
 

7. Enforcement   
To note enforcement notices. 
 

(Page 27) 
 

8. Public Forum   
Any member of the public or councillor may participate in public forum. The 
detailed  arrangements for so doing are set out in the Public Information Sheet 
at the back of this agenda. Please note that the following deadlines will apply 
in relation to this meeting: 

 
Questions: 
Written questions must be received three clear working days prior to the 
meeting. For this meeting, this means that your question(s) must be received 
at the latest by 5pm on Thursday 2nd March 2023. 

  
 

 



 
Development Control B Committee – Agenda 

 

 

Petitions and statements: 
Petitions and statements must be received by noon on the working day prior 
to the meeting. For this meeting, this means that your submission must be 
received at the latest by 12 Noon on Tuesday 7th March 2023. 

  
The statement should be addressed to the Service Director, Legal Services, c/o 
The Democratic Services Team, City Hall, 3rd Floor Deanery Wing, College 
Green,  
P O Box 3176, Bristol, BS3 9FS or email - democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk 
  
PLEASE NOTE THAT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE NEW STANDING ORDERS 
AGREED BY BRISTOL CITY COUNCIL, YOU MUST SUBMIT EITHER A 
STATEMENT, PETITION OR QUESTION TO ACCOMPANY YOUR REGISTER TO 
SPEAK. 
  
In accordance with previous practice adopted for people wishing to speak at 
Development Control Committees, please note that you may only be allowed 
1 minute subject to the number of requests received for the meeting. 

    

9. Planning and Development   
To consider the following applications for Development Control Committee B -  
 

(Page 28) 
 

a) 21/02794/F 86 to 92 and 96 to 102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale, 
Hepburn Road 

(Pages 29 - 97) 

 

b) 22/02730/X 83 Hartcliffe Way (Pages 98 - 138) 
  

10. Date of Next Meeting   

The next meeting is scheduled for 6pm on Wednesday 5th April 2023 in the 
Council Chamber, City Hall, College Green, Bristol. 
 

 

 
 
 

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

Public Information Sheet 
 

Inspection of Papers - Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 
 
You can find papers for all our meetings on our website at www.bristol.gov.uk. 
 

Public meetings 
 
Public meetings including Cabinet, Full Council, regulatory meetings (where planning and licensing 
decisions are made) and scrutiny will now be held at City Hall. 
 
Members of the press and public who plan to attend City Hall are advised that you may be asked to 
watch the meeting on a screen in another room should the numbers attending exceed the maximum 
occupancy of the meeting venue. 
 

COVID-19 Prevention Measures at City Hall (June 2022) 
 
When attending a meeting at City Hall, the following COVID-19 prevention guidance is advised:  

• promotion of good hand hygiene: washing and disinfecting hands frequently 
• while face coverings are no longer mandatory, we will continue to recommend their use in 

venues and workplaces with limited ventilation or large groups of people. 
• although legal restrictions have been removed, we should continue to be mindful of others as 

we navigate this next phase of the pandemic. 
 

COVID-19 Safety Measures for Attendance at Council Meetings (June 2022) 
 
We request that no one attends a Council Meeting if they:  

• are required to self-isolate from another country 
• are suffering from symptoms of COVID-19 or  
• have tested positive for COVID-19  

Other formats and languages and assistance for those with hearing impairment  
Other o check with and  
You can get committee papers in other formats (e.g. large print, audio tape, braille etc) or in 
community languages by contacting the Democratic Services Officer.  Please give as much notice as 
possible.  We cannot guarantee re-formatting or translation of papers before the date of a particular 
meeting. 
 
Committee rooms are fitted with induction loops to assist people with hearing impairment.  If you 
require any assistance with this please speak to the Democratic Services Officer. 

  

Page 4

Agenda Item 1

http://www.bristol.gov.uk/


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

Public Forum 
 
Members of the public may make a written statement ask a question or present a petition to most 
meetings.  Your statement or question will be sent to the Committee Members and will be published 
on the Council’s website before the meeting.  Please send it to democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk.   
 

The following requirements apply: 

• The statement is received no later than 12.00 noon on the working day before the meeting and is 
about a matter which is the responsibility of the committee concerned.  

• The question is received no later than 5pm three clear working days before the meeting.   

 
Any statement submitted should be no longer than one side of A4 paper. If the statement is longer 
than this, then for reasons of cost, it may be that only the first sheet will be copied and made available 
at the meeting. For copyright reasons, we are unable to reproduce or publish newspaper or magazine 
articles that may be attached to statements. 
 
By participating in public forum business, we will assume that you have consented to your name and 
the details of your submission being recorded and circulated to the Committee and published within 
the minutes. Your statement or question will also be made available to the public via publication on 
the Council’s website and may be provided upon request in response to Freedom of Information Act 
requests in the future. 
 
We will try to remove personal and identifiable information.  However, because of time constraints we 
cannot guarantee this, and you may therefore wish to consider if your statement contains information 
that you would prefer not to be in the public domain.  Other committee papers may be placed on the 
council’s website and information within them may be searchable on the internet. 

 

During the meeting: 

• Public Forum is normally one of the first items on the agenda, although statements and petitions 
that relate to specific items on the agenda may be taken just before the item concerned.  

• There will be no debate on statements or petitions. 
• The Chair will call each submission in turn. When you are invited to speak, please make sure that 

your presentation focuses on the key issues that you would like Members to consider. This will 
have the greatest impact. 

• Your time allocation may have to be strictly limited if there are a lot of submissions. This may be as 
short as one minute. 

• If there are a large number of submissions on one matter a representative may be requested to 
speak on the groups behalf. 

• If you do not attend or speak at the meeting at which your public forum submission is being taken 
your statement will be noted by Members. 

• Under our security arrangements, please note that members of the public (and bags) may be 
searched. This may apply in the interests of helping to ensure a safe meeting environment for all 
attending.   

Page 5

mailto:democratic.services@bristol.gov.uk


www.bristol.gov.uk  

 

 

• As part of the drive to reduce single-use plastics in council-owned buildings, please bring your own 
water bottle in order to fill up from the water dispenser. 

 
For further information about procedure rules please refer to our Constitution 
https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution  

 

Webcasting/ Recording of meetings  
 
Members of the public attending meetings or taking part in Public forum are advised that all Full 
Council and Cabinet meetings and some other committee meetings are now filmed for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the council's webcasting pages. The whole of the meeting is filmed (except 
where there are confidential or exempt items).  If you ask a question or make a representation, then 
you are likely to be filmed and will be deemed to have given your consent to this.  If you do not wish to 
be filmed you need to make yourself known to the webcasting staff.  However, the Openness of Local 
Government Bodies Regulations 2014 now means that persons attending meetings may take 
photographs, film and audio record the proceedings and report on the meeting  (Oral commentary is 
not permitted during the meeting as it would be disruptive). Members of the public should therefore 
be aware that they may be filmed by others attending and that is not within the council’s control. 
 
The privacy notice for Democratic Services can be viewed at www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-
website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services  

Page 6

https://www.bristol.gov.uk/how-council-decisions-are-made/constitution
http://www.bristol.public-i.tv/site/
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services
http://www.bristol.gov.uk/about-our-website/privacy-and-processing-notices-for-resource-services


Development Control Committee Debate and Decision Process 

Stage 3:  
Member Questions and 
Clarifications of the 
Proposal. 
Officer Responses 

Stage 4:  
Member Debate 

1
 A Motion must be Seconded in order to be formally 

accepted. If a Motion is not Seconded, the debate 

continues 

Stage 1:  
Public Forum 
Statements 

Stage 2:  
Officer Report & 
Recommendation 

2 
An Amendment can occur on any formally approved Motion (ie. one that has been Seconded) 

prior to Voting. An Amendment must itself be Seconded to be valid and cannot have the effect 

of negating the original Motion. If Vote carried at Stage7, then this becomes the Motion which 

is voted on at Stage 8  

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

Stage 5:  
CHAIR will either move a MOTION in accordance with the 
Recommendation (to test if this is what Committee want to 
do) or seek another Member of the Committee to do this.  
 
If SECONDED1 go to stages 6 to 8.  
 
If MOTION to APPROVE is not seconded or carried the CHAIR 
will move a MOTION to DEFER a decision (allowing more time 
for Members to propose grounds for refusal if needed) and 
request that Officers bring back a report to the next meeting 
of the Committee with detailed advice on these grounds, 
supporting Members to make a final decision. 
 
If the Chair’s MOTION is not seconded or not carried  
the Chair will seek an alternative MOTION  
from the Committee 
 

Stage 6:  
Any 
AMENDMENT 
Moved & 
Seconded2 

Stage 7:  
VOTE on 
successful 
AMENDMENT  
(if required) 

Stage 8:  
VOTE on 
MOTION  
(either original 
Motion or as 
amended) 

IF CARRIED = DECISION 

IF LOST = NO DECISION & 

go back to Stage 5 

 

MAKING THE DECISION 

OFFICER PRESENTATION MEMBER QUESTIONS AND DEBATE 

P
age 7



 

 

 
 

Members Present:- 
Councillors: Ani Stafford-Townsend (Chair), Lesley Alexander, Fabian Breckels, Andrew Brown, 
Lorraine Francis, Katja Hornchen, Steve Pearce (substitute for Chris Jackson) and Guy Poultney 

 
Officers in Attendance:- Gary Collins, Philippa Howson, Jeremy Livitt 

 
 

27 Welcome, Introduction and Safety Information 
 

The Chair welcomed all parties to the meeting and explained the emergency evacuation procedure. 

 
28 Apologies for Absence 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Chris Windows and Councillor Chris Jackson (Steve 
Pearce substituting). 

 
29 Declarations of Interest 

 
Councillor Fabian Breckels declared an interest in Agenda Item 9(a) Planning Application Number 
21/03536/FB – Land to Rear of Filwood Broadway as a member of the Cinema Theatre Association which 
might have some bearing on the application but confirmed that he retained an open mind in respect of this 
application. 

 
30 Minutes of Previous Meetings for Approval 

 
The Committee considered the following sets of minutes for approval as a correct record. 

 
30a 12th October 2022 

 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the above meeting be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chair. 

Public Document Pack

Bristol City Council
Minutes of the Development Control B Committee

18 January 2023 at 6.00 pm

Page 8

Agenda Item 4



democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk
 

 

 
30b 7th December 2022 

 
RESOLVED – that the minutes of the above meeting be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chair subject to the alteration of the time of the next meeting in the “Date of Next Meeting” minute 
from 6.30pm to 6pm. 

 
31 Action Sheet 

 
There were no outstanding actions. 

 
32 Appeals 

 
The Head of Development Management introduced this report and pointed out that Item Number 20: 
Land At Broom Hill/Brislington Meadows Broomhill Road Bristol BS4 4UD would be the subject of an 
inquiry starting on 31st January 2023 and lasting for 11 days. It was noted that there had been a change of 
inspector. 

 
In response to members’ questions, he stated that: 

 
• Number 17 – Land at Home Gardens, Redland Hill, Bristol BS6 6UR – Officers would advise the 

Committee when the appeal decision was received  
• Number 21 – Merchant Arms. Bell Hill, Bristol BS16 1BQ - Expert opinion was that the Council 

could not sustain an objection to this appeal. However, a contrary view had been received from 
CAMRA and therefore the Planning Inspector was understood to be considering this 

 
33 Enforcement 

 
The Committee noted this report. 

 
34 Public Forum 

 
Members of the Committee received Public Forum Statements in advance of the meeting. The 
Statements were heard before the application they related to and were taken fully into consideration by 
the Committee prior to reaching a decision. 

 
35 Planning and Development 

 
The Committee considered the following Planning Applications: 

Page 9

mailto:democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk


democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk
 

 

 
 

35a 21/03536/FB - Land to Rear of Filwood Broadway 
 

Councillor Guy Poultney arrived after the start of this item. Therefore, in accordance with the Code of 
Conduct for Councillors on Planning Matters, he was unable to participate in the debate or vote on this 
item. 

 
The Chair reminded the Committee that approval for demolition of the cinema had already been made in 
2019 and so members were unable to consider the demolition itself but purely the method of demolition. 
It was noted that this was extremely unfortunate and that the Committee had a great deal of sympathy 
for members of the public in this situation. 

 
The case officer for this Planning Application introduced this report and made the following comments 
during their presentation: 

 
• Details of the site were shown as well as of the proposed development 
• The Cinema building dates from the 1930’s and was used as a Bingo Hall in the 1980’s. It had 

been empty since 1994 and the demolition of the building is classed as permitted 
development and prior approval for its demolition was granted in 2019. 

• The applicant has advised that the building is not suitable for modern commercial retail use 
• The proposed development was for 30 residential dwellings with commercial floor space on the 

ground floor of two blocks fronting Filwood Broadway. 
• There had been 8 objections and the focus of concern was relating to increased traffic, and loss 

of access to the rear of existing shops. 
• The development was within the Knowle West Regeneration Framework area. 
• The scale of the building was deemed acceptable 
• Some initial highway concerns had been addressed and highway officers have no objections. 
• Officers recommended approval of the application subject to conditions and the completion of 

a Memorandum of Understanding to secure necessary obligations.  
 

In response to members’ questions, officers made the following comments: 
 

• F1 and F2 Classes would allow community use so there is the potential to use the ground floor 
for community use 

• The existing shopping area had a high number of vacant units and only a handful of units are 
occupied- charities , and a betting shop 

• Officers did not believe it would be appropriate to limit the off site BNG requirements by 
condition to one particular ward since work was taking place across boundaries to address 
future BNG implications. 

• The proposal was policy compliant 
• Once a site was allocated in the Development Plan, it was important to remember what 

was required by the allocation. 

Page 10

mailto:democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk


democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk
 

 

 

 
• Existing retail units will lose parking to the rear. Commercial and residential waste storage 

units for the existing premises is included next to the new access road. 
• There had been no objections received from Bristol Waste. 
• The density of the development is 62 dwellings per hectare which is policy compliant and 

above the minimum requirement of 50 promoted by the Local Plan. 
• The reduction in parking space along the access road could be used for extra cycle 

space if requested by the residents but the criteria for cycling had already been met. 
• There was a net gain of six concerning trees – 8 trees would be removed, 14 

replacement trees are proposed. 
• No shadowing survey had been carried out , but officers were comfortable with the level 

of overshadowing that would be created by the development on neighbouring gardens to 
the north.  

 
During discussion, Councillors made the following comments: 

 
• There was a net uplift of 89 bed spaces, the scheme was policy compliant, servicing 

arrangements could be conditioned, there would be continued provision of services 
subject to the number who needed them and this would improve access for existing and 
future residents. 

• There was a lot to recommend the scheme. Although there were reservations concerning 
the issues raised by Re-work in their Public Forum Statement relating to the loss of 
vehicular access for retail outlets, the scheme should be supported 

• This was a good scheme with an impressive design. Whilst it was regrettable that a cinema 
building would be lost, it had been closed for 30 years. If an attempt had been made to 
save it some time ago, it might have been possible to find a solution. The style and mix of 
buildings were good and should be supported 

• The lack of a shadowing survey was a concern. There was also a need for further 
information about the type of trees being removed. It would be good to retain part of the 
old cinema building in the new development as a memorial 

• It was very unfortunate that the Committee was not able to consider the issue of 
demolition of the building since it was not given community asset status 

• This scheme was a good one. Whilst the residents’ anger was understandable, it was hoped 
that a similar situation could be avoided in future 

 
Councillor Steve Pearce moved, seconded by Councillor Lesley Alexander and upon being put to 
the vote, it was 

 
RESOLVED (6 for, 0 against, 1 abstention, Councillor Guy Poultney unable to vote due to arriving 
after commencement of the item ) – that the application is granted subject to the conditions set 
out in the report. 

Page 11

mailto:democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk


democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk
 

 

 
35b 22/01550/F - 29 Hobhouse Close 

 
The Case Officer for this application introduced this report and made the following comments: 

 
• As indicated on the amendment sheet, the applicant had exercised their right to refer the 

application directly to the Secretary of State for approval 
• Deviations from the previous application had occured 
• Officers believed that the installation of the proposed pillars and the re-design of the bay windows 

should be included if the Inspector was minded to grant the appeal 
• Legal advice had been obtained in relation to the condition proposed by the Committee at the last 

meeting relating to enforcement of noise. This had confirmed that it would not meet the required 
test 

• Officers were, therefore, recommending that the Committee resolve that had it been able to 
determine this application, it would have approved it 

• In the meantime, officers would continue to pursue rigorous enforcement of the building as a 
large use HMO 

 
In response to members’ questions, officers made the following comments: 

 
• Officers had been advised that it was likely that the development would be used for long-term 

letting and C3/C4 residential use 
• The HMO is currently licensed for small use lettings and it was therefore assumed that the 

development would meet space standards for this 
• Whilst there was understandable concern amongst Committee members that there had been 

a breach of planning regulations in this case, the planning process did allow an application for 
retrospective approval. Any assessment of this application had to be made dispassionately 
and, in this case, involved purely the request for external alterations. If the application had 
requested a large term HMO and short lettings, it is likely that officers would be 
recommending refusal 

• In the meantime, the previous breach was being investigated by the enforcement team subject 
to reassurances from the applicant that these activities would cease. This enforcement case 
would continue until any breach ceased 

• Whilst the legal opinion set out in one of the Public Forum statements was noted, officers did 
not necessarily agree with this. Whilst this would be a consideration if the final decision did 
not rest with the Planning Inspector or if the applicants were applying to change permission in 
accordance with Section 73, it would not now be possible for DCB Committee to be challenged 
for its decision 

• A change of use was by law a matter of fact and degree based on the evidence received. Whilst 
any approval could include an Advice Note, the legal advice they had received was that any 
condition would fail the required test. However, the Committee could choose to put forward a 
condition if it chose to do so and the Planning Inspector could put firmer controls on this 

Page 12

mailto:democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk


democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk
 

 

 

• Whilst the Committee was no longer determining this application, the Planning Inspector 
needed to know the view of the Committee on this issue 

• Enforcement action could be pursued regardless of the Inspector’s decision 
• Internal changes are not controllable under planning regulations. Therefore, the main issue for 

the Committee to consider is whether or not the external arrangements are acceptable 
• Whilst it may be frustrating for the Committee in dealing with situations where an individual 

has now followed the approved plan, they needed to consider the issue dispassionately on its 
own merits 

• If the existing application was refused by the Inspector, further enforcement action would be 
required 

• Past experience had shown that Inspectors did not tend to include Advice Notes in their 
decisions but were vigorous in challenging conditions 

• Following some focused work after the recent discussion on enforcement at the Growth and 
Regeneration Scrutiny Commission, a number of enforcement actions had been served. There 
had been 50 complaints recently, most of which had now been resolved. The small number of 
outstanding cases were now being pursued with legal action 

• The previous owners obtained planning permission on appeal and therefore there was no 
current planning application seeking this 

• Officers believed that the appeal permission had been gained by another party but could not 
judge behaviour or motives on this basis 

• Officers outlined the three main options open to the Committee – approval as per the 
requested application, approval but requiring short-term lettings (perhaps with an Advice 
Note) or refusal on the grounds that the physical changes to the building were deemed 
unacceptable 

 
Committee members made the following comments: 

 
• There had been repeated failures to comply with planning permission which undermined 

their purpose 
• It was frustrating that the decision has been taken out of the Committee’s hands 
• It was of great concern that these were high turnover tenancies 
• The Committee should only approve what had already been awarded on appeal or require 

a fresh application 
• Under the circumstances, the Committee should vote against the application 
• The changes proposed to the external building were radically different than those which 

previously been approved as they were highly symmetrical. The Committee would have 
sought to strengthen these if it had been able to 

• The legal argument set out in one of the Public Forum submissions might be applicable in 
this situation and needed further investigation 

• It was a great concern that there had been no change in the behaviour of the applicant in 
this case and that further enforcement appeared to be required 

Page 13

mailto:democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk


democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk
 

 

 

In accordance with convention, Councillor Ani Stafford-Townsend moved the officer 
recommendation to approve the application. This was not seconded. 

 
Councillor Fabian Breckels moved, seconded by Councillor Lorraine Francis and upon being put 
to the vote, it was 

 
RESOLVED (unanimously) – that the Committee 

 
(1) notes that, following the applicant’s appeal against non-determination to the Planning 

Inspectorate, it can no longer determine the application 
(2) resolves that had it been able to do so, it would have refused the application on the 

grounds of poor design and the negative impact on the character of the local area 

 
36 Date of Next Meeting 

 
The next meeting is scheduled to be held at 2pm on Wednesday 8th March 2023 in the Council Chamber, 
City Hall, College Green, Bristol. 

 
 
 
 

Meeting ended at 8.05 pm 
 

CHAIR   

Page 14

mailto:democractic.services@bristol.gov.uk


 
 

 
Action Sheet – Development Control Committee B 

 
Date of 

Meeting (s) 
Item/report Action  Responsible 

officer(s)/Councillor 
 

Action taken / progress 

18.01.23  No Actions   

 
 

P
age 15

A
genda Item

 5



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: DEVELOPMENT OF PLACE

LIST OF CURRENT APPEALS

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE B

8th March 2023

Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

Householder appeal

Date lodged

Text0:1 Southville 21 Lydstep Terrace Bristol BS3 1DR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed loft conversion with rear dormer. 21/12/2022

Text0:2 Cotham 16 Clyde Road Redland Bristol BS6 6RP 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of side extension, housing staircase and insertion 
of new window to side elevation. Creation of access 
steps/balcony from main entrance level to garden and 
reconfigure rear garden.

22/12/2022

Text0:3 Stoke Bishop 53 Shirehampton Road Stoke Bishop Bristol BS9 2DW 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed two storey side extensions and single storey rear 
extension.

23/12/2022

Text0:4 Lockleaze 22 Elmcroft Crescent Bristol BS7 9NF 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Single storey rear extension. 02/02/2023

Text0:5 Ashley The Cottage 28 Ashfield Place Bristol BS6 5BF 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Retention of enclosed roof terrace. 16/02/2023

Page 1 of 1127 February 2023 Page 16

Agenda Item 6



Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

Informal hearing

Date of hearing

Text0:6 Clifton Down Land At Home Gardens Redland Hill Bristol BS6 6UR 

Committee

Appeal against refusal

Outline planning application for the redevelopment of the site 
comprising demolition of existing buildings (1-4 Home 
Gardens, 1-2 The Bungalows and associated garages and 
outbuildings) and the erection of two new buildings to provide 
up to 60 residential units (Class C3) (including 20% 
affordable housing) and up to 262sqm of flexible office space 
(Class E) to Whiteladies Road frontage and associated 
works.  Permission sought for Access, Scale and Layout).

15/11/2022

Text0:7 Avonmouth & 
Lawrence Weston

8 - 10 Station Road Shirehampton Bristol BS11 9TT 

Appeal against non-determination

Redevelopment of the site to include 18no. houses and 3no. 
apartments with associated access, parking and landscaping.

21/02/2023

Text0:8 Lawrence Hill 11 - 17 Wade Street Bristol BS2 9DR 

Appeal against non-determination

Outline application for the demolition of buildings and erection 
of student accommodation, with access, layout and scale to 
be considered.

TBA

Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

Public inquiry

Date of inquiry

Text0:9 Brislington East Land At Broom Hill/Brislington Meadows Broomhill Road 
Bristol BS4 4UD

Committee

Appeal against non-determination

Application for Outline Planning Permission with some 
matters reserved - Development of up to 260 new residential 
dwellings (Class C3 use) together with pedestrian, cycle and 
vehicular access, cycle and car parking, public open space 
and associated infrastructure. Approval sought for access 
with all other matters reserved. (Major)

31/01/2023

Page 2 of 1127 February 2023 Page 17



Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

Written representation

Date lodged

Text0:10 Brislington West 515 - 517 Stockwood Road Brislington Bristol BS4 5LR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Outline application for the erection of a five-storey building 
comprising 9no. self-contained flats, with Access, Layout and 
Scale to be considered at part of the outline application.

10/12/2021

Text0:11 Eastville Merchants Arms Bell Hill Bristol BS16 1BQ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against non-determination

Change of use from public house (Sui Generis) to mixed use 
Class F2 (Local Community Uses), Class C3 and Class C4.

06/06/2022

Text0:12 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

Land Opposite Car Park Westbury Court Road Bristol BS9 
3DF 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if Prior Approval is required for 
proposed 15.0m Phase 8 Monopole C/W wrapround Cabinet 
at base and associated ancillary works.

21/06/2022

Text0:13 Central 40 Baldwin Street Bristol BS1 1NR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of a building containing 9 residential flats and office 
space.

20/07/2022

Text0:14 Frome Vale Strathmore Pound Lane Bristol BS16 2EP 

Appeal against high hedge

Appeal against High hedge at 4 metres in height in rear 
garden.

09/09/2022

Text0:15 Brislington West Wyevale Garden Centre Plc Bath Road Brislington Bristol 
BS31 2AD 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for hardstanding. (C/22/3306445). 04/10/2022

Text0:16 Brislington West Wyevale Garden Centre Plc Bath Road Brislington Bristol 
BS31 2AD 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for builders yard.  (C/22/3306441). 04/10/2022

Page 3 of 1127 February 2023 Page 18



Text0:17 Brislington West Wyevale Garden Centre Plc Bath Road Brislington Bristol 
BS31 2AD 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for bunds & portable buildings.  
(C/22/3306446).

04/10/2022

Text0:18 Brislington West Wyevale Garden Centre Plc Bath Road Brislington Bristol 
BS31 2AD 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for plant equipment.  
(C/22/3306444).

04/10/2022

Text0:19 Lockleaze 36 Stothard Road Bristol BS7 9XL 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement Notice enforcement for the erection of detached 
building in garden without planning permission.

17/10/2022

Text0:20 Bishopston & 
Ashley Down

37 Maple Road Bishopston Bristol BS7 8RD

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Change of use from small house in multiple occupation (C4) 
to a large house in multiple occupation for up to 7 people (sui 
generis).

17/10/2022

Text0:21 Bishopston & 
Ashley Down

21 Oak Road Bristol BS7 8RY 

Committee

Appeal against non-determination

Change of use from residential dwellinghouse (Use Class C3) 
to a House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) for up to 6 residents 
(Use Class C4), with associated cycle and refuse/recycling 
storage.

25/10/2022

Text0:22 Bishopsworth Land To Rear Of 44 & 46 Wrington Crescent Bristol BS13 
7EP

Appeal against non-determination

Construction of 2no. three bedroom semi-detached dwellings. 26/10/2022

Text0:23 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

10 Rylestone Grove Bristol BS9 3UT 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of existing detached house and erection of 6 
bedroom replacement detached dwelling with integral garage, 
associated landscaping and adjusted access. (Self Build).

17/11/2022

Page 4 of 1127 February 2023 Page 19



Text0:24 Stoke Bishop 2 Bramble Drive Bristol BS9 1RE 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for front boundary not completed 
as per plans approved as part of planning permission 
21/00431/H and additional planting.

22/11/2022

Text0:25 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

9 Abbey Road Bristol BS9 3QN 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

One proposed detached dwelling to the side of No. 9 Abbey 
Road.

08/12/2022

Text0:26 Clifton Granby House Granby Hill Bristol BS8 4LT 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Replacement of all sash windows of Granby House that were 
manufactured and installed during 1972-74 on the front 
(north), side (west) and back (south) elevation with matching 
style wooden double glazed units and repair window casing 
and mouldings.

09/12/2022

Text0:27 Lawrence Hill St Gabriels Court St Gabriels Road Bristol BS5 0RT 

Appeal against non-determination

Change of use of existing commercial building to create 8 no. 
residential flats (Use Class C3) with parking and associated 
works.

13/12/2022

Text0:28 Hillfields 11 The Greenway Bristol BS16 4EZ 

Appeal against non-determination

Erection of two storey, 2 bed detached dwellinghouse, with 
landscaping and parking.

14/12/2022

Text0:29 Southville 8 Acramans Road Bristol BS3 1DQ 

Appeal against non-determination

Change of use from registered nursing home (C2) to a 14-
bedroom emergency accommodation unit for up to 20 people 
(sui generis), including ancillary office.

15/12/2022

Text0:30 Cotham 71 Arley Hill Bristol BS6 5PJ 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for change of use of the building 
 to large HMO with 8 bedrooms.

15/12/2022

Page 5 of 1127 February 2023 Page 20



Text0:31 Cotham 71 Arley Hill Bristol BS6 5PJ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Change of use of the upper floors residential unit from small 6 
bedroom HMO C4 to large HMO (Sui Generis Use) for 8 
bedrooms (Retrospective).

15/12/2022

Text0:32 Hotwells & 
Harbourside

1 Ashton Avenue Bristol BS1 6XH 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application for Outline Planning Permission - For a single 
apartment (studio) on the ground floor besides no 1 Ashton 
Avenue. Approval sought for Access, Landscaping, Layout, 
and Scale. With all other matter reserved.

19/12/2022

Text0:33 Southmead Grass Area Near Arnside Road Greystoke Avenue Bristol 
BS10 5NZ

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if prior approval is required for a 
proposed telecommunications installation: Proposed 15.0m 
Phase 9 slimline Monopole and associated ancillary works.

19/12/2022

Text0:34 Filwood 149/149A & Land To Rear Of Marksbury Road Bristol BS3 
5LD 

Committee

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of 149A Marksbury Road and erection of 5no. 
single storey dwellings on land to the rear.

20/12/2022

Text0:35 Lockleaze 357 Filton Avenue Bristol BS7 0BD 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Change of use of existing office (Use Class E) to takeaway 
(Use Class Sui generis) with the addition of a new extract 
flue. Demolition of buildings to the rear and the construction 
of one new building housing 3.no flats over three storeys and 
associated amenity space, bin and cycle storage.

09/01/2023

Text0:36 Henbury & Brentry 7 Bidwell Close Bristol BS10 6RJ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed new dwelling. 17/01/2023

Text0:37 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

65 Henleaze Road Bristol BS9 4JT 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Change of use of existing ground floor rear storage area to 
shop unit into 2 bedroomed HMO. Addition of first floor over 
rear storage area to form 1 bedroomed flat.

26/01/2023

Page 6 of 1127 February 2023 Page 21



Text0:38 Hartcliffe & 
Withywood

Telecommunication Mast Opposite 787 Bishport Avenue 
Bristol BS13 9JQ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if prior approval is required for a 
proposed 5G telecoms installation: H3G 16m street pole and 
additional equipment cabinets.

26/01/2023

Text0:39 Southville 20 Mount Pleasant Terrace Bristol BS3 1LF 

Appeal against an enforcement notice

Enforcement notice appeal for change of use to HMO (C4) 
without planning permission.

01/02/2023

Text0:40 Bishopsworth 71 Dangerfield Avenue Bristol BS13 8DX 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed new dwelling to side. 01/02/2023

Text0:41 Ashley Telecommunication Mast York Street St Werburghs Bristol 
BS2 9XS 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed telecommunications installation:  Proposed 15.0m 
Phase 8 Monopole C/W wrapround Cabinet at base and 
associated ancillary works.

02/02/2023

Text0:42 Clifton Down All Saints Court All Saints Road Bristol BS8 2JE 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of an additional floor, creating two additional flats. 20/02/2023

Text0:43 Avonmouth & 
Lawrence Weston

Land At Rear Of 2 Woodwell Cottages Woodwell Road Bristol 
BS11 9UP 

Delegated decision

Appeal against non-determination

Revised application for planning permission for the erection of 
residential dwellings, access road, refuse/ recycling stores, 
cycle parking and ancillary development (Use Class C3).

21/02/2023

Text0:44 Southville Outside 291 North Street Bedminster Bristol BS3 1JP 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if prior approval is required for a 
proposed development by or on behalf of an electronic 
communications code operator - Proposed 5G 15m telecoms 
installation: H3G street pole and additional equipment 
cabinets.

22/02/2023

Page 7 of 1127 February 2023 Page 22



Item Ward Address, description and appeal type

List of appeal decisions

Decision and 
date decided

Text0:45 St George 
Troopers Hill

42 Nicholas Lane Bristol BS5 8TL 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

A single storey extension is proposed to the rear of the 
property with a roof terrace accessed from the rear bedroom.

Appeal withdrawn

11/01/2023

Text0:46 Brislington West 515 - 517 Stockwood Road Brislington Bristol BS4 5LR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Outline application seeking matters of Access, Layout, and 
Scale for the erection of a care complex (Use Class C2).

Appeal withdrawn

12/01/2023

Text0:47 Henbury & Brentry Severn House Ison Hill Road Bristol BS10 7XA 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Window and balcony door replacement scheme for 16 flats.

Appeal allowed

18/01/2023

Text0:48 Horfield 3 Hunts Lane Bristol BS7 8UW 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Change of use of existing garage/store to a single 1 bed 
dwelling (Use Class C3).

Appeal dismissed

19/01/2023

Text0:49 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

15 Westfield Road Bristol BS9 3HG 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of existing buildings and erection of 4no. 
dwellinghouses, with parking and associated works.

Appeal dismissed

10/02/2023

Text0:50 Central Rear Of 6 Tyndalls Park Road Bristol BS8 1PY 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application for removal or variation of a condition 12 (List of 
Approved Plans) of permission 20/01279/F -  Demolition of 
boundary wall and construction of a two storey building 
containing 1no. residential unit with associated provision of 
amenity space, refuse and cycle storage - revised plans to 
show the proposed building sitting higher on the site as 
compared to the consented scheme, given the proposed use 
of existing foundations.

Appeal allowed

15/12/2022

Page 8 of 1127 February 2023 Page 23



Text0:51 Bishopston & 
Ashley Down

229 - 231 Gloucester Road Bishopston Bristol BS7 8NR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of a new building to provide 4no. residential flats with 
refuse/recycling and cycle storage and associated 
development.

Appeal dismissed

16/12/2022

Text0:52 Horfield 160 Monks Park Avenue Bristol BS7 0UL 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Erection of a two bedroom dwelling; with associated vehicular 
access from Kenmore Drive and pedestrian access from 
Monks Park Avenue, refuse storage, cycle storage, car 
parking, provision of private gardens and new landscaping.

Appeal dismissed

06/01/2023

Text0:53 Bishopston & 
Ashley Down

Telecommunication Monopole Junction With Queens Drive 
And Kings Drive Bristol BS7 8JW 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed 15 metre tall slim-line, phase 8 monopole c/w 
wraparound cabinet at base, 3no. additional ancillary 
equipment cabinets and associated ancillary works.

Appeal dismissed

11/01/2023

Text0:54 Hillfields Communication Mast Ingleside Road Bristol BS15 1JD 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if prior approval is required for a 
proposed 5G telecommunications installation: H3G Phase 8 
17 metre high street pole c/w wrap-around cabinet and 3 
further additional equipment cabinets.

Appeal dismissed

11/01/2023

Text0:55 Clifton The Richmond Building 105 Queens Road Clifton Bristol BS8 
1LN 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Proposed telecommunications Rooftop installation upgrade 
and associated ancillary works.

Appeal allowed

15/12/2022

Text0:56 Bedminster Telecoms Installation Winterstoke Road Bristol BS3 2NW 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if prior approval is required for a 
proposed 5G telecommunications installation: 15 metre slim 
line phase 8 monopole c/w wraparound cabinet at base, 3 no. 
additional ancillary equipment cabinets and associated 
ancillary works.

Appeal allowed

22/12/2022

Page 9 of 1127 February 2023 Page 24



Text0:57 Cotham 38 Chandos Road Bristol BS6 6PF 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of 8no. existing garages and construction of 2no. 
two storey residential dwellings.

Appeal dismissed

17/01/2023

Text0:58 Redland 7 Belvedere Road Bristol BS6 7JG 

Appeal against non-determination

Change of use from 3no. 2-bed flats (Class C3)  to a 12-bed 
extension to the nursing home at 8-9 Belvedere Road (Class 
C2) (Revised proposal).

Appeal dismissed

30/01/2023

Text0:59 Filwood 22 Courtenay Crescent Bristol BS4 1TQ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Rear ground floor extension with part first floor bedroom 
extension and new front porch.

Appeal allowed

08/02/2023

Text0:60 Knowle 79 Minehead Road Bristol BS4 1BP 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Two story side & rear extension & single storey front bay / 
porch and creation of 2 parking spaces to front.

Appeal dismissed

31/01/2023

Text0:61 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

7 Wildcroft Road Bristol BS9 4HZ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

First floor extension over present garage.

Appeal allowed

20/01/2023

Text0:62 Stoke Bishop 14 Mariners Drive Bristol BS9 1QQ 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Oak frame 1.5 car garage to the front garden.

Appeal dismissed

27/01/2023

Text0:63 Hartcliffe & 
Withywood

50 Hareclive Road Bristol BS13 9JN 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Retrospective application for boundary wall with adjustments.

Appeal dismissed

03/02/2023

Text0:64 Henbury & Brentry Site Opposite Bradbury Court 117 Station Road Henbury 
Bristol BS10 7QH 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Application to determine if prior approval is required for a 
proposed - Proposed telecommunications installation: 
Proposed 15.0m Phase 8 monopole C/W wrapround cabinet 
at base and associated ancillary works.

Appeal dismissed

30/01/2023

Page 10 of 1127 February 2023 Page 25



Text0:65 Hillfields 25 Beaufort Road Speedwell Bristol BS15 1NF 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Two storey side extension.

Appeal allowed

10/02/2023

Text0:66 Hillfields 3 Woodland Way Bristol BS15 1QL 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Loft conversion with a rear/side dormer.

Appeal allowed

10/02/2023

Text0:67 Hengrove & 
Whitchurch Park

25 Goodwin Drive Bristol BS14 0DR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Demolition of existing side extensions and part double story 
side extension with single story side and rear.

Appeal dismissed

13/02/2023

Text0:68 Westbury-on-Trym 
& Henleaze

287 Canford Lane Bristol BS9 3PH 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

Double-storey side extension with single storey rear 
extension.

Appeal allowed

10/02/2023

Text0:69 Stockwood 29 Hazelbury Road Bristol BS14 9EP 

Delegated decision

Appeal against refusal

2 storey side and single storey rear extensions.

Appeal dismissed

10/02/2023

Text0:70 Stockwood 102 Kinsale Road Bristol BS14 9EZ 

Appeal against non-determination

Remove existing conservatory and re-build as sun room.

Appeal allowed

23/02/2023

Text0:71 Lockleaze 34 Lockleaze Road Bristol BS7 9RR 

Delegated decision

Appeal against non-determination

Change of use from a dwelling house (C3a) to a large house 
in multiple occupation for up to 9 people (sui generis).

Appeal allowed

23/02/2023

Page 11 of 1127 February 2023 Page 26



REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR: DEVELOPMENT OF PLACE

LIST OF ENFORCEMENT NOTICES SERVED

Item Ward Address, description and enforcement type Date issued

DEVELOPMENT CONTROL COMMITTEE B

8th March 2023

Redland 186 Redland Road Bristol BS6 6YH 08/02/2023

Installation of stainless steel/glass balustrade at roof 
level to form roof terrace without planning 
permission.

Enforcement notice

1

St George West Garages Naseby Walk Bristol  13/02/2023

Untidy land and erection of fencing.

Enforcement notice

2

St George West Garages Naseby Walk Bristol  13/02/2023

Untidy land and erection of fencing.

3

27 February 2023

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



C:\uniform\temp\uf01664.rtf  27/02/2023  12:37 

 
Development Control Committee B 
8 March 2023 
Report of the Director: Economy of Place 
 
Index 
 
Planning Applications 
 
Item Ward Officer 

Recommendation 
Application No/Address/Description 
 

    
1 Ashley Refuse 21/02794/F - 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, 

Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol BS1 3RJ   
Demolition of Croftdale and other industrial 
buildings on site and redevelopment of 86-92 
and 96-102 Stokes Croft and Croftdale to 
provide 9no. residential units (Class C3), 2no. 
workshop units (Class E(g)) and 59no. bedrooms 
of student accommodation with associated 
development, including retention of existing 
ground floor retail units on Stokes Croft and the 
existing student accommodation at 86-92 and 
96-98 Stokes Croft. 
 

    
2 Filwood Grant 22/02730/X - 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN    

Application for the amendment of conditions 
following consent granted under application 
no.21/03335/X -  30 (hours of operation) and 32 
(list of approved drawings) - now proposed 
change to hours of opening to 06:00 - 19:00 
Monday to Fridays and 08:00 - 19:00 Saturday, 
Sundays & Bank Holidays to allow street 
cleansing staff to collect their vehicles at 06:00 
and at 07:00 to allow staff to enter the site to 
ensure the HRRC is ready for opening to the 
public at 08:00. Changes to site layout relating to 
modular building moved south with addition of 
ramps, firewater tank moved, addition of diesel 
tank and addition of substation. 
 

    
 
index 
v5.0514 

Page 28

Agenda Item 9



27/02/23  10:07   Committee report 

 

Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
 

 
ITEM NO.  1 
 

 
WARD: Ashley   
 
SITE ADDRESS: 

 
86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol BS1 3RJ  
 

 
APPLICATION NO: 

 
21/02794/F 
 

 
Full Planning 

DETERMINATION 
DEADLINE: 

30 September 2022 
 

Demolition of Croftdale and other industrial buildings on site and redevelopment of 86-92 and 96-
102 Stokes Croft and Croftdale to provide 9no. residential units (Class C3), 2no. workshop units 
(Class E(g)) and 59no. bedrooms of student accommodation with associated development, 
including retention of existing ground floor retail units on Stokes Croft and the existing student 
accommodation at 86-92 and 96-98 Stokes Croft. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

 
Refuse 

 
AGENT: 

 
Pegasus Planning Group 
First Floor South Wing 
Equinox North 
Great Park Road 
Almondsbury 
Bristol  BS32 4QL 
 

 
APPLICANT: 

 
Crescent Property Developments 
Ltd 
C/O Agent 
 

The following plan is for illustrative purposes only, and cannot be guaranteed to be up to date. 
 
LOCATION PLAN: 

  
DO NOT SCALE Page 29

Agenda Item 9a



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

    
BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY 
 
The application relates to land and buildings located within the Stokes Croft Conservation Area. 
The site includes a terraced row of buildings (with the exclusion of No.94 Stokes Croft) directly 
fronting Stokes Croft from the junction with Hepburn Road, north to The Carriage Works building 
(Grade II* Listed). The development site also includes land and buildings located to the rear of 
these buildings adjacent to Hepburn Road. This includes a further building known as Croft Dale, 
which is Locally Listed. 
 
Planning permission is sought for the demolition of Croft Dale and other buildings on the site, to the 
rear of Stokes Croft. The redevelopment of the site (including Nos. 86-92 and Nos. 96-102 Stokes 
Croft) is then proposed to provide 9no. residential units (Class C3), 2no. workshop units (Class 
E(g)) and 59no. bedrooms of student accommodation, alongside associated development. 
 
The application has not been referred to committee by any Councillor, but due to scale and nature 
of the development it is considered appropriate for this application to come before Committee. 
 
The LPA fully supports the redevelopment of the site for mixed use purposes in principle. However, 
the current proposal falls considerably short of meeting a significant number of policy requirements 
and expectations and as such Officers are regrettably unable to recommend approval.  
 
The basis for the objection is that the proposed development would cause substantial harm to the 
historic character, appearance and significance of the Stokes Croft Conservation Area through the 
destruction of an important locally listed building (Croft Dale) which is identified specifically as being 
"of merit" to the area. The development will also result in the introduction of poor-quality extensions 
and detailed design elements to existing character buildings which will cause further harm to the 
character and appearance of the conservation area and setting of nearby heritage assets (including 
the Grade II* listed Carriage Works). 
 
Furthermore, it is considered that the density, form, scale, layout, siting, design, materials and 
detailing would fail to create well-designed, high quality, beautiful buildings and places consistent 
with and in keeping with the context; and would fail to deliver a safe, appealing, well-overlooked, 
well-lit and attractive environment for future occupants. It is also considered that the density, scale, 
design, layout and siting would result in harm to neighbouring residential amenity by means of 
overbearing and overlooking and would result in the creation of sub-standard living accommodation 
for future occupants offering poor outlook and lack of privacy. 
 
The development will also fail to meet the BREEAM "Excellent" rating required by Core Strategy 
Policy BCS15 without adequate justification. 
 
Whilst it is recognised that the scheme will deliver some benefits these are relatively general and 
are not considered significant or substantial enough to outweigh the significant and substantial 
harm posed by the development. It is the view of Officers that the redevelopment of this site can be 
achieved more sensitively and there is no reason why the development cannot be designed to 
address the important identified issues whilst also delivering a significant uplift in density. 
 
The principle of mixed use/residential development at this site is welcomed and encouraged and 
the LPA have entered into extensive negotiations with the applicant in order to seek to resolve the 
key issues identified during the course of the application and which remain of concern. However, 
the applicant has requested that a decision be made on the proposal as submitted to date without a 
final solution being agreed. 
 
The application is therefore with regret recommended to Members for Refusal. 

Page 30



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
SITE DESCRIPTION 
 
The site relates to land and buildings on the eastern side of Stokes Croft, St Pauls, central Bristol. 
The site includes a terraced row of buildings directly fronting Stokes Croft from the junction with 
Hepburn Road, north to The Carriage Works building (Grade II* Listed). 94 Stokes Croft is notably 
excluded from the development site however and is within separate ownership. The development 
site includes land to the rear of these buildings adjacent to Hepburn Road. This includes a further 
building known as Croft Dale. 
 
The buildings fronting Stokes Croft are typically in mixed use, with some commercial ground floor 
uses with residential use (student accommodation) above at Nos. 86-92 and 96-98 Stokes Croft. 
Croft Dale is in use as a multiple occupancy dwelling. The rear of the site includes a vacant yard 
area principally accessed from Hepburn Road which was previously used by a windscreen repair 
business which has now relocated. This rear area stretches across lower ground and ground floor 
levels, currently separated partly by a 2.5m high brick wall, an outbuilding used historically for light 
industrial activity and an access gate used previously by vehicles accessing the site for business 
purposes. Vehicular access is from the lower ground to the ground floor section of the site via a 
ramp. 
 
The buildings fronting Stokes Croft are predominantly three storeys in height. There is some 
variation in form and proportions, including roof form. 90-92 Stokes Croft have mansard roofs at the 
fourth storey which extend these units higher than 86-88 Stokes Croft to the south and 94-102 
Stokes Croft to the north. As such, the building ridgeline of the units that fronts on to Stokes Croft is 
irregular. The building line is presents consistency aligning with Stokes Croft however there are a 
variety of smaller scale extensions projecting to the rear. This includes a workshop to the rear of 86 
Stokes Croft which also fronts Hepburn Road. Croft Dale is a traditional detached dwelling with 
strong domestic scale, form and symmetry typical of Georgian architectural principals.  
 
There is a fall in level from Stokes Croft to the eastern side of the site. All buildings fronting Stokes 
Croft are positioned level with and include access directly from the footway. No. 92 Stokes Croft 
includes a dropped kerb to the front and under croft access to the rear of the site via roller shutter 
door. Access can also be gained from Hepburn Lane to the east of the site.  
 
86 Stokes Croft contains a vacant workshop (124m2) on the ground floor [Class E(g)(i)] which 
fronts on to Hepburn Road, to the rear of the main Stokes Croft frontage buildings. This space has 
been used in the past by National Windscreens but is now vacant following the relocation of the 
business to their headquarters in St Philips. Also at ground floor and at the first and second floors 
are 4 bed student cluster flats (Class C4), each with a gross internal area of approximately 134m2. 
 
88 Stokes Croft contains a café at ground floor level [Class E(b)] which fronts on to Stokes Croft, 
with a 4-bed student cluster flat (Class C4) situated above at the first and second floor. 
 
90 Stokes Croft contains a retail and barber shop on the ground floor [Class E(a)] with 7 bed 
student cluster flats (sui generis) situated elsewhere on the ground floor and on the first, second 
and third floors.  
 
92 Stokes Croft contains a 5-bed student cluster flat (Class C4) on the ground, first, second and 
third floors. Fronting on to Stokes Croft at the Ground Floor is a shutter which, when open, allows 
through access to the rear of the site. This shutter has been historically used by National 
Windscreens to bring motor vehicles to the rear of the site but is no longer in use as a way of 
access for vehicles, although it is used by pedestrians and cyclists. 
 
94 Stokes Croft is not a part of the proposals but contains a hot food takeaway on the ground floor 

Page 31



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

with living accommodation above. 
 
96 Stokes Croft comprises 5 bed student cluster flats (Class C4) at the ground, first and second 
floors. The ground floor elevation is finished in exposed pale brick with the first and second floors 
finished with render.  
 
98 Stokes Croft contains 4 bed student cluster flats (Class C4) at the ground, first and second 
floors. This unit is finished with exposed brickwork on the ground floor elevation with render on the 
first and second floors. 
 
100 and 102 Stokes Croft contain retail units [Class E(a)] on the ground, with vacant units above at 
the first and second floors. These floors were previously in use as warehouse space used by 
National Windscreens (Class B8). The rear of 102 Stokes Croft extends further back to Croft Dale 
and comprises a large warehouse area that has been used in the past to store materials for 
National Windscreens. 
 
Croft Dale is located to the rear of the site, accessed off Hepburn Road. It comprises a two-storey 
house in use as a 7-bed student cluster flat (Sui generis). 
 
The surrounding area has a mixed commercial and residential character. Stokes Croft (A38) is a 
major arterial route to/from the city centre. It comprises a varied traditional, historic character with 
modern buildings interspersed. Adjacent to the site, Hepburn Road has an intimate character due to 
small scale carriageway and development built to the public highway. The street takes a more 
typical terraced residential layout further east away from the site. The adjacent site to the north 
(The Carriage Works) contains a grade II* Listed former works building to which only the façade 
remains. The site is subject of major redevelopment and regeneration scheme comprising 1000m2 
commercial floor area, new public realm and 119 dwellings (consented under application: 
14/05930/F and subsequent variations/permissions). 
 
The site is located within the Stokes Croft retail area within Bristol city centre as defined by the 
Central Area Plan. The Stokes Croft ground floor frontage is designated secondary shopping 
frontage. The site is within the Stokes Croft Conservation Area. 
 
The Croft Dale building features on the city's local list of historically significant buildings. There are 
also a number of buildings adjacent to the site which are included on the National Heritage List for 
England (NHLE) for their historic significance. These include The Carriage Works (Grade II*) 
immediately to the north, 93-95 Stokes Croft (Grade II) directly opposite the site, 84 Stokes Croft or 
The Tropic Club (Grade II) to the southern side of Hepburn Road and also 117/119 Stokes Croft 
(The Crofters Rights) (Grade II) situated opposite and north of the site on Stokes Croft.  
 
The Kingsdown, Cotham and Redland, Montpelier and Portland and Brunswick Square 
Conservation Areas are all located within 300m of the site. The site is also located with the Bristol 
Air Quality Management Area and is a low risk coal legacy area. An Article 4 Direction removing 
permitted development rights allowing change of use from dwellinghouses (Use Class C3) to HMOs 
(Use Class C4) also covers the site. 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
20/01558/SCR: Request for a Screening Opinion as to whether an Environmental Impact 
Assessment is required for demolition of Croftdale and other industrial buildings on site and 
redevelopment of 86-92 and 96-102 Stokes Croft and Croftdale to provide 66 student bed spaces 
(sui generis), 9no. residential units (Class C3) and 2no. workshop units (Class B1) whilst retaining 
the existing ground floor retail units on Stokes Croft and the existing student accommodation at 86- 
92 and 96-98 Stokes Croft. EIA NOT REQUIRED issued on 28.04.2020 

Page 32



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
88 Stokes Croft 
 
19/01994/F: Change of use from an A1 Shop to A3 Cafe. GRANTED on 24.06.2019 
 
100 Stokes Croft  
 
10/03944/F: Change of use from a retail shop to a launderette and dry cleaners. GRANTED on 
04.01.2011 
 
EQUALITY ASSESSMENT 
 
The public sector equalities duty is a material planning consideration as the duty is engaged 
through the public body decision making process. 
 
"S149 of the Equality Act 2010 provides that a public authority must in the exercise of its functions 
have due regard to:- 
 

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment ,victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under 
the Act 

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it 

c) foster good relationships between persons who share a relevant characteristic and those 
who do not share it. 

 
During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the impact of the scheme 
upon people who share the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender reassignment, 
marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. 
 
Officers have had due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty contained in the Equality Act 2010 
when making the assessment set out in this report. The proposal will provide a mix of housing sizes 
to reflect identified local need with some of the flats have been designed so they can be adapted to 
become wheelchair accessible.  
 
APPLICATION 
 
Planning permission is sought for the demolition of Croft Dale and other industrial buildings on the 
site and redevelopment of Nos. 86-92 and Nos. 96-102 Stokes Croft and Croft Dale to provide 9no. 
residential units (Class C3), 2no. workshop units (Class E(g)) and 59no. bedrooms of student 
accommodation with associated development, including retention of existing ground floor retail units 
on Stokes Croft and the existing student accommodation at 86-92 and 96-98 Stokes Croft. 
 
STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 
 
a) Process 
 
In respect of public consultation, the applicant has confirmed that 251 invitations to an online 
consultation were delivered via Royal Mail to residents and businesses nearest the site. Preview 
media coverage also appeared including in the Bristol Post and Bristol 24/7. The Bristol 
Neighbouring Planning Network was also consulted at the outset, alongside local ward members.  
 
b) Outcomes 
 

Page 33



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

In response to concerns raised by stakeholders the following alterations were made:  
 

- Stokes Croft frontage windows will be timber framed 
- Number of mansard roofs reduced  
- Active frontages included to workshops facing Hepburn Road  
- Height of central building reduced  
- Number of student bedrooms reduced from 66 to 59 
- Additional family housing included  
- Consideration given to the Carriage Works scheme  

 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION 
 
The application was initially advertised in press and via site notice, expiry date 18.08.2021. 
Neighbours were consulted via individual letters sent 03.08.2021.  
 
Objections initially received from 4.no neighbouring properties, which in summary raised the 
following concerns: 
 

- The development would harm the character and appearance of the conservation area  
- There isn't a need for more student flats in the local area  
- The development will result in a harmful increase in activity at the site  
- The development would result in harm to the amenity of surrounding properties due to noise 

and disturbance  
- The development represents an overdevelopment of the plot resulting in a loss of privacy, 

diminished daylight and sunlight and an oppressive, overbearing presence 
- The development would have a negative impact on the residential amenity of neighbours 

and would not be buildable and maintainable, without access from PG Group/Sovereign 
Housing land at the adjacent site 

- The construction and demolition period would result in harmful noise and disturbance  
- There should be more family sized units within the development  
- There should be more C3 residential units within the development  
- We shouldn't be creating gated communities  
- Hepburn Road should remain open  

 
3.no letter of support received to the initial consultation, which in summary stated the following:- 
 

- The current site is an eyesore and should be developed  
- The scheme addresses a number of problematic issues relating to the site, in particular its 

run-down appearance and the anti-social behaviour 
- The proposal provides a sensitive response to the context, despite the demolition of Croft 

Dale 
- Although there is now an abundance of student accommodation in this area, there is some 

C3 residential accommodation provided as well, and the workshop units are particularly 
welcome 

- The applicant and team engaged in a positive manner with local residents and stakeholders  
- The scheme will provide a much-improved situation for Hepburn Road  

 
Following these comments and concerns raised by officers the applicant submitted revised plans 
and additional detail to seek to address the issues raised. As a result those who were originally 
consulted and those who already commented on the application were re-consulted via individual 
letters sent on 05.08.2022.  
 
No comments or objections received to this second round of public consultation.  
 

Page 34



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

A further third round of public consultation was undertaken. Those who already commented on the 
application were re-consulted via individual letters sent on 24.11.2022. 
 
One comment received to this third round of public consultation, neither objecting to nor supporting 
the scheme however requesting that the 'Agent of Change' principle is considered with regards to 
nearby commercial uses and future noise complaints to protect existing businesses. 
 
OTHER COMMENTS  
 
Bristol Civic Society has commented as follows:- 
 
Initial comments: 
 
'Overall, Bristol Civic Society welcomes the regeneration of this run-down site. We are aware of the 
number of student accommodation proposals and developments in this area and assume the 
Council will ensure that the proposal is policy compliant in respect of this. We have some concerns 
about the proximity of Block A to the approved Carriageworks scheme. Our comments are broadly 
similar to those we made at the pre-application stage. 
 
Demolition 
 
The buildings to be demolished have little value with the possible exception of the locally listed 
Victorian house. The Society considers the demolition of this building is outweighed by the 
improvements to the site and its vicinity afforded by the proposals. We suggest, however, that a 
detailed survey of the house and photographic records are lodged with the Bristol Archives for 
future reference. 
 
Land use, layout and height 
 
The Society welcomes the residential use of much of the site. Ideally, we would prefer a greater mix 
of student and private residential uses but will leave it to the Council to decide if the amount of new 
student accommodation is policy compliant. We suggest that whatever student accommodation is 
provided should be designed to allow conversion to conventional residential use should the demand 
for student rooms decline. 
 
We welcome the provision of two workshop units as we understand from local groups that there is 
an unmet demand for such accommodation. It could be beneficial if the units are flexible enough to 
allow more than one business in each space were that required. 
 
Our only concern about the layout is the proximity of Block A to the approved Carriageworks 
proposal for residential accommodation on the adjoining site. The access to daylight of future 
residents there must not be compromised by Block A. 
 
The proposed height of buildings, including the vertically extended buildings adjacent to the 
Carriageworks as shown, is acceptable. The Society welcomes the revised elevation to Stokes 
Croft. 
 
Landscape 
 
The proposals raise no concerns. On-going maintenance will be essential to retain the quality of the 
proposed landscape. 
 
Access 
 

Page 35



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

We welcome the dual access points to the site from Stokes Croft and Hepburn Road. Although we 
would prefer to see a non-gated development, the Society understands the security issues that are 
present in the area. We would hope that locked gates will be kept under review and, if the security 
situation improves, abandoned. Developments in the pipeline in the neighbourhood could also 
conceivably improve security in the area. 
 
Public Realm  
 
The public realm at the junction of Hepburn Road and Stokes Croft desperately needs 
improvement. The Society would support the closure to vehicles of Hepburn Road at this point. This 
would improve safety as well as amenity. The surface of Hepburn Road is poor. It appears that 
there are cobbles beneath the worn tarmac. Restoration of these in conjunction with this 
development would be an improvement. Graffiti resistant surfaces to the buildings will be essential. 
 
Sustainability 
 
The Society strongly supports the Council's policies to address climate change and trusts that the 
Council will ensure that the scheme is policy compliant.' 
 
Final comments: 
 
'Bristol Civic Society has considered the revisions to this application and does not wish to change 
its support for the proposals registered on this file on 5 August.' 
 
The Conservation Advisory Panel has commented as follows:- 
 
'Much of the Panel's response to the pre-application submission, appended below, is relevant to 
this full planning application. 
 
The Panel objects to the proposed demolition of Croftdale which is locally listed and would cause 
harm to the character of the Conservation Area. 
 
The panel considers the buildings on Stokes Croft have greater significance than is allowed in the 
Heritage Statement. The various alterations to them over the years have not reduced the intrinsic 
heritage value of these predominantly C18 buildings. A greater degree of restoration of the facades, 
particularly the blocked up shopfronts, is required. 
 
While some of the new mansards have been amended from the pre-application, they remain 
inappropriate in form. 
 
Given the extent of recorded C18 development there is great potential archaeological interest in the 
site, particularly given the results of the excavations on the Carriageworks site. Preconstruction 
investigation of the site is essential. 
 
Panel response to Pre-Application 20/00151/PREAPP: 
 
The Panel has concerns over the intensity of development and the demolition of Croftdale which is 
locally listed and would cause harm to the character of the Conservation Area. The pre application 
is not well informed regarding the value and impact on relevant heritage assets including boundary 
walls. A detailed study is needed to evaluate the significance of the buildings on the site and any 
potential archaeology. The new buildings would not refer to the grain and massing of the historic 
plots. The footprint and massing of Block B does not give coherence to the site as a whole or make 
good use of the spaces within it. Building to the boundary of the site along Hepburn Road would 
better reflect the urban grain of the area and restore/enhance the streetscape.  

Page 36



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
It would be useful to assess and refer to the Peter Ware Study of Stokes Croft from the 1980s. The 
proposed addition of mansard roofs to the buildings on Stokes Croft which are unlisted buildings of 
merit is not justified. The altered window proportions must be informed by research.' 
 
Historic England has commented as follows:- 
 
Initial comments: 
 
Heritage Assets and Significance 
 
The proposed development has potential to impact upon the setting of the adjacent Grade II* 
Carriage works and the character and appearance of Stokes Croft Conservation Area, both of 
which would fall within our statutory remit. There other designated and undesignated heritage 
assets, including Croftdale on the local list, that may be affected, although we would advise that 
your Conservation Officer assesses relevant impacts on their significance. Our primary 
consideration is the setting of the carriage Works, built in 1862 by EW Godwin. Constructed of 
squared, coursed Pennant rubble and Pennant and limestone ashlar dressings in the Rundbogen 
(round-arch) style, the ground-floor arches were originally open for access by John Perry and Sons' 
carriages, and the works originally had a hipped pantile roof with small dormers. For many years 
the Grade II* building has been on the national Buildings at Risk register, although consent was 
granted in 2016 for its alteration and renovation to a mixed-use development. The Carriage Works 
are designated as Grade II*, and as such are in the top 8% of listed buildings. Therefore, greater 
weight should be given to its conservation. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
defines 'conservation' as 'the process of maintaining and managing change to a heritage asset in a 
way that sustains and, where appropriate, enhances its significance'. 
 
The identified site is wholly within the Stokes Croft Conservation Area, which is also identified as 
being at risk and showing signs of further deterioration. Following the guidance set out in para 206 
of the revised NPPF, we would encourage opportunities for new development within the 
Conservation Areas and within the setting of heritage assets, to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. 
 
Summary of proposals. 
 
The proposed development includes the demolition of buildings to the rear of Stokes Croft, 
including Croftdale, the redevelopment of 86-92 and 96-102 Stokes Croft, and 59 no. bedrooms of 
student accommodation. 
 
Impact of the Proposed Development. 
 
The principle of re-developing this site offers the opportunity to better reveal the significance of 
Carriage Works by repairing and restoring its setting and to also enhance the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area. We have been engaged through the pre-application process 
and provided the applicant with advice on the impacts of the preliminary proposals and how these 
could be further developed to reduce harm and enhance the historic environment. We offer the 
following advice on the impacts of the proposals, as they stand: 
 
In terms of the setting of the Carriage Works, its principal visual aspect is onto Stokes Croft and its 
façade is read alongside the much-altered frontages of no.s 86-102. We believe that addressing the 
incongruous aspects of the terrace, as part of these proposals, in a manner that re-establishes the 
vertical lines of fenestration and detailing of the buildings, while retaining aspects of character that 
are distinctive to Stokes Croft (i.e. murals and street art) would enhance the setting of the Grade II* 
frontage of the Carriage Works. Likewise, this could also deliver meaningful improvement within this 

Page 37



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

part of the Conservation Area. 
 
Shopfronts should be reinstated where they have been previously removed and domestic windows 
fitted (e.g. no.s 86, 96 and 98). This would provide a more holistic approach to the entire parade of 
existing and former shops. We do not support the approach of retaining domestic window apertures 
within the former shopfronts, as this counters the character and appearance of the Conservation 
Area. Thought should be given to reinstating their former commercial use in order to reactivate the 
entire parade of shops, which would help deliver heritage benefits to the Conservation Area. 
 
The pre-application scheme proposed a large, flat-roofed mansard over no.100 and 102, which was 
considered non-traditional in the context of the historic terrace. This has now been revised to a pair 
of mansards running perpendicular to Stokes Croft. While the existing flat-roof arrangement over 
these properties is far from satisfactory, any restoration should be properly informed by historical 
evidence. Given that mansards are not altogether common in the Conservation Area, we advocate 
that other, perhaps more traditional and historically accurate options are considered. 
 
The rear of the site facing onto Hepburn Road contains a mix of buildings associated with the 
principal 18th century buildings on Stokes Croft. While unlisted, these are identified as being of 
merit in the council's Stokes Croft Conservation Area Character Appraisal. We would task your 
Conservation Officer to assess the relevant merits of any structures that are proposed for 
demolition. As Croftdale has been included on the council's Local List, we would support a scheme 
that retains this building and repurposed in a more contextual way. 
 
The proposals include three new blocks to the rear of the site to a maximum of four stories (Block 
A). Block B has been reduced to three stories from the four storeys proposed at the pre-application 
stage. While there would be limited impact upon the setting of Carriage Works, this site forms a 
transition between the larger-scale buildings on Stokes Croft and the domestic two-storey terraces 
in Hepburn Road. Therefore, the massing of the three blocks could step down to the eastern side of 
the side to a greater degree. The proposals will also no doubt need to be considered against the 
council's Urban Living SPD and this may inform a modified layout and massing. 
 
Historic England's Position 
 
We support the aims of addressing the frontages onto Stokes Croft but advise that a more authentic 
and consist approach is needed. We support the re-development of the rear of the site, but 
advocate that any buildings or structures that make a positive contribution to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area are retained and repurposed for a more contextual form of 
development. 
 
Recommendation  
 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. We consider that the 
issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be addressed in order for the application to 
meet the requirements of paragraphs 199 and 206 of the revised NPPF. In determining this 
application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving 
listed buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they 
possess and section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to 
pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
conservation areas. 
 
Second consultation comments:- 
 
'Impact of the Proposed Development  

Page 38



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
The applicant has responded to our previous concerns over the application, notably the treatment 
of the frontages onto Stokes Croft, the proposed mansard roofs over no. 100 and 102, and the 
massing of the proposed rear blocks extending to the terraces in Hepburn Road. 
 
With regard to the reinstatement of shopfronts in no.s 86, 96 and 98, we are not persuaded that 
these existing residential uses do not preclude a future commercial use. While this is also an issue 
for your council to consider in terms of planning policies for the area, we still advise the 
reinstatement of active shop units, or those with reinstated shopfronts which, in the interim, could 
still be used for residential purposes until a commercial use becomes viable (subject to the 
necessary permissions). This would deliver the greatest heritage benefit to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area, which remains 'at risk'. 
 
The introduction of mansard roofs over no.100 and 102 Stokes Croft has now been offered 
justification on account of other existing mansards within the conservation area and on properties 
within the application site, noting a desire to deliver a varied roofscape. We note that within the 
immediate area, mansards are certainly the exception and not the common form of construction. 
We therefore defer to your Conservation Officer in assessing whether the roof form is indeed more 
widely found and therefore a valid approach to re-establishing a more contextual form over these 
properties. 
 
The proposed rear blocks extending towards the terrace of two-storey dwellings have been re-
aligned to emphasise the perpendicular lines (of roof forms) to the frontages on Stokes Croft, which 
we consider to be more traditional and contextual. We view this as an improvement, although the 
overall massing on the rear of the site would not provide the most appropriate transition between 
the west and east part of the site. Historic England's Position. 
 
While the development offers a great opportunity to improve the setting of the Carriageworks and to 
address aspects of the Conservation Area identified as contributing to its entry on the 'Heritage at 
Risk' register, we still believe that adjustments can be made which would deliver a more contextual 
and successful scheme. 
 
Recommendation  
 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. We consider that the 
issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be addressed in order for the application to 
meet the requirements of paragraphs 199 and 206 of the NPPF. In determining this application you 
should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed 
buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they 
possess and section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to 
pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
conservation areas.  
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, safeguards 
or further information as set out in our advice. If there are any material changes to the proposals, or 
you would like further advice, please contact us.' 
 
Final comments:-  
 
'Impact of the Proposed Development  
 
Further amendments to the Stokes Croft elevation have been submitted. These now include the 
retention of the existing shop fronts and fenestration associated with no's 96 and 98, together with a 

Page 39



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

revised roof arrangement over no 100 and 102. As per our previous advice of 15th August 2022, we 
are disappointed that reinstatement of active shop frontages has not been given further 
consideration and the retention of unsympathetic fenestration will not offer any enhancement or 
benefit to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area.  
 
With regard to no.100-102, the previously proposed mansard roof over the additional stories has 
been revised with a flat roof behind a parapet on the principal elevation. While a more authentic 
roof form (hipped pitches running front to back) would be more consistent with the character context 
of the Conservation Area, we note that the replication of poorly proportioned and positioned 
fenestration in the proposed second floor would provide no heritage benefits. There would be a 
degree of harm to the immediate setting of the Grade II* Carriage Works, as a result of the design 
approach to the additional stories over these properties.  
 
Overall, we do not consider that the amendments offer any improvements upon the previous 
iteration. 
 
Historic England has concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. We consider that the 
issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be addressed in order for the application to 
meet the requirements of paragraphs 199, 200 and 206 of the NPPF. In determining this application 
you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving listed 
buildings or their setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which they 
possess and section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to 
pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of 
conservation areas.' 
 
The Coal Authority has commented as follows:- 
 
'The application site does not fall within the defined Development High Risk Area and is located 
instead within the defined Development Low Risk Area. This means that there is no requirement 
under the risk-based approach that has been agreed with the LPA for a Coal Mining Risk 
Assessment to be submitted or for The Coal Authority to be consulted. In accordance with the 
agreed approach to assessing coal mining risks as part of the development management process, 
if this proposal is granted planning permission, it will be necessary to include The Coal Authority's 
Standing Advice within the Decision Notice as an informative note to the applicant in the interests of 
public health and safety.' 
 
Bristol City Council Contaminated Land Environmental Protection has commented as follows:- 
 
'A land contamination Desk Study and Phase 2 report has been provided to support the application 
which is acceptable. A condition should however be attached to any permission requiring that no 
development shall take place (except demolition) until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the 
site to a condition suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, 
buildings and other property and the natural and historical environment has been prepared, 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. In the event that 
contamination is found, no occupation of the development shall take place until the approved 
remediation scheme has been carried out in accordance with its terms. A condition would also be 
required that in the event that contamination is found at any time that had not previously been 
identified when carrying out the approved development, it must be reported immediately to the 
Local Planning Authority.' 
 
Bristol City Council Conservation Section has commented as follows:- 
 
'The proposals continue to pose substantial harm to the special architectural and historic character 

Page 40



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

of the statutorily protected Conservation Area. The Local Authority is required by the NPPF to place 
"great weight" in the conservation of the Stokes Croft Conservation Area and are required to refuse 
applications that pose substantial harm without justification. The proposals lack the required "clear 
and convincing justification" for why the harm posed might be considered unavoidable as part of 
redevelopment, or the minimum in securing a viable future use for the site.   
   
We strongly recommend that this application is withdrawn by the applicant, or refused in line with 
national legislation, and national and local planning policies, designed to protect the historic 
environment. This includes, but is not limited to, The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 
Areas) Act 1990, Section 16 of the National Planning policy framework, Bristol Core Strategic Policy 
BCS22, and Development Management Policy DM31.' 
 
Refer to Key Issue C for full comments. 
 
Bristol City Council Nature Conservation Officer has commented as follows:- 
 
'The amount of natural habitat currently on the site is negligible so I don't envisage a loss in 
biodiversity. The updated landscaping plan does however need to include a species list. We would 
be looking for pollinator-friendly planting, ideally with a couple of fruiting trees, and the green roof 
they are proposing should be biodiverse, not sedum as this has limited value for wildlife. 
 
I've written a list of conditions if this application is approved. These include a 30-year landscape 
and ecological management plan in the absence of a BNG assessment, an updated soft 
landscaping plan with species list, a method statement for the green roof, EMES and PMW.' 
 
Bristol City Council Housing Delivery Strategy And Enabling Manager has commented as 
follows:- 
 
"The application currently proposes 9 residential units and therefore is below the 10 unit threshold 
for affordable housing requirements. It is noted that the student cluster unit on the lower ground 
floor flat in Block B has now been removed and that the C3 units have been altered to provide more 
family-sized units. 
 
Whilst the improvements to the layout and amenity of the proposed scheme are welcomed, 
Housing Enabling continue to have concerns that the number of C3 residential units is deliberately 
being restricted to below the affordable housing threshold. If the scheme were to be wholly C3 
residential it could provide much needed affordable homes in this highly sustainable location, in 
which there is are relatively small amount of affordable housing available. It is noted that the C3 
units are referred to in the schedule as rented units and therefore consideration should be given as 
to whether the scheme would comprise a Build to Rent product as defined in PPG Build to rent - 
GOV.UK (www.gov.uk). If so the Council's policy on Build to Rent would apply and the affordable 
requirements would be 20% Affordable Private rented units see guidance here Delivery of 
affordable build to rent homes in Bristol." 
 
Bristol City Council Air Quality has commented as follows:- 
 
'I have no objections or concerns about this development in terms of air quality. The predicted 
operational impacts are negligible and no new exposure will be introduced. A construction 
environmental management plan should be implemented to mitigate any construction impacts.' 
 
Bristol City Council Urban Design has commented as follows:- 
 
'Substantial concerns remain relating to the demolition and alterations of the historic buildings and 
quality of design and living environment. The proposal does not comply with the design related 

Page 41



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

policy considerations and cannot be supported from urban design perspective' 
 
Refer to Key Issue C for full comments. 
 
Bristol City Council Transport Development Management has commented as follows:- 
 
'No objections following the submission of further detail and subject to conditions'  
 
Refer to Key Issue D for full comments. 
 
Bristol City Council Sustainable City Team has commented as follows:- 
 
'The applicant has failed to fully investigate/select the lowest carbon heating solution feasible for the 
development, which is the objective of the heat hierarchy. This is disappointing, however the as 
communal gas is on the BCS14 heat hierarchy refusal on the basis of the proposed heating and 
cooling system would not be reasonable or defendable.   
 
The proposed development however will fail to meet the required BREEAM "Excellent" rating 
without adequate justification and as such the application is in conflict with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021); Core Strategy (2011) Policy BCS15 and Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) 
Policy BCAP20.' 
 
Refer to Key Issue G for full comments. 
 
Bristol City Council Pollution Control has commented as follows:- 
 
'I've read through revised noise assessment and am happy with it. Due to the high noise levels from 
both traffic on Stokes Croft and noise from the Love Inn rooms facing onto Stokes Croft and 
Hepburn Road will have to have a high level of sound insulation and mechanical ventilation 
provided.  Windows can still be openable on these facades so that occupiers can open them at their 
own discretion. Occupants generally prefer the ability to have control over the internal environment 
using openable windows, even if the acoustic conditions would be considered unsatisfactory when 
open. 
 
As the assessment gives recommended specifications for the external fabric sound insulation and 
ventilation I would just need to see further information regarding the actual insulation and ventilation 
to be provided by conditions. 
 
Given the local context, within the designated City Centre where there are many other late night 
and commercial uses, it is not considered that the intensification of shared housing, introduction of 
student accommodation or two new workshops will cause detrimental harm to the amenity of 
surrounding properties in terms of noise and disturbance, subject to conditions.' 
 
Bristol City Council Flood Risk Manager has commented as follows:- 
 
'Having reviewed the applicant's responses, I can confirm I'm satisfied with the current proposals 
and we are satisfied in principle that the proposed drainage arrangements are sufficient to mitigate 
the risk of surface water/sewer and groundwater flooding to the site and evidence that it will not 
cause flooding to surrounding sites. 
 
I would however like further detail on the proposed green roof and further detail on the 
management and maintenance plan of the drainage system. This further information can be 
provided via condition as set out below: 
 

Page 42



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

No development shall take place until a Sustainable Drainage Strategy and associated detailed 
design, management and maintenance plan of surface water drainage for the site using SuDS 
methods has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
approved drainage system shall be implemented in accordance with the approved Sustainable 
Drainage Strategy prior to the use of the building commencing and maintained thereafter for the 
lifetime of the development.  
 
Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding by ensuring the provision of a satisfactory means 
of surface water disposal is incorporated into the design and the build and that the principles of 
sustainable drainage are incorporated into this proposal and maintained for the lifetime of the 
proposal.' 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
Urban Living SPD - November 2018 
Managing the development of houses in multiple occupation SPD - November 2020 
Stokes Croft Conservation Area Character Appraisal 
Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
National Planning Policy Framework – July 2021 
Bristol Local Plan comprising Core Strategy (Adopted June 2011), Site Allocation and Development 
Management Policies (Adopted July 2014) and (as appropriate) the Bristol Central Area Plan 
(Adopted March 2015) and (as appropriate) the Old Market Quarter Neighbourhood Development 
Plan 2015 and the Hengrove and Whitchurch Park Neighbourhood Development Plan 2019. 
 
In determining this application, the Local Planning Authority has had regard to all relevant policies 
of the Bristol Local Plan and relevant guidance. 
 
KEY ISSUES 
 
(A) PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT 
 
The site relates to land and buildings on the eastern side of Stokes Croft, St Pauls, central Bristol. 
The buildings fronting Stokes Croft are typically in mixed use, with some commercial ground floor 
uses (Class E) with residential use (student accommodation) above at Nos. 86-92 and 96-98 
Stokes Croft. Croft Dale to the rear of the site is in use as a multiple occupancy dwelling. The rear 
of the site includes a vacant yard area principally accessed from Hepburn Road which was 
previously used by a windscreen repair business which has now relocated. It is noted that planning 
history for these uses is scarce however the existing uses are likely to have lawfully established 
and the LPA is accepting this is the case. 
 
Planning permission is sought for the demolition of Croft Dale and other industrial buildings on the 
site and redevelopment of Nos. 86-92 and Nos. 96-102 Stokes Croft and Croft Dale to provide 9no. 
residential units (Class C3), 2no. workshop units (Class E(g)) and 59no. bedrooms of student 
accommodation with associated development, including retention of existing ground floor retail units 
on Stokes Croft and the existing student accommodation at 86-92 and 96-98 Stokes Croft. 
 
The site is located within the Stokes Croft retail area within Bristol City Centre as defined by the 
Central Area Plan. The Stokes Croft ground floor frontage is designated secondary shopping 
frontage. 
 
Paragraph 86 of the NPPF (2021) states that planning policies and decisions should support the 
role that town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a positive approach to their 
growth, management and adaptation. Policy BCS2 within the Bristol Core Strategy (2011) states 
that Bristol City Centre's role as a regional focus will be promoted and strengthened with 

Page 43



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

development including include mixed uses for offices, residential, retail, leisure, tourism, 
entertainment and arts and cultural facilities. Throughout the city centre higher density, mixed use 
development will be encouraged with active ground floor uses along the busier streets. Policy 
BCAP1 in the Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) echoes this, stating that new development in Bristol 
City Centre will be expected to contribute to the mix of uses in the wider area. A mix of new homes, 
employment and other uses will be sought as appropriate to the site and its context 
 
Loss of Existing Uses 
 
The overall principle of introducing mixed commercial/residential development at the site is 
considered acceptable in the context of the above policy. However, employment uses (such as the 
existing windscreen repair business) are protected through the following policies, and therefore 
justification would be required for the loss of the employment floorspace. 
 
Policy BCS8 of the Core Strategy (2011) seeks to protect employment floorspace where it makes a 
valuable contribution to the economy and employment opportunities and states that new 
employment floorspace suitable for smaller businesses will be encouraged as part of mixed-use 
development. Policy BCAP7 of the Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) more specifically states that 
employment sites in St. Paul's & Stokes Croft and other areas of inner east Bristol should be 
retained for employment use unless it can be demonstrated that: 
 
i. There is no demand for employment uses; or 
 
ii. Continued employment use would have an unacceptable impact on the environmental quality of 
the surrounding area; or 
 
iii. A net reduction in floorspace is necessary to improve the existing premises; or 
 
iv. It is to be used for industrial or commercial training purposes. 
 
The applicant has noted that the previous employment use occupied the site for light industrial 
activity until December 2019, utilising the buildings and land to the rear of Stokes Croft for a mobile 
windscreen repair business. However, the company outgrew the site and have since moved to a 
new premises within Bristol, at the Kingsland Trading Estate in St Philips. There is sufficient 
capacity within the new premises to undertake all aspects of the business, and the applicant has 
confirmed that the current site is now vacant with the previous employment use fully relocating to 
the new site. The proposed development also includes some new workshop space (Use Class 
E(g)) at ground floor level, within the proposed new building block on the southern boundary of the 
site adjacent to Hepburn Road. The workshop space will be split into two units, with a total net 
internal floor area of 141sqm. This will ensure that employment provision is retained at the 
application site in some capacity.  
 
The LPA is also satisfied that any loss of employment floorspace satisfies criterion ii. and iii. of 
Policy BCAP7. The existing employment use relating to light industrial activity has resulted in high 
levels of vehicular parking at the site which do not have a positive impact to environmental amenity. 
There is an apparent lack of maintenance and upkeep of buildings at the site. This includes the 
warehouse extension to the rear of 86-88 Stokes Croft that appears in poor condition. Some 
buildings have become derelict through lack of use. Graffiti within the area including at the site can 
cause negative impacts in terms of amenity where it detracts from the quality of buildings through 
drawing the eye away from architectural detailing. This adds to a perception of a threatening or 
neglected environment. Replacing the existing employment use with more modern workshop 
facilities would help address the above concerns and improve the environmental quality of the 
surrounding area.  
 

Page 44



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Given the above, the LPA is satisfied that the proposal will result in no harmful loss of employment 
provision at the site, with the previous employment use fully relocating to another site within the 
city. Alternative provision will be made at the application site for two new workshops, which will 
ensure employment provision is retained in some capacity and improve the environmental quality of 
the surrounding area. This will also accord with the above policy, as well as Policy BCS8 which 
states that new employment floorspace suitable for smaller businesses will be encouraged as part 
of mixed-use development. The application is considered acceptable on this basis.  
 
Impact on Retail Area and Shopping Frontage  
 
The site is located within the designated Stokes Croft retail area within the City Centre and forms 
part of a Secondary Shopping Frontage. 
 
Policy BCS7 of the Bristol Core Strategy (2011) states that uses which contribute to maintaining the 
vitality, viability and diversity of centres will be encouraged and that active ground floor uses will be 
maintained and enhanced throughout centres.  
 
Policy BCAP17 in the Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) in addition states that within Secondary 
Shopping Frontages in Bristol City Centre the development of retail or other related uses will be 
acceptable where they would help to maintain or enhance the function of the shopping area. In all 
cases the proposed use will be expected: 
 
i. To complement the retail function of the shopping frontage and not harm its vitality, viability or 
diversity; and 
 
ii. Not to harmfully dominate or fragment frontages; and 
 
iii. To generate a reasonable level of footfall and be of general public interest or service; and 
 
iv. To be compatible with a shopping area in that it includes a shop front with a display function and 
would be immediately accessible to the public from the street. 
 
It is proposed to retain all commercial ground floor uses fronting Stokes Croft. Given the position 
within a designated secondary shopping frontage and City Centre, the retention of these existing 
units is welcomed and supported. Local policy relating to secondary shopping frontages 
encourages uses which generate a reasonable level of footfall and interest as well as shop front 
with a display function and would be immediately accessible to the public from the street as noted 
above. All of the existing commercial uses and shop frontages will be retained, which will help 
support the continued vitality and viability of the City Centre and shopping frontage which is 
welcomed. Initial concerns were raised regarding the loss of storage and servicing space to the rear 
of No.102 Stokes Croft and as such revised plans were provided demonstrating that an adequate 
amount of storage and servicing space will be retained for this commercial property.  
 
The existing residential units at the site fronting Stokes Croft (specifically Nos. 86, 96 and 98 
Stokes Croft) extend to the ground floor level and include inactive frontages and lack adequate bin 
storage which represents a significant and prominent negative aspect of the site. This concern has 
also been raised by Historic England following consultation. It was therefore requested during the 
course of the application that the applicant reinstate commercial units with active frontages to these 
properties at ground floor level. This would be in accordance with the general aspirations of 
secondary shopping frontage policy requirements (Policy BCAP17 as noted above). It would also 
reverse some of the harm caused to the character and appearance of the conservation area and 
deliver the greatest heritage benefit to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, 
which remains 'at risk' as noted by Historic England. 
 

Page 45



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Despite this request revised plans were not forthcoming. The applicant noted that there is no policy 
requirement to reintroduce active ground floor uses to secondary frontages. Whilst this is 
acknowledged it is the view of the LPA that such a large, fundamental redevelopment of the site 
should attempt to reverse some of the harm caused to the conservation area and introduce new 
development in accordance with wider policy aspirations. The failure to reintroduce active ground 
floor uses is an unfortunate missed opportunity, which would have represented a significant benefit 
of the proposal and enhancement to the area. Despite this it is not considered reasonable to refuse 
the application on this basis given that the non-active residential uses are established and will be 
retained as existing. However, the LPA considers the failure to address this issue very 
disappointing.  
 
Acceptability of Proposed Student Accommodation 
 
Policy DM2 of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) states that 
specialist student housing schemes will be acceptable within the city centre. Policy BCAP4 in the 
Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) more specifically states that specialist student housing schemes 
that contribute to the diversity of uses within the local area will be acceptable within Bristol City 
Centre unless it would create or contribute to a harmful concentration of specialist student housing 
within any given area. When making assessments on new specialist student housing development, 
consideration will be given to the mix of uses delivered on any individual site. Consideration should 
also be given to the mix of housing within the local area and whether the development would result 
in concentrations of specialist student housing that would be harmful to residential amenity. 
 
Data held by the local authority does not indicate particularly high concentrations of student 
accommodation immediately surrounding the site. It is evident that there are no existing student 
bedspaces within 100 metres of the application site. There is limited student accommodation to the 
north of the site, however significant concentrations around St James Barton roundabout including 
parts of St Pauls and the northern part of the city centre at Nelson Street. Permission has recently 
been granted (application: 19/04331/F) for 416 bedspaces on the old Bristol Royal Infirmary site. 
The Portland Square development (application: 19/01892/F) comprising 267 student bedspaces 
was granted planning permission in November 2020. The current site is however some way further 
north and therefore geographically separate from these adjacent developments. This separation is 
found to be sufficient to ensure student accommodation at the site would contribute diversity to the 
mix of uses locally and avoid a harmful concentration within the immediate vicinity. 
 
In addition to the above, Census data (2011) for the local area (lower super output area) does not 
indicate particularly high existing concentrations of student accommodation. Two lower super 
output areas cross the site. These are St Pauls City Road which extends to the south and east and 
Lower Montpelier which extends to the north. Census data indicates that within St Pauls City Road 
only 1.3% of people live within multiple person households comprising full time students. Within 
Lower Montpelier only 2.5% of people live within multiple person households comprising full time 
students. It is recognised that census data is now over 10 years old with the data for the most 
recent census (2021) not yet being available for consideration. This is an issue with the frequency 
of census data gathering which is unfortunately outside the control of the Council. It is recognised 
that the profile of the area may have changed in the intervening period and the LPA will consider 
other forms of more up to data which it holds. Nevertheless, the census data does not indicate 
particularly high concentrations of student households immediately surrounding the site. 
 
It is therefore not considered that the provision of student accommodation in this area will 
significantly alter the character or nature of the area or housing mix. The site is located within the 
City Centre where student accommodation and higher densities of development are considered 
appropriate. The purpose-built nature of the proposed accommodation will also assist in meeting 
the unfulfilled demand in this area of the city, which in turn will help ease some of the pressure on 
the conversion of single-family dwellings within the local area, wider ward and elsewhere within the 

Page 46



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

city. 
 
Intensification of Shared Housing  
 
The development will result in the enlargement of a number of existing Houses in Multiple 
Occupation (HMOs).  
 
Development of HMOs is covered by Bristol City Council Site Allocations and Development 
Management (2014) Policy DM2. The policy provides an approach to addressing the impacts and 
issues that may result from this form of development and aims to ensure that the residential 
amenity and character of an area is preserved and that harmful concentrations do not arise. This 
policy does not permit new HMOs or the intensification of existing HMOs where development would 
create or contribute to a harmful concentration within a locality. The policy identifies a harmful 
concentration as a worsening of existing harmful conditions or a change to the housing mix that 
reduces housing choice. 
 
The Council has recently adopted a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) relevant to the 
determination of applications concerning houses in multiple occupation (HMOs): Managing the 
development of houses in multiple occupation, SPD (Adopted) November 2020 - referred to 
hereafter as the SPD. The SPD provides guidance in applying Policy DM2 (see above), relating 
specifically to houses in multiple occupation. 
 
The document recognises that HMOs form part of the city's private rented housing stock and 
contribute positively to people's housing choice. This form of accommodation is generally more 
affordable and flexible and therefore suitable for younger people, including students, and other 
households that are not living as families. It is however recognised that HMOs are more intensive 
form of accommodation than traditional flats or dwellings. Typically this increases dependent on the 
level of occupancy. 
 
General issues associated with HMOs include: 
 

- Noise and disturbance 
- Detriment to visual amenity (through external alterations and poor waste management) 
- Reduced community facilities 
- Highway safety concerns (from increased parking) 
- Reduced housing choice 
- Reduced community engagement 
- Reduced social cohesion 

 
The SPD expands on DM2 to provide a definition of what represents a 'harmful concentration' in the 
wording of the policy. This relates to two principles; local level and area level. At local level, a 
harmful concentration is found to exist where 'sandwiching' occurs. This is where a single family 
dwelling (use class C3) becomes sandwiched with HMOs at both adjacent sites. This can happen 
within a flatted building with HMOs above and below also. With regards to the wider area, a harmful 
concentration is found to exist where a threshold proportion of 10% HMOs within a 100m radius of 
the site occurs. This is generally identified as a tipping point, beyond which negative impacts to 
residential amenity and character are likely to be experienced and housing choice and community 
cohesion start to weaken. 
 
The document states that it should be used alongside relevant Local Plan policies to determine all 
applications for new HMOs and for additional bed spaces within existing HMOs and constitutes an 
important material consideration in the decision-making process. 
 
Paragraph 4.2 of the SPD states that proposals for additional bed spaces within an existing HMO 

Page 47



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

where 10% or more of the total dwelling stock is occupied as HMOs within a 100-metre radius of 
the application property or site are unlikely to be consistent with Local Plan policy. The Council has 
access to data in relation to the number of Licenced HMOs (Mandatory and Additional Licences) 
plus any HMOs that have been given planning permission and do not currently have a licence. This 
data (as of January 2022) indicates that within 100m of the application site there are a total of 256 
residential properties, 32 of which are HMOs. This means that the percentage of HMOs within 100 
metres of the site is 12.5%, which is above the 10% desirable threshold quoted within the SPD. As 
per the SPD guidance, this suggests that negative impacts to residential amenity and character are 
likely currently being experienced.  
 
Despite the above, the site is found to represent an acceptable location for shared accommodation 
in principle, being within the City Centre where specialist student housing schemes are acceptable 
as set out in Policy DM2. It is recognised that the immediate area does exceed the 10% threshold 
for this type of accommodation as stipulated within the HMO SPD. This particular site and its 
characteristics are however found to be well suited to this style of accommodation and there is 
nothing to indicate that there is any harm being caused to the mix and balance of 
housing/population or to the character or amenity of the local area as a consequence of the existing 
proportion of HMOs. Due to proximity to commercial and late-night uses, a requirement to maintain 
commercial servicing access, proximity to the major arterial route (Stokes Croft) and associated 
noise and pollution as well as lack of private amenity space, the site will not represent an 
appropriate site for family accommodation. The proposed development will also not result in the 
loss of any existing housing including family housing. Due to characteristics of the site and its 
surroundings, the proposal would not cause or exacerbate harmful impacts as defined by policy and 
consequently is found to represent a policy compliant location for the intensification of shared 
housing. The various impacts of development will be discussed further beneath however in 
principle, the intensification of the shared housing is deemed acceptable in this instance, in this 
location.     
 
Affordable Housing  
 
The application proposes 9 residential units (Use Class C3) and therefore is below the 10 unit 
threshold for affordable housing requirements. The Council's Housing Enabling Team raised 
concerns that the number of C3 residential units is deliberately being restricted to below the 
affordable housing threshold. They commented that if the scheme were to be wholly C3 residential 
it could provide much needed affordable homes in this highly sustainable location, in which there is 
a relatively small amount of affordable housing available. It is therefore disappointing that the 
number of proposed residential units (Use Class C3) is below the affordable housing requirement 
threshold. 
 
(B) MIXED AND BALANCED COMMUNITITY ISSUE 
 
The NPPF (2021) reflects the need to significantly boost the supply of housing and to deliver a wide 
choice of high quality homes, widen opportunities for home ownership and create sustainable, 
inclusive and mixed communities. Policy BSC18 of the adopted Core Strategy reflects this guidance 
and states that ''all new residential development should maintain, provide or contribute to a mix of 
housing tenures, types and sizes to help support the creation of mixed, balanced and inclusive 
communities'', with reference to the evidence provided by the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment, also notes that `developments should contribute to a mix of housing types and avoid 
excessive concentrations of one particular type'.  The policy wording states that development 
`should aim to' contribute to the diversity of housing in the local area and help to redress any 
housing imbalance that exists. 
 
Policy BCAP3 in the Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) further states that throughout the city centre 
the development of new homes will be expected to contain a proportion of family sized homes, 

Page 48



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

consisting of houses with two or more bedrooms or flats with three or more bedrooms and an 
element of usable outdoor amenity space. In defining the proportion of family sized homes that will 
be sought, regard will be had to the existing housing profile of the area, including local housing 
requirements and the characteristics of the site, including its suitability for different housing types. 
This policy states that a substantial proportion of family sized housing will usually be sought in the 
St Paul's area. Further, Policy BCAP45 in the Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) states that within the 
St. Paul's area, a continued supply of family housing will be maintained. 
 
Bristol comprises a diverse range of residential neighbourhoods with significant variations in 
housing type, tenure, size, character and quality. A wide range of factors influence the housing 
needs and demands of neighbourhoods. Such factors include demographic trends, housing supply, 
economic conditions and market operation. The inter-relationship between these and other factors 
is often complex and dynamic.  In the circumstances, housing requirements will differ greatly across 
the city and will be subject to change over time. With this in mind an overly prescriptive approach to 
housing mix would not be appropriate. However, it has been possible to identify broad housing 
issues that are applicable to many neighbourhoods. 
 
Analysis of the city's general housing needs and demands has identified a number of indicative 
requirements for each of 6 city zones. The zones reflect sub-market areas used in the Strategic 
Housing Market Assessment (SHMA). The intention is to provide a strategic steer for all sizes of 
residential scheme within each zone. A local area-based assessment is required to assess the 
development's contribution to housing mix as a smaller scale will not provide a proper 
understanding of the mix of that area; a larger scale may conceal localised housing imbalances. As 
a guide the neighbourhood is defined as an area equivalent to the size of a Census Lower Level 
Super Output Area (average of 1,500 residents). 
 
As noted above, the site is located at the boundary of the St Pauls City Road and Lower Montpelier 
lower super output areas. Within the St Pauls City Road area the majority (81%) of households 
have either 1 or 2 bedrooms (49.3% and 31.7% respectively). Similarly within the Lower Montpelier 
area, the majority (67%) of households have either 1 or 2 bedrooms (32.5% and 34.5% 
respectively). 
 
Overall, the above census data would lead to the conclusion that in this instance, there is a 
significant imbalance between flats and houses within the LSOA and that there is a need for family 
sized units (with at least three bedrooms) rather than smaller flats in the area. This is recognised 
within Supplementary Planning Document 10, 'Planning a sustainable future for St Paul's' which 
states that there is a need to develop a more balanced housing stock with larger 'family sized' 
(providing 3 or more bedrooms) housing units.  
 
Initial concerns were raised that the proposal failed to include a sufficient proportion of family sized 
units to address the existing imbalance. As such, following Case Officer advice the scheme was 
amended so that planning permission is sought for: 
 

- 1 no. 1 bedroom apartment 
- 3 no. 2 bedroom apartments 
- 4 no. 3 bedroom apartments 
- 1 no. 4 bedroom apartment 

 
These amendments ensure that at least 50% of the dwellings (Use Class C3) would be family 
sized. This is considered to be an acceptable proportion of family sized homes, which would overall 
help address the existing imbalance in housing types in the local area. Following this amendment, 
the proposal is considered acceptable with regards to mix and balance of housing types.  
 
 

Page 49



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

(C) WOULD THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT BE ACCEPTABLE IN DESIGN TERMS, 
SAFEGUARD THE CHARACTER AND APPEARANCE OF THE STOKES CROFT 
CONSERVATION AREA AND WOULD IT IMPACT ON THE CHARACTER AND SIGNIFICANCE 
OF DESIGNATED AND NON-DESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS? 
 
The application site is located entirely within the Stokes Croft Conservation Area. The Croft Dale 
building to the rear of the site is an Unlisted Building of Merit and is also Locally Listed meaning it 
has further significance as a Non-Designated Heritage Asset (NDHA) in planning terms. There are 
also a number of listed buildings adjacent to the site, these include The Carriage Works (Grade II*) 
immediately to the north, 93-95 Stokes Croft (Grade II) directly opposite the site, 84 Stokes Croft or 
The Tropic Club (Grade II) to the southern side of Hepburn Road and also 117/119 Stokes Croft 
(The Crofters Rights) (Grade II) situated opposite and north of the site on Stokes Croft. A number of 
pre 1800 historic buildings identified as Unlisted buildings of Merit forms the western edge of the 
site to Stokes Croft. Stokes Croft is also a designated secondary pedestrian route as identified in 
the Bristol Central Area Plan (2015). 
 
The Local Planning Authority is required (under Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990) to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas, listed buildings and 
heritage assets. The case of R (Forge Field Society) v Sevenoaks DC [2014] EWHC 1895 (Admin) 
("Forge Field") has made it clear where there is harm to a listed building or a conservation area the 
decision maker ''must give that harm considerable importance and weight." [48].  
 
Section 16 of the national guidance within the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states 
that local planning authorities should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage 
asset that may be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a 
heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary expertise. 
 
Para 199 states that when considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of 
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the 
more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This is irrespective of whether any 
potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its 
significance. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from its 
alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification. 
 
Para 200 states that any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage asset (from 
its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification. 
 
Para 201 states that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, 
unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve 
substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. Para 202 further states that where a 
development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated 
heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, 
where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 
 
Para 203 also states that the effect of an application on the significance of a non-designated 
heritage asset should be taken into account in determining the application. In weighing applications 
that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be 
required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 
Para 206 states that local planning authorities should look for opportunities for new development 

Page 50



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

within Conservation Areas and within the setting of heritage assets to enhance or better reveal their 
significance. Proposals that preserve those elements of the setting that make a positive contribution 
to the asset (or which better reveal its significance) should be treated favourably. 
 
In addition, Bristol Core Strategy (2011) Policy BCS22 seeks to ensure that development proposals 
safeguard or enhance heritage assets and the character and setting of areas of acknowledged 
importance including historic buildings both nationally and locally listed and conservation areas. 
Policies DM30 and DM31 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) 
also express that alterations to buildings should preserve or enhance historic settings. Policy DM31 
specifically states that alterations, extensions or changes of use to listed buildings, or development 
in their vicinity, will be expected to have no adverse impact on those elements which contribute to 
their special architectural or historic interest, including their settings. Development within or which 
would affect the setting of a conservation area will be expected to preserve or, where appropriate, 
enhance those elements which contribute to their special character or appearance. This policy 
further states that proposals affecting locally important heritage assets should ensure they are 
conserved having regard to their significance and the degree of any harm or loss of significance. 
 
Paragraph 126 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states that the creation of high 
quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 
development process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, 
creates better places in which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to 
communities. Para 130 states that planning decisions should ensure that developments are visually 
attractive as a result of good architecture, layout and appropriate and effective landscaping; are 
sympathetic to local character and history, and create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible 
and which promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
user. Para 134 states that development that is not well designed should be refused. 
 
Bristol Core Strategy (2011) Policy BCS2 states that the design of development will be expected to 
be of the highest standard in terms of appearance, function, conservation of heritage assets, 
sustainability and maintaining and enhancing green infrastructure. This policy also seeks the 
provision of active ground floor uses on the busier streets in Bristol City Centre. Policy BCS21 also 
requires new development in Bristol to deliver high quality urban design and sets out criteria to 
measure developments against including the need for development to contribute positively to an 
area's character and identity, creating or reinforcing local distinctiveness. This policy also states 
that development should promote accessibility and permeability by creating places that connect 
with each other and are easy to move through, promote legibility through the provision of 
recognisable and understandable places, routes, intersections and points of reference and create a 
multi-functional, lively and well-maintained public realm that integrates different modes of transport, 
parking and servicing. This policy also states that development should enable the delivery of 
permanent and temporary public art. 
 
Policy DM26 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) more 
specifically states that the design of development proposals should contribute towards local 
character and distinctiveness by responding appropriately to the height, scale, massing, shape, 
form and proportion of existing buildings, building lines, skylines and roofscapes and incorporating 
existing land forms, green infrastructure assets and historic assets and features. This policy also 
states that development should reflect locally characteristic architectural styles, rhythms, patterns, 
features and themes taking account of their scale and proportion and reflect the predominant 
materials, colours, textures, landscape treatments and boundary treatments in the area. 
 
Policy DM27 further expresses that the layout, form, pattern and arrangement of streets, buildings 
and landscapes should contribute towards to creation of quality urban space and that the height, 
scale and massing of development should be appropriate to the immediate context, site constraints, 
character of adjoining streets and spaces and setting. This policy also states that development will 

Page 51



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

be expected to create or contribute towards a simple, well-defined and inter-connected network of 
streets and spaces that allows for convenient access to a choice of movement modes and routes, 
as appropriate to the size of the development and grain of the surroundings. The layout and form of 
development will also be expected to enable active frontages to the public realm and natural 
surveillance over all publicly accessible spaces. 
 
Policy DM28 states that development should create or contribute to a safe, attractive, high quality, 
inclusive and legible public realm that contributes positively to local character and identity and 
encourages appropriate levels of activity and social interaction. Specifically, development will be 
expected to sensitively integrate and prioritise appropriate levels of movement infrastructure for 
different modes, including provision for convenient pedestrian and cycle movement and provide an 
appropriate relationship with the building edge and a suitable transition between clearly defined 
public and private space. Development should also enable easy, inclusive access into and through 
the public realm and to buildings that provides adequately for the mobility needs of all users having 
regard to age, gender and disability. Proposals should further incorporate appropriate street 
furniture, lighting and surface materials of high quality, environmental performance and durability 
that enhance the quality, character and appearance of the public realm through their siting and 
design. 
 
Policy DM29 states that new buildings should be designed to a high standard of quality, responding 
appropriately to their importance and reflecting their function and role in relation to the public realm. 
This policy further states that proposals for new buildings will be expected to be clearly organised in 
terms of their form and internal layout and circulation to reflect the hierarchy of function they will 
accommodate, the uses they will serve and the context they will address. New buildings should also 
incorporate high quality detail of an appropriate scale and proportion, arranged in a coherent way 
that contributes positively to the overall design approach of the building and incorporate active 
frontages and clearly defined main entrances facing the public realm  
that emphasise corners and reinforce the most prominent frontages. 
 
Policy DM30 further states that any extensions and alterations to existing buildings will be expected 
to respect the siting, scale, form, proportions, materials, details and the overall design and 
character of the host building, its curtilage and the broader street scene and retain and/or reinstate 
traditional or distinctive architectural features and fabric. Extensions should be physically and 
visually subservient to the host building, including its roof form, and not dominate it by virtue of their 
siting and scale. Proposals that would sensitively adapt existing buildings to alternative uses as an 
alternative to demolition will be supported. 
 
Policy BCAP30 in the Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) states that development on or adjacent to 
primary and secondary pedestrian routes will be expected to provide an appropriate and 
proportionate level of public realm improvements to the route. Development that would be harmful 
to the amenity or accessibility of primary or secondary pedestrian routes will not be permitted. 
Policy BCAP31 in the same document states that within Bristol City Centre, active ground floor 
uses will be sought where appropriate from development on primary pedestrian routes and other 
suitable locations where active ground floor uses would make a positive contribution to the vitality 
and character of the area. Active frontages will be expected in all locations in the city centre facing 
the existing or proposed public realm. Policy BCAP45 in this document states that development in 
Stokes Croft will be expected to respect the historic scale and form of development in the 
neighbourhood and to preserve, enhance and where appropriate reinstate historic routes that 
contribute to the permeability and legibility of the area. 
 
Stokes Croft Conservation Area has suffered significant erosion in its protected character since 
designation in 1980. Historic England has added Stokes Croft Conservation Area to the national 
Register of Heritage at Risk and describes its condition as "very poor" and deteriorating. More than 
special weight should be placed in preserving and enhancing the remaining special character. The 

Page 52



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Stokes Croft Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2007) identifies that one of the main issues 
affecting the conservation area is that inactive and hoarded frontages have contributed to the area's 
reputation as an intimidating environment, notably along Stokes Croft. In this part of the 
conservation area it is identified that the typical building materials are a red brick, some Bath stone 
detailing, painted render, or iron frames. The larger warehouse-type or church buildings, and their 
boundary walls, are exceptions to this rule and tend to be in local pennant stone. Roofs are 
predominantly clad in clay pan-tiles, with some in grey slate. Traditional windows are with timber 
sash windows or metal casements on some warehouse buildings. In future development, the 
character appraisal states that current building heights should be respected in order to retain the 
overall character of the street and impact of existing taller buildings. The Former Perry's Carriage 
Works makes a significant contribution to the upper section of Stokes Croft and is considered to be 
a local landmark. The Stokes Croft Conservation Area Character Appraisal states that unlisted 
buildings can make a positive contribution to the character of a Conservation Area, whether due to 
their townscape value, architectural qualities or local associations. Where unlisted properties are 
considered to be of value to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, there will be 
an assumption against their demolition or unsympathetic alteration. 
 
The application has been considered by the Council's Conservation and Urban Design Team, as 
well as Historic England. The application site is located in a sensitive historic area where there are 
a number of nearby heritage assets and related considerations:  
 

- The site is located within Stokes Croft Conservation Area (CA) 
- Croft Dale, within the site boundary, is an Unlisted Building of Merit in the statutory 

protected CA 
- Croft Dale is Locally Listed, so has further significance as a Non Designated Heritage Asset 

(NDHA) in planning terms. 
- A number of pre 1800 historic buildings identified as Unlisted Buildings of Merit forms the 

western edge of the site to Stokes Croft 
- The site is located within the settings of Grade II* listed 104 Stokes Croft, The Carriage 

Works building 
- The site is located within the settings of Grade II listed 84, 83, 95 and 119 Stokes Croft 
- The site is located within the settings of locally listed 77-79, 81, 84, 97, 109, 111 and 113-

115 Stokes Croft 
 
As noted above, the Stokes Croft Conservation Area has been placed on the Heritage at Risk 
register by Historic England. Significant weight should therefore be placed in preventing further 
decline and making enhancements to character. Following assessment, the Council's Conservation 
and Urban Design Team and Historic England have identified a number of concerns with the 
current proposal meaning the LPA is unable to support the scheme. These are set out below:  
 
Loss of Croft Dale  
 
Croft Dale to the rear boundary of the application site makes a positive contribution to the special 
character of the Conservation Area and is identified as a building of merit in the conservation area 
character appraisal. Furthermore it is Locally Listed so has further significance as a Non 
Designated Heritage Asset in planning terms. The special architectural and historic character of the 
Conservation Area is protected by statute. As a building of merit Croft Dale is a key element of its 
special architectural or historic interest as defined by the Secretary of State in their current 
guidance on identifying harm in Conservation Areas. 
 
Croft Dale is an early pair of residential properties, part of the former Adams Court, and dates to the 
late Georgian era, sometime after 1828. It is a characterful pair of houses with a long history, a 
good survival of lower status workers housing of this date still surviving in Bristol and has particular 
historic significance to the Stokes Croft Conservation Area. 

Page 53



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
The elevation facing Hepburn Road is typified by a tall hipped roof of terracotta double-Roman tiles, 
and distinctive tall chimneys. The façade is strongly symmetrical with classically proportions to 
windows and an attractive arched front door. To the public highway it presents as a smart and 
dignified building albeit of modest stature. The south façade, the historically original front, has 
Georgian style window heads with Georgian stepped vouissoirs, typical of that era. These facades 
have high status ashlar stone dressings. This elevation is also clearly visible from Hepburn Road. 
 
The boundary walls are also of historic interest. They are mainly pennant rubble stone and enclose 
Croft Dale, and follow the grain of properties stretching back from Stokes Croft. 
 
It's accepted that the building currently isn't an overly prominent or visible feature within the 
conservation area. This is primarily due to the poor quality and neglected condition of the 
surrounding townscape (of which the application site makes up the majority). This however doesn't 
reduce the buildings quality, significance or status as a locally listed building and heritage asset 
within the conservation area. It is considered that the complete redevelopment of the site provides 
an opportunity to better improve the setting and considerably enhance this part of the conservation 
area through better revealing the locally listed building and its significance in accordance with 
Paragraph 206 of the NPPF.  
 
Croft Dale overall contributes positively to the special character of the Conservation Area through 
its architectural and historic character, proportions, details, and materials. It is an unusual survivor 
of back-lands residential development in Stokes Croft which should be enhanced and safeguarded 
in accordance with Policies BCS22 and DM31.  
 
It's accepted that the backdrop of Croft Dale has changed with the development of the Carriage 
Works however this is not material to the physical and visual contribution of that property to the 
Conservation Area; rather more it reinforces the need of development on the current site to better 
address the scale, grain, massing, and appearance of the Conservation Area. 
 
The proposed development seeks permission to demolish a number of significant structures within 
the Conservation Area. This includes Croft Dale and its historic boundary and garden walls.  
 
The complete demolition/loss of a locally listed building such as this, identified as of merit within the 
Conservation Area, one which clearly contributes to the character, is an in-principle issue. It will 
undoubtably cause harm to the historic setting, character and appearance of the wider Stokes Croft 
Conservation Area through the removal of a historic locally listed and important building of merit.  
This will further deteriorate the character and appearance of the conservation area which is already 
identified as being in a 'very poor' condition and at risk.   
 
In assessing the degree of harm to the conservation area the relevant element of the Secretary of 
State's current guidance on Conservation Areas postdates and supersedes the much-cited case of 
Bedford Borough Council v Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government. This has 
been tested through Westminster Holocaust Memorial and Learning Centre Public Inquiry. 
 
In this The Secretary of State states:  
 
"How can the possibility of harm to conservation areas be assessed? 
 
Paragraph 201 of the National Planning Policy Framework is the starting point. An unlisted building 
that makes a positive contribution to a conservation area is individually of lesser importance than a 
listed building. If the building is important or integral to the character or appearance of the 
conservation area then its proposed demolition is more likely to amount to substantial harm to the 
conservation area, engaging the tests in paragraph 195 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Page 54



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Loss of a building within a conservation area may alternatively amount to less than substantial harm 
under paragraph 196. However, the justification for a building's proposed demolition will still need to 
be proportionate to its relative significance and its contribution to the significance of the 
conservation area as a whole. The same principles apply in respect of other elements which make 
a positive contribution to the significance of the conservation area, such as open spaces." Case 
Officer note: the above referenced paragraphs relate to the 2019 version of the NPPF.  
 
The Council's Conservation Officer confirmed that the architectural and historic character of Croft 
Dale is more than sufficient for it to be considered a building of merit, one with an important and 
distinctive contribution to the character of the Stokes Croft Conservation Area. It has recognised 
architectural and historic value (local list status) and constitutes a "Key Element" of the designated 
heritage asset, as per Secretary of State guidance: 
 
Following the above guidance, the loss of a building of merit (such as Croft Dale) from the 
Conservation Area poses substantial harm, and the requirements of Paragraph 201 of the NPPF 
requiring greater demonstration and justification should be met. In the absence of this criteria being 
met the Local Authority should refuse planning consent. Issues surrounding whether the required 
clear and convincing justification has been given for the harm is set out below.  
 
Rooftop Extensions to Nos. 98, 100 and 102 Stokes Croft 
 
Originally permission was sought for the introduction of mansard style roofs to Nos. 98, 100 and 
102 Stokes Croft. These are all identified as Unlisted Buildings of Merit within the conservation area 
character appraisal, meaning they "make a positive contribution to the character of the 
Conservation Area, whether due to their townscape value, architectural qualities or local 
associations. Where unlisted properties are considered to be of value to the character and 
appearance of the Conservation Area, there will be an assumption against their demolition or 
unsympathetic alteration." 
 
Concerns were raised by both Historic England and the Council's Conservation Officer in relation to 
the introduction of steep mansard style roofs to these properties as these were deemed non-
traditional in the context of the historic terrace and wider conservation area. As such the scheme 
was amended so that Nos.98, 100 and 102 Stokes Croft will be extended with a flat roof behind a 
parapet on the principal elevation, increasing the height of the buildings straight up from two storeys 
to three.  
 
Following re-consultation, Historic England and the Council's Conservation Officer commented that 
they still object to the rooftop extensions proposed. The additional storeys will replicate the poorly 
proportioned and positioned fenestration found at the lower floors, including poor quality design and 
materials such as uPVC, casements and single-pane sashes (as referenced on the proposed 
elevations - "windows to match existing"). The Council's Conservation Officer further commented 
that the extension would result in the loss of traditional parapet roof edges and architectural details 
impacting the architectural and historic character of the area protected by Conservation Area. The 
Council's Conservation Officer and Historic England also noted that there would be a degree of 
harm to the immediate setting of the Grade II* Carriage Works, as a result of the design approach 
to the additional stories over these properties 
 
Scale  
 
The overall scale of development is broadly considered acceptable, although the density and plot 
coverage has resulted in a number of amenity issues arising as set out further below under Key 
Issues E and F. In terms of height however, this will be broadly in keeping with the backland 
redevelopment of the Carriage Works at the adjoining site, meaning the proposed height will not be 
out of keeping with the immediate context. The buildings will also be of a slightly lesser height than 

Page 55



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

the main frontage buildings along Stokes Croft which will offer a degree of subservience.  
 
Concerns were raised during the course of the application however by the Council's Urban Design 
Team regarding the scale of Block C. Hepburn Road is a very narrow street and the proposal 
initially sought to present a full height building at three storeys along the street front which would 
have been overbearing and dominant within the context. As such it was requested that the upper 
floors of Block C be stepped back from the plot boundary along Hepburn Road. Whilst revised 
plans were provided incorporating this change the building line remains stepped forward on the last 
bay thus negating the benefits presented by the change on the street scene. The Council's Urban 
Design Team subsequently raised concern to this element of the proposal.  
 
Layout 
 
Following consultation the Council's Urban Design and Conservation Teams raised concern that the 
proposed new massing and layout of the new residential blocks bear little relation to the historic 
grain of the area, and proposes grouped blocks arranged across the site to maximise numbers 
rather than to enhance the local character and distinctiveness.  It is considered that the retention of 
Croft Dale and surrounding boundary division could allow for a much more appropriate layout for 
the context which would respond to the historic grain of development at the site. 
 
The Council's Urban Design Team also raised concern that there is inadequate separation distance 
between the some of the residential blocks and surrounding development, and that there will be 
inadequate daylight/sunlight to some habitable rooms. This is covered further under Key Issues E 
and F.  
 
Detailed Design and Materials  
 
Following consultation, the Council's Urban Design and Conservation Teams raised concern in 
relation to certain elements of the detailed design and materials proposed. It is recognised that, 
following initial concerns, the materials were amended so that the new blocks will be constructed 
predominantly of brick with some lower storeys in stone which is considered a more suitable 
material palette for the conservation area. The simplification of the roof form of Block-B is also 
acknowledged as a positive change. However, concerns remain regarding the design and treatment 
of the buildings which appears generic and lacking interest. The large expanses to the facades 
(particular to Block A) could be better subdivided and expressed, with a wide range of traditional 
architectural details exhibited locally that could better articulate a positive contextual design 
approach and provide subdivision and relief.  
 
The Council's Urban Living SPD states that proposals should look towards 'celebrating entrances 
within the design to improve legibility and add interest at street level.' It is considered that the 
proposal fails to achieve this, with entrances located in corners, poorly articulated and/or visually 
lost within the facades which express a lack of detail, interest and relief as noted above.  
 
As noted above, concerns are raised in relation to the new windows/fenestration proposed to the 
extension to the buildings fronting Stokes Croft (Nos. 98, 100 and 102) which is poorly 
proportioned, positioned, designed and of a poor quality material. It is recognised that the new 
windows will match the existing (as referenced on the proposed elevations), which are of a similar 
poor quality, however this is not considered sufficient to allow similarly harmful fenestration. Given 
the historic context, within a conservation area at risk, any development should seek to address 
existing harm and enhance the historic setting through the replacement of existing poor quality 
features and introduction of new high quality design elements appropriate for the historic setting.  
 
The Council's Urban Living SPD states that major developments should create connections that are 
attractive, well lit, well overlooked and safe. A significant amount of refuse and recycling storage is 

Page 56



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

proposed at ground floor level beneath No.92 Stokes Croft, directly facing a pedestrian route 
through to the site from Stokes Croft behind a controlled access gate. The Council's Urban Design 
Team have raised concern regarding the quality of this pedestrian route, which will be heavily used 
by future occupants. The route is essentially a narrow and enclosed passageway lined with a bin 
enclosure with no active frontages. This will fail to deliver a safe, appealing, well-overlooked, well-lit 
and attractive environment for future occupants in conflict with Policy BCS21 and the Council's 
Urban Living SPD. Given the poor quality and unappealing nature of the route future occupants 
may also chose to avoid it, meaning the proposal will fail to promote accessibility and permeability 
by creating a place that is easy to move through which would also be in conflict with Policy BCS21.  
 
Public Art  
 
Core Strategy Policy BCS21 states that development in Bristol will be expected to enable the 
delivery of permanent and temporary public art. A scheme of this scale presents many positive 
opportunities to embed creativity and culture very early on. The Council would expect to see a 
commitment of significant scale to a layered art programme that is meaningful and relevant for 
people and place, that directly responds to the site and the opportunities (geographical and 
thematic) it presents. The Council's Public Art Officer has raised concern that no Public Art Plan 
has been submitted to support the application. It is however considered that this detail could be 
secure via condition, if an approval was forthcoming.  
 
Urban Living  
 
The Council's Urban Living SPD (2018) includes questions regarding development quality that are 
designed for applicants, local authority planners and other stakeholders to use throughout the 
design development of a scheme. Accordingly, the SPD represents guidance as to how to assess 
developments against Development Plan policies. Officers will therefore consider the guidance (and 
questions) included within the UL SPD within this section as an aid to assess the quality of the 
development regarding relevant design policies. 
 
UL SPD Assessment - Part 1: Guidance for all major developments 
 
City - question 1.1 asks if the scheme adopts an approach to urban intensification which is broadly 
consistent with its setting? 
 
The SPD states that an optimal density in new development is considered to be one that balances 
the efficient and effective use of land, with aspirations for a positive response to context, successful 
placemaking and liveability. For the purposes of the SPD, densities are expressed as net dwellings 
per hectare. In terms of density, the total measurement of the site is 0.24 square hectares. The 
proposal is for 68 new residential units (9no. residential units and 59no. student bedrooms). This 
will result in a density of approximately 283 dwellings per hectare. This is considerably above the 
optimal density identified for the city centre within the SPD (200 units per hectare) however it is 
recognised that the application scheme includes a significant amount of student accommodation 
which is a high-density form of development where residents can live successfully at a high density. 
As a whole officers are satisfied that the site provides an opportunity for increasing densities and a 
scheme such as this can in principle deliver a relatively significant form of urban intensification. 
However, for the reasons highlighted above, it is considered that the current proposal has failed to 
take a design-led approach to establishing site capacity and fails to make a positive response to 
context and setting (particularly historic context). The proposal would also, for the reasons set out in 
this report, fail to achieve successful placemaking and liveability and would overall fail to safeguard 
the special interest and character of the area. The proposal subsequently fails to meet this section 
of the Council's Urban Living SPD.  
 
 

Page 57



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Neighbourhood - question 1.2 asks does the scheme contribute towards creating a vibrant and 
equitable neighbourhood? 
 
As Key Issue B explains, the proposed development would contribute positively towards the mix of 
housing options in the area, with at least 50% of the dwellings (Use Class C3) being family sized 
which are needed in the local area. The development will also include two new workshops which 
will ensure employment provision is retained in some capacity at the site. The Pollution Control 
Team also advises the proposal should not prejudice the ongoing viability of surrounding existing 
commercial/late night uses. The Council's Housing Enabling Team did raise concern regarding the 
lack of affordable housing. As set out under Key Issue A, a wholly C3 residential scheme could 
provide much needed affordable homes in this highly sustainable location, in which there is a 
relatively small amount of affordable housing available. Despite this, as a whole it is considered that 
the development will contribute towards a vibrant and equitable neighbourhood and the proposal as 
such meets this section of the Council's Urban Living SPD. 
 
Neighbourhood - question 1.3 asks does the scheme respond positively to either the existing 
context, or in areas undergoing significant change, an emerging context?  
 
Figure 3 of the UL SPD suggest the site is within an area identified as having a dominant 
townscape character and high intensity usage, where there is modest potential for infill on small 
sites through amongst other forms development, new build and infill development. The 
development is broadly in line with these expectations in that it represents a new build development 
with a high intensity use. As noted above, the overall height and scale is also considered to be 
broadly in keeping with the backland redevelopment of the Carriage Works at the adjoining site, 
meaning the proposed height will not be out of keeping with the immediate emerging context. As a 
whole however it is considered that the scheme fails to respond positively to the existing context. 
This part of the SPD states that it is recommended that applicants assess the potential of any 
designated and non-designated heritage assets for conversion. Retained buildings or structures 
can become instant focal points within a development. The total demolition of a locally listed 
building, identified of character, within the conservation area would fail to achieve this, and would 
fail to respect the historic townscape character. The proposal subsequently fails to meet this section 
of the Council's Urban Living SPD. 
 
Block and Street - question 1.4 asks does the scheme provide people-friendly streets and spaces?   
 
As set out above, a significant amount of refuse and recycling storage is proposed at ground floor 
level beneath No.92 Stokes Croft, directly facing a heavily used pedestrian route through to the site 
from Stokes Croft. This part of the SPD specifically states that major developments should create 
connections that are attractive, well lit, well overlooked and safe. It is considered that the 
development would fail to provide an appealing, attractive, well-lit, well-overlooked and people-
friendly environment for future occupants in this respect. The development will also fail to take the 
opportunity to improve the public realm and pedestrian environment for people using Stokes Croft 
through the reinstatement of commercial units with active frontages to properties along Stokes Croft 
at ground floor level. The proposal subsequently fails to meet this section of the Council's Urban 
Living SPD. 
 
Block and Street - question 1.5 asks does the scheme deliver a comfortable micro-climate for its 
occupants, neighbours and passers-by?  
 
As set out under Key Issue E, following development a number of new residential units and 
neighbouring units fail to meet BRE criteria, and whilst a flexible assessment approach has been 
taken a number of residential units within the development (both apartments and student bed 
spaces) are considered to fail to provide sufficient living environment due to poor outlook, lack of 
privacy and limited natural light. The impact of the development on the amenity of a number of 

Page 58



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

surrounding residential properties is also considered detrimental for the reasons set out in Key 
Issue F. As such it is not considered that the development will deliver a comfortable micro-climate 
for future occupants or neighbours. The proposal subsequently fails to meet this section of the 
Council's Urban Living SPD. 
 
Block and Street - question 1.6 asks has access, car parking and servicing been efficiently and 
creatively integrated into the scheme?  
 
The development is predominantly car-free meaning the question is not relevant in parts. As set out 
under Key Issue D, following the submission of additional information and subject to conditions the 
Council's Transport Development Management Team confirmed that the proposed access, car 
parking and servicing arrangement has been adequately integrated into the scheme so that no 
harm will be caused. The proposal as such meets this section of the Council's Urban Living SPD. 
 
UL SPD Assessment - Part 2: Guidance for major residential developments  
 
Shared access and internal spaces - question 2.1 asks does the scheme make building entrances 
welcoming, attractive and easy to use?  
 
As set out above, the SPD states that proposals should look towards 'celebrating entrances within 
the design to improve legibility and add interest at street level.' It is considered that the proposal 
fails to achieve this, with entrances located in corners and/or visually lost within the facades which 
express a lack of detail, interest and relief. The proposal subsequently fails to meet this section of 
the Council's Urban Living SPD. 
 
Shared access and internal spaces - question 2.2 asks are the scheme's internal spaces convivial, 
comfortable and user friendly.  
 
As a whole it is considered that the internal spaces are acceptable for future occupants. The 
proposal subsequently meets this section of the Council's Urban Living SPD. 
 
Outdoor space - question 2.3 asks does the scheme provide sufficient outdoor space, and question 
2.4 asks does the scheme create attractive, well designated and maintained outdoor space?  
 
The SPD advises that a minimum of 5sqm of private outdoor space should be provided for a 1-2 
person dwelling and an extra 1sqm should be provided for each additional occupant. This can be 
provided as private balconies or gardens, or as communal gardens and roof terraces. All of the 
residential properties (Use Class C3) will include private balconies or terraces which will meet these 
requirements and the proposal will also introduce a communal landscaped garden area. The 
Council's Urban Design Team however raised concern regarding the quality of the communal 
garden space, which is fragmented and primarily serves as an access and movement corridor. 
Concerns were also raised that the garden space will be restricted due to the extent of enclosure 
and overshadowing.  
 
Outdoor space - question 2.5 asks does the scheme creatively integrate children's play?  
 
The proposed development doesn't include any dedicated children's play space. However only 9.no 
residential flats are proposed under the application. It is not expected that the student bed spaces 
will be occupied by children. Whilst the 2, 3 and 4 bedroom apartments (8 in total) may 
accommodate children the site is located in a city centre location, within 350 metres of children's 
play equipment at Carr House and 400 metres from children's play equipment at St Paul's Park. As 
such it is not considered reasonable to expect the development to provide dedicated children's play 
space within the scheme. The proposal subsequently meets this section of the Council's Urban 
Living SPD. 

Page 59



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
Individual homes - question 2.6 asks are internal layouts ergonomic and adaptable?   
 
As set out under Key Issue E, all residential units will meet national described space standards and 
the overall layouts will be flexible and adaptable for future users. No information has been provided 
with regards to wheelchair accessible dwellings, with the applicant noting that the development falls 
below the threshold requirement under Policy DM4 which states that two per cent of new housing 
within residential developments of 50 dwellings or more should be designed to be wheelchair 
accessible, or easily adaptable for residents who are wheelchair users. It is however stated that 
some of the flats have been designed so they can be adapted to become wheelchair accessible. 
The proposal subsequently meets this section of the Council's Urban Living SPD. 
 
Individual homes - question 2.7 asks does the scheme safeguard privacy and minimise noise 
transfer between homes?  
 
As set out under Key Issue F, the Council's Pollution Control Officer confirmed that (subject to the 
imposition of conditions) it is unlikely that the development would cause any harm with regards to 
noise transfer between homes. As set out under Key Issues E and F a number of residential units 
within the development (both apartments and student bed spaces) are considered to fail to provide 
an adequate level of privacy due to overlooking between residential units and neighbouring 
properties. The proposal subsequently fails to meet this section of the Council's Urban Living SPD. 
 
Individual homes - question 2.8 asks does the scheme maximise opportunities for natural 
illumination of internal spaces, avoiding single aspect homes?   
 
As set out under Key Issue E, all residential units (Use Class C3) will be dual aspect however a 
number units fail to meet BRE criteria in terms of daylight/sunlight and a number of units are 
considered to fail to provide a sufficient living environment for future occupants due to poor outlook 
and limited natural light. The proposal subsequently fails to meet this section of the Council's Urban 
Living SPD. 
 
Has clear and convincing justification been given for the harm?  
 
Following the above a number of concerns are raised with regards to the design of the proposal 
and impact on heritage assets.   
 
Both the NPPF (2021) and the Secretary of State require there to be clear and convincing 
justification for any harm to a designated heritage asset, proportionate with its significance. 
Paragraph 201 of the NPPF states that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm 
to a designated heritage asset local planning authorities should refuse consent unless it can be 
demonstrated that the substantial harm is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh the harm. Parts a), b), c) and d) of Paragraph 201 are not all met and therefore 
substantial public benefits are required in accordance with the first part of the paragraph as set out 
above.  
 
Six different options for development of the site without the loss of Croft Dale are presented on 
page 10 of the originally submitted Design and Access Statement. Without considering the 
individual merits of each option this demonstrates that a degree of development is not dependant 
on the complete loss of a building of merit. Furthermore there is no explanation why alternatives to 
demolition have been rejected; indeed the necessity for demolition of the building of merit is not 
adequately explained anywhere in the application nor is there any evidence presented that the 
proposals represent the optimum viable use of the site. Demolition, therefore, cannot be held as a 
proportionate approach to development. 
 

Page 60



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Croft Dale is located in the corner of the application site and as such does not represent an 
immediate or obvious barrier to redevelopment (compared with it being sited more centrally). It is 
considered entirely possible that the site could be developed, and the density considerably 
increased, whilst also retaining Croft Dale given it's siting within the corner of the plot. No evidence 
has been provided to confirm/show that the redevelopment of the site is entirely dependent on the 
total demolition of Croft Dale. As such it cannot be said that the nature of the heritage asset 
prevents all reasonable uses of the site; meaning the proposal fails to satisfy the four-part 
assessment set out under Paragraph 201 of the NPPF. Therefore, the scheme must deliver 
substantial public benefits that outweigh the harm.  
 
It's not been demonstrated that the package of public benefits would be "substantial", they are more 
general in nature. There is some recognised public benefit that would result from new family homes 
and student accommodation, to the construction industry for the duration of the work on site, for the 
economy and local businesses from new residents, and the environmental improvement of a 
negative site in the Conservation Area. However, all these benefits could be delivered in a 
proportionate way whilst preserving and enhancing the special character of the conservation area 
and retaining the locally listed building. That harm to that character isn't justified by any clear or 
convincing evidence provided in this application. 
 
The applicant was requested during the course of the application to look at delivering further public 
benefits through the development proposals. As noted under Key Issue A it was requested during 
the course of the application that the applicant reinstate commercial units with active frontages to 
properties fronting Stokes Croft at ground floor level as it would reverse some of the harm caused 
to the character and appearance of the conservation area and deliver the greatest heritage benefit 
to the character and appearance of the Conservation Area, which remains 'at risk' as noted by 
Historic England. The applicant however chose not to do this, despite request. In addition, replacing 
existing poor quality design features such as windows facing Stokes Croft with more traditional 
windows would also represent a substantial benefit however the applicant has again chosen no to 
do this.  
 
Conclusion  
 
In conclusion, the proposed development poses "substantial harm" to the special characteristics of 
the Stokes Croft Conservation Area as a nationally protected heritage asset, through the demolition 
of a Locally Listed building identified specifically of being "of merit" to the area. The introduction of 
poor-quality extensions and detailed design elements to existing character buildings will further 
cause harm to the character and appearance of the conservation area and setting of nearby 
heritage assets. The development would also by virtue of its scale, design, form, materials, detailing 
and layout fail to deliver high quality urban design which would contribute positively to the area's 
character and identity. Whilst some of the unacceptable design elements highlighted above may in 
themselves be accepted on balance if they were the sole issue in an otherwise acceptable proposal 
in this instance they cumulatively contribute towards and create a poor quality and unacceptable 
scheme which will cause substantial harm to the character and appearance of the Stokes Croft 
Conservation Area.  
 
The Local Planning Authority is required by the NPPF to place "great weight" in the conservation of 
the Stokes Croft Conservation Area and required to refuse applications that pose substantial harm 
without justification. For the reasons set out above the proposed development lacks the required 
"clear and convincing justification" for why the harm posed might be considered unavoidable as part 
of redevelopment, or the minimum in securing a viable future use for the site.   
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (revised in 2021) further contains relatively new, very 
clear and unambiguous wording on design. It states that 'development that is not well designed 
should be refused' (Paragraph 134). The new wording is in contrast to that in the 2012 version of 

Page 61



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

the NPPF which simply required that 'permission should be refused for development of poor 
design'. This means that the test is now the achievement of 'good design' and not just the 
avoidance of 'bad design'.  
 
For the reasons set out above and within the policy context highlighted the application is considered 
unacceptable and is recommended for refusal.  
 
(D) HIGHWAY SAFETY, TRANSPORT AND MOVEMENT ISSUES 
 
Paragraph 104 of the NPPF (2021) states that transport issues should be considered from the 
earliest stages of plan-making and development proposals. Paragraph 105 adds that significant 
development should be focused on locations which are or can be made sustainable, through 
limiting the need to travel and offering a genuine choice of transport modes. This can help to reduce 
congestion and emissions, and improve air quality and public health. Paragraph 106 further states 
that planning policies should support an appropriate mix of uses across an area, and within larger 
scale sites, to minimise the number and length of journeys needed for employment, shopping, 
leisure, education and other activities. This section of the NPPF also states that planning policies 
should provide for high quality walking and cycling networks and supporting facilities such as cycle 
parking. 
 
Bristol City Council Core Strategy (2011) Policy BCS10 advocates that new development should be 
designed and located to ensure the provision of safe streets and requires proposals to minimise the 
need to travel, especially by private car and to reduce the negative impacts of vehicles such as 
excessive volumes, fumes and noise. This policy also requires proposals to create places and 
streets where traffic and other activities are integrated. Policy BCS13 in the same document states 
that development should mitigate climate change through measures including patterns of 
development which encourage walking, cycling and the use of public transport instead of journeys 
by private car. 
 
Policy DM23 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) in addition 
states that development should not give rise to unacceptable traffic conditions. Examples of 
unacceptable traffic conditions referred to in the policy include the introduction of traffic of excessive 
volume, size or weight on to unsuitable highways/or in to residential or other environmentally 
sensitive areas. This could result in high levels of transport noise and disturbance, a decrease in air 
quality and unsafe conditions both on the highway and for pedestrians. This policy further states 
that development proposals will be expected to provide an appropriate level of safe, secure, 
accessible and usable parking provision (including cycle parking) and that proposals for parking 
should make effective and efficient use of land and be integral to the design of the development. 
The approach to the provision of parking aims to promote sustainable transport methods, such as 
walking, cycling and public transport, as encouraged by Core Strategy Policy BCS10. 
 
Policy BCS15 in the Bristol Core Strategy states that all new development will be required to 
provide satisfactory arrangements for the storage of refuse and recyclable materials as an integral 
part of its design. Policy DM32 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
states all new developments will be expected to provided recycling facilities and refuse bins of 
sufficient capacity to serve the proposed development. This policy further states that the location 
and design of recycling and refuse provision should be integral to the design of the proposed 
development. In assessing recycling and refuse provision, regard will be had to the level and type 
of provision, having regard to the above requirements and relevant space standards; and the 
location of the provision, having regard to the need to provide and maintain safe and convenient 
access for occupants, while also providing satisfactory access for collection vehicles and 
operatives. Policy DM23 also states that the provision in new development of safe, secure, well-
located cycle parking can be very important in encouraging people to cycle regularly. It is important 
that development proposals incorporate these facilities and parking at the outset of the design 

Page 62



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

process. Applicants should refer to the council's 'Guide to Cycle Parking Provision' for guidance on 
this matter. 
 
Policy DM2 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies states that the sub-
division of dwellings into houses in multiple occupation will not be permitted where the development 
would harm the residential amenity or character of the locality as a result of levels of on-street 
parking that cannot be reasonably accommodated or regulated through parking control measures; 
as well as inadequate storage for recycling/refuse and cycles. 
 
Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) Policy BCAP4 in relation to specialist student housing states that 
when making assessments on residential amenity, consideration should be given to the particular 
qualities and characteristics of a residential area or residential uses that might contribute to it being 
an enjoyable or otherwise satisfactory place to live. These usually include generally quieter 
surroundings; a reasonable level of safe accessible and convenient car parking and a well 
maintained or visually attractive environment. Policy BCAP29 states that a significantly lower level 
of car parking provision will be expected and that development in Bristol City Centre will be 
expected to meet or exceed the minimum standards for secure cycle parking and disabled car 
parking set out in the Parking Standards Schedule at Appendix 2 to the Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies. Cycle parking provision and associated facilities should be 
designed to a high quality which meets the requirements of all cyclists using new development 
including residents, staff and visitors. 
 
The application has been considered by the Council's Transport Development Management Team 
(TDM). 
 
Trip Generation  
 
Whilst it is of TDM's opinion the level of car trips generated by the development will be lower than 
that predicted within the transport statement given the limited parking availability within the area for 
both residents and users of the businesses no concerns are raised. It is likely these trips will be 
made by sustainable modes such as walking, cycling and public transport given the sites 
sustainable location within the City Centre.  
 
Access /Servicing /Deliveries 
 
All servicing of the commercial units along Stokes Croft and Hepburn Road, as well as any 
servicing required for the residential units, will be to the rear via Hepburn Road. This is considered 
acceptable in principle by TDM. Initial concerns were however raised regarding the provision of a 
loading bay along Hepburn Road and how pedestrians and large servicing vehicles would interact. 
As such revised plans were provided which demonstrate that servicing can be undertaken safely 
through an amended design to the bay and site layout. Servicing vehicles will be able to pull off of 
the carriageway and will sit to the rear of the adopted highway fully within the site. This is 
considered acceptable.  
 
It was requested that a non-stepped servicing route linking the rear of the units fronting Stokes 
Croft to Hepburn Road was provided as this would further encourage and prevent the negative 
impacts of servicing along Stokes Croft due to a viable alternative. The applicant has however 
confirmed that this is not possible due to the level changes across the site. On balance TDM 
confirmed that the lack of a non-stepped servicing route is acceptable on balance given the 
recognised change in levels. 
 
Following request, tracking for the largest Council refuse vehicle accessing the site has been made 
and provided, which TDM considers acceptable as it shows the refuse vehicle will be able to pull off 
of the highway to the rear of the footway and therefore will not obstruct pedestrian movement.  

Page 63



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
Were an approval forthcoming a Delivery & Servicing Plan would be secured via condition covering 
issues such as the contact details of a suitably qualified co-ordinator; how vehicle arrivals, 
departures, parking, stopping and waiting will be controlled to minimise any impact on the adopted 
highway; and details of any freight consolidation operation, centre and the delivery and servicing 
booking and management systems. This will be in the interests of highway safety and to minimise 
the impact of vehicles servicing the development upon congestion. 
 
Highway Works, Highway Adoption and Road Safety 
 
Following initial concerns raised by TDM the applicant has undertaken a road safety audit (RSA) 
which seeks to address concerns regarding highway safety. As set out in the RSA, two issues were 
raised by TDM. One relating to the omission of a doorway onto Hepburn Road. The applicant has 
agreed to omit this. Further detail of all doors would be secured via condition if an approval was 
forthcoming to ensure they don't obstruct pedestrian movement. 
 
Secondly the RSA has raised an issue regarding conflict between pedestrians/cyclists and motor 
vehicles. It is considered possible that this route could be pedestrianised, however the RSA has 
been submitted with insufficient time to investigate the pedestrianisation of Hepburn Road and 
offers no detailed justification of why this would not be possible or necessary. As such, were an 
approval forthcoming, a condition would be attached to any permission requiring further detail of 
highway works (such as the resurfacing of Hepburn Road, upgrade of street lighting) which should 
also include consideration/exploration of the pedestrianisation of Hepburn Road. It should be noted 
that any such scheme would be subject to further consultation and consideration under highways 
legislation process.  
 
It is noted that were an approval forthcoming the Council would seek to adopt additional land along 
Hepburn Road which provides footway and carriageway. 
 
Car Parking  
 
In respect to car parking two parking spaces are proposed within the site, which will be used by 
students pre and post term only, enabling drop-off and pick-up of students at the start and end of 
term. Throughout the academic year the spaces will be for the use of the management company 
and maintenance vehicles only. This is acceptable, however a Traffic Management Plan would be 
secured via condition if an approval was forthcoming setting out the agreed arrangements for 
managing student drop off/collection procedures and location, at the start/end of 
semester/academic year to ensure the safe operation of the public highway at the start/end of each 
semester/academic year. 
 
Cycle Parking 
 
In regard to student cycle parking the lower ground floor will accommodate 28 Sheffield Stands, 
providing 56 cycle parking spaces. These spaces are internal to the curtilage of the building, and it 
is anticipated that an access keycard/fob or keypad will be required to access the area. Therefore, 
the cycle parking will be covered and secure. This is acceptable. 
 
Residential and visitor cycle parking is to provided on the ground floor and will accommodate 13 
Sheffield Stands, providing a further 26 cycle parking spaces. The stands will be split across two 
areas, with seven stands (14 spaces) provided inside of the building and six stands (12 spaces) 
within the courtyard area, which will be covered. This is also acceptable.  
 
It is acknowledged that the spatial standards for the workshop element of the redevelopment falls 
below the threshold for the provision of cycle parking. However, cycle parking for the workshop is 

Page 64



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

provided as part of the wider provision within the site to maximise effective use of the site. The total 
number of cycle parking spaces within the development is above the required standards, which is 
acceptable.  
 
Refuse/Recycling Storage  
 
Adequate provision is made for the storage of waste and recycling within the site. Members of the 
management company will be responsible for transporting the refuse bins from the bin storage 
areas to the car parking, from which it is proposed that the refuse will be collected. TDM raised no 
objections to this arrangement in principle, however a detailed Waste Management Plan would be 
secured via condition if an approval was forthcoming to ensure appropriate waste management 
facilities are provided to accommodate all waste generated by the development. 
 
Travel Planning 
 
TDM raised no concerns regarding the submitted travel plan statement and as the development 
falls below the threshold for a full travel plan for a student use no s.106 contribution is required. 
 
Construction Management 
 
Were an approval forthcoming a Construction Management Plan would be secured via condition to 
ensure no harm is caused to surrounding properties and the area during the construction period.  
 
(E) DOES THE PROPOSAL PROVIDE A SATISFACTORY LEVEL OF RESIDENTIAL 
ACCOMMODATION? 
 
Paragraph 130 of the NPPF (2021) states that planning decision should ensure developments 
create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, with 
a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. Paragraph 185 states that planning 
policies and decisions should also ensure that new development is appropriate for its location 
taking into account the likely effects (including cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living 
conditions and the natural environment, as well as the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider 
area to impacts that could arise from the development. 
 
Bristol Core Strategy Policy BCS18 (2011) makes specific reference to residential developments 
providing sufficient space for everyday activities and space which should be flexible and adaptable, 
by meeting appropriate space standards. The Core Strategy states that building to suitable space 
standards will ensure new homes provide sufficient space for everyday activities. Under the 2015 
Housing Standards Review a new nationally described space standard was introduced and in 
March 2015 a written ministerial statement to parliament confirmed that from 1 October 2015 
existing Local Plan policies relating to internal space should be interpreted by reference to the 
nearest equivalent new national technical standard. It should be noted that national space 
standards were conceived for normal housing and not for student cluster/studio flats which have 
different patterns of accommodation (critically that they are usually occupied on a short term basis).  
 
Policy DM2 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) in relation to the 
intensification of existing houses in multiple occupation and specialist student housing states that 
where development is permitted it must provide a good standard of accommodation by meeting 
relevant requirements and standards set out in other development plan policies. 
 
In addition, Core Strategy Policy BCS21 sets out criteria for the assessment of design quality in 
new development and states that development will be expected to create a high-quality 
environment for future occupiers. HMOs at this site may require a Mandatory License under the 
Housing Act 2004. The Local Authority also has adopted amenity standards which apply to HMO's 

Page 65



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

under this separate legislative framework. Whilst it is recognised that this is non-planning legislation 
and therefore not a material consideration in planning decision making, these standards also 
provide an indication of the standard of accommodation expected within shared occupancy housing 
locally. 
 
Policy DM29 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) states that new 
development should be dual aspect where possible, particularly where one of the aspects is north-
facing. This policy, as well as DM27, further states that new buildings will be expected to ensure 
that existing and proposed development achieves appropriate levels of privacy, outlook and 
daylight. 
 
The Council's Urban Living Supplementary Planning Document (2018) adds further guidance to the 
policies contained within the Bristol Local Plan (listed above). This document recommends that 
major residential development provides a minimum of 5sqm of private outdoor space for a 1-2 
person dwelling. This can be provided as private balconies or gardens, or as communal gardens 
and roof terraces. The SPD also states that all new homes should meet or exceed national space 
standards and that opportunities should be taken to provide dual aspect units, which improve 
access to natural light, choice of views and cross ventilation through units providing greater 
capacity to address overheating. The SPD also highlights the need to ensure appropriate levels of 
privacy and states that applications should demonstrate how habitable rooms and bedrooms within 
each home are provided with an adequate level of privacy in relation to neighbouring property, the 
street and other public spaces. 
 
Residential Accommodation (Use Class C3)  
 
The development proposes the introduction of: 
 

- 1.no single bedroom, two person apartment;  
- 3.no two bedroom, three person apartments;  
- 2.no three bedroom, four person apartments  
- 2.no three bedroom, five person apartment 
- 1.no four bedroom, six person apartment  

 
In accordance with Core Strategy Policy BCS18 and national space standards all new single 
bedroom, two bed space residential units set over a single storey should contain 50 square metres 
internal floor space as a minimum in order to meet space standards. All new two bedroom, three 
bed space residential units set over a single storey should contain 61 square metres internal floor 
space as a minimum in order to meet space standards. All new three bedroom, four bed space 
residential units set over a single storey should contain 74 square metres internal floor space as a 
minimum in order to meet space standards. All new three bedroom, five bed space residential units 
set over a single storey should contain 86 square metres internal floor space as a minimum in order 
to meet space standards. All new four bedroom, five bed space residential units set over a single 
storey should contain 90 square metres internal floor space as a minimum in order to meet space 
standards. All new four bedroom, six bed space residential units set over a single storey should 
contain 99 square metres internal floor space as a minimum in order to meet space standards. In 
order to provide one bedspace, a single bedroom must have a floor area of at least 7.5m2 and be 
at least 2.15m wide. In order to provide two bedspaces, a double (or twin bedroom) must have a 
floor area of at least 11.5m2. 
 
Looking at each residential unit:  
 
Lower Ground Floor two bedroom, three person apartment - this unit will measure 61 square 
metres and as such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect, with a sufficient amount 
of windows located in adequate positions to both north and south facing elevations to achieve 

Page 66



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

acceptable levels of light, outlook and cross ventilation. The unit will also include some private 
external amenity space measuring approximately 7 square metres. Following Case Officer advice 
the separation distance between this property and the student accommodation in Block A has been 
increased to 14 metres (increase from the 11 metres separation initially proposed). It is considered 
that this separation distance is now sufficient to ensure that no harmful overlooking will arise 
between this unit and Block A. It's recognised that the habitable rooms of this unit fail to meet BRE 
criteria with regards to Average Daylight Factor and Visual Sky Component. This is not ideal, 
however the unit will meet all other BRE criterial. On balance this is considered acceptable given 
the densely built city centre location. The living environment for future occupants within this unit as 
a whole is therefore considered acceptable on balance.  
 
Lower Ground Floor three bedroom, five person apartment - this unit will measure 86 square 
metres and as such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect, with a sufficient amount 
of windows located in adequate positions to both north, east and south facing elevations to achieve 
acceptable levels of light, outlook and cross ventilation. The unit will also include some private 
external amenity space measuring approximately 10 square metres. Following Case Officer advice 
the separation distance between this property and the student accommodation in Block A has been 
increased to 14 metres (increase from the 11 metres separation initially proposed). It is considered 
that this separation distance is now sufficient to ensure that no harmful overlooking will arise 
between this unit and Block A. It's recognised that some habitable rooms of this unit fail to meet 
BRE criteria with regards to Average Daylight Factor and Visual Sky Component. This is not ideal, 
however the unit will meet all other BRE criterial. On balance this is considered acceptable given 
the densely built city centre location. The living environment for future occupants within this unit as 
a whole is therefore considered acceptable on balance. 
 
Ground Floor single bedroom, two bed space apartment - this unit will measure 51 square metres 
and as such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect, with windows located to both 
east and west facing elevations. The windows to the main living space will however directly face the 
rear of No. 90 Stokes Croft, with a separation distance of only 7 metres. 90 Stokes Croft contains a 
retail unit and barber shop on the ground floor at the front of the site however a 7 bed student 
cluster flat is situated elsewhere on the ground floor and on the first, second and third floors. This 
student cluster flat includes rear windows at ground and first floor levels which will directly face the 
main habitable room windows of this residential unit, at a distance of only 7 metres. Given the close 
proximity between windows it is considered that the development will fail to achieve adequate levels 
of privacy for future occupants of this unit due to harmful levels of overlooking. The bedroom 
window will also be located in very close proximity to the balcony of the adjoining two bedroom, 
three person unit (separation distance of approximately 2.3 metres) and as such it is considered 
that the bedroom will also fail to achieve adequate levels of privacy for future occupants due to 
harmful levels of overlooking. Whilst No. 90 Stokes Croft will be sited in very close proximity to the 
windows to the main living space following the submission of sectional drawings and taking into 
consideration the 25 degree rule of thumb assessment in relation to outlook the LPA is satisfied that 
the separation distance is sufficient to ensure that the windows will not experience such a harmful 
sense of enclosure to warrant refusal. As confirmed by the submitted Internal Daylight Assessment, 
the main living space to this unit will meet BRE guidelines with regards to Average Daylight Factor, 
No Sky Line and Annual Probable Sunshine Hours (APSH).  
 
Ground Floor three bedroom, four bed space apartment - this unit will measure 75 square metres 
and as such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect with windows located to the 
north, east and west facing elevations, and will include a private external amenity terrace. Most of 
the windows (to the living space and 2.no bedrooms in the west facing elevation) will directly face 
the rear of Nos 92-96 Stokes Croft (which contain a number of habitable rooms with windows which 
directly face this unit) at a distance of approximately 10 metres. Similarly the windows in the north 
facing elevation will face the student accommodation within Block A, which includes a number of 
habitable room windows approximately 10 metres away. The separation distance of 10 metres is 

Page 67



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

not ideal, however on balance for this context is considered sufficient to ensure that no harmful 
overlooking will arise between windows to the detriment of the privacy of future occupants. Whilst it 
is accepted that it is a close relationship it is consistent with the relationship between windows 
found elsewhere in the local area and is a distance commonly found in dense urban locations. 
Following the submission of sectional drawings and taking into consideration the 25 degree rule of 
thumb assessment in relation to outlook the LPA is also satisfied that the separation distance 
between this unit and Nos 92-96 Stokes Croft and Block A is sufficient to ensure that the windows 
will not experience such a harmful sense of enclosure to warrant refusal. As confirmed by the 
submitted Internal Daylight Assessment, the main living space and bedrooms to this unit will meet 
BRE guidelines with regards to Average Daylight Factor, No Sky Line, and Annual Probable 
Sunshine Hours (APSH). The main living space will also meet the Visual Sky Component. On 
balance the living environment for this unit is therefore considered acceptable.  
 
Ground Floor two bedroom, three person apartment - this unit will measure 61 square metres and 
as such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect, with windows located in adequate 
positions to both north and south facing elevations to achieve acceptable levels of light, outlook and 
cross ventilation. The unit will also include some private external amenity space in the form of a 
balcony measuring approximately 7 square metres. Following Case Officer advice the separation 
distance between this property and the student accommodation in Block A has been increased to 
14 metres (increase from the 11 metres separation initially proposed). It is considered that this 
separation distance is now sufficient to ensure that no harmful overlooking will arise between this 
unit and Block A. It's recognised that the main living space fails to meet BRE criteria with regards to 
Average Daylight Factor and Visual Sky Component. This is not ideal, however the unit will meet all 
other BRE criterial. On balance this is considered acceptable given the densely built city centre 
location. The living environment for future occupants within this unit as a whole is therefore 
considered acceptable on balance. 
 
Ground Floor three bedroom, five person apartment - this unit will measure 86 square metres; and 
as such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect, with windows located in adequate 
positions to north, east and south facing elevations to achieve acceptable levels of light, outlook 
and cross ventilation. The unit will also include some private external amenity space in the form of a 
balcony measuring approximately 7 square metres. Following Case Officer advice the separation 
distance between this property and the student accommodation in Block A has been increased to 
14 metres (increase from the 11 metres separation initially proposed). It is considered that this 
separation distance is now sufficient to ensure that no harmful overlooking will arise between this 
unit and Block A. The windows to the main living space to the south and east facing elevations will 
overlook Hepburn Road, however they will be separated from the windows of residential properties 
on the opposite side (1 - 5 Hepburn Road and Dairy Croft) by approximately 13 metres. This 
separation distance is typical of the distances between front facades on adjacent streets around 
Stokes Croft and is of a distance commonly found in urban locations. As such it is considered that 
there would be no harmful overlooking or overbearing impact. Most of the habitable rooms within 
this property meet BRE criteria with regards to Average Daylight Factor, No Sky Line and Visual 
Sky Component, with only the single bedroom failing to meet Visual Sky Component. On balance 
this is considered acceptable given the densely built city centre location. The living environment for 
future occupants within this unit as a whole is therefore considered acceptable on balance. 
 
First Floor four bedroom, six person apartment - this unit will measure 100 square metres; and as 
such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect, with windows located to north, west and 
south facing elevations. Following Case Officer advice the separation distance between this 
property and the student accommodation in Block A has been increased to 14 metres (increase 
from the 11 metres separation initially proposed). It is considered that this separation distance is 
now sufficient to ensure that no harmful overlooking will arise between this unit and Block A. The 
windows to the bedrooms in the west facing elevation will however directly face the rear of No. 90 
Stokes Croft, with a separation distance of only 7 metres. 90 Stokes Croft contains a retail unit and 

Page 68



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

barber shop on the ground floor at the front of the site however a 7 bed student cluster flat is 
situated elsewhere on the ground floor and on the first, second and third floors. This student cluster 
flat includes rear windows at ground and first floor levels which will directly face the habitable 
bedroom windows of this residential unit, at a distance of only 7 metres. Given the close proximity 
between windows it is considered that the development will fail to achieve adequate levels of 
privacy for future occupants of this unit due to harmful levels of overlooking. The south-east facing 
bedroom window will also be located in very close proximity to the balcony of the adjoining two 
bedroom, three person unit (separation distance of approximately 2.3 metres) and as such it is 
considered that the bedroom will also fail to achieve adequate levels of privacy for future occupants 
due to harmful levels of overlooking. Whilst No. 90 Stokes Croft will be sited in very close proximity 
to the bedroom windows following the submission of sectional drawings and taking into 
consideration the 25 degree rule of thumb assessment in relation to outlook the LPA is satisfied that 
the separation distance is sufficient to ensure that the windows will not experience a harmful sense 
of enclosure. As confirmed by the submitted Internal Daylight Assessment, all habitable rooms will 
meet BRE guidelines with regards to Average Daylight Factor, No Sky Line and Annual Probable 
Sunshine Hours (APSH).  
 
First Floor two bedroom, three person apartment - this unit will measure 61 square metres; and as 
such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect, with windows located in adequate 
positions to both north and south facing elevations to achieve acceptable levels of light, outlook and 
cross ventilation. The unit will also include some private external amenity space in the form of a 
balcony measuring approximately 7 square metres. Following Case Officer advice the separation 
distance between this property and the student accommodation in Block A has been increased to 
14 metres (increase from the 11 metres separation initially proposed). It is considered that this 
separation distance is now sufficient to ensure that no harmful overlooking will arise between this 
unit and Block A. As confirmed by the submitted Internal Daylight Assessment, all habitable rooms 
will meet BRE guidelines with regards to Average Daylight Factor, No Sky Line and Annual 
Probable Sunshine Hours (APSH). The living environment for future occupants within this unit as a 
whole is therefore considered acceptable. 
 
First Floor three bedroom, four person apartment - this unit will measure 72 square metres; and as 
such will meet space standards. It will also be dual aspect, with windows located in adequate 
positions to north, east and south facing elevations to achieve acceptable levels of light, outlook 
and cross ventilation. Following Case Officer advice the separation distance between this property 
and the student accommodation in Block A has been increased to 14 metres (increase from the 11 
metres separation initially proposed). It is considered that this separation distance is now sufficient 
to ensure that no harmful overlooking will arise between this unit and Block A. The windows to the 
main living space to the south and east facing elevations will overlook Hepburn Road, however they 
will be separated from the windows of residential properties on the opposite side (1 - 5 Hepburn 
Road and Dairy Croft) by approximately 13 metres. This separation distance is typical of the 
distances between front facades on adjacent streets around Stokes Croft and is of a distance 
commonly found in urban locations. As such it is considered that there would be no harmful 
overlooking or overbearing impact. As confirmed by the submitted Internal Daylight Assessment, all 
habitable rooms will meet BRE guidelines with regards to Average Daylight Factor, No Sky Line 
and Annual Probable Sunshine Hours (APSH). The living environment for future occupants within 
this unit as a whole is therefore considered acceptable. 
 
Student Accommodation 
 
Student Accommodation in Block A - every bedroom within this block will comply with the 6.5 
square metre footprint for a 1 person bedroom in line with the requirements set out in Bristol City 
Councils HMO License Standard, as well as the 7.5 square metre footprint for a 1 person bedroom 
in line with the nationally described space standards (March 2015). The block also includes an 
adequate amount of internal communal living space which will also meet the Council's HMO 

Page 69



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

licencing standards (which states that communal living space can include kitchens, dining rooms). 
The number of bathrooms and toilets will also meet the Council's HMO licencing standards. 
Following Case Officer advice the separation distance between this block and Block B to the south 
has been increased to 14 metres (increase from the 11 metres separation initially proposed). It is 
considered that this separation distance is now sufficient to ensure that no harmful overlooking will 
arise between this block and Block B. It is recognised that this accommodation will be entirely 
single aspect, which is not ideal. The aspect however will be south facing meaning it will receive a 
good amount of sunlight. Further this accommodation will be entirely made up of student bed 
spaces, which represents a different type of accommodation to regular flats (critically they are 
usually occupied on a short-term basis) and as such it is not considered as critical that a dual 
aspect is afforded future occupants. As such the single aspect nature of this accommodation is on 
balance acceptable.  
 
Student Accommodation in Block C - every bedroom within this block will comply with the 6.5 
square metre footprint for a 1 person bedroom in line with the requirements set out in Bristol City 
Councils HMO License Standard, as well as the 7.5 square metre footprint for a 1 person bedroom 
in line with the nationally described space standards (March 2015). The block also includes an 
adequate amount of internal communal living space which will also meet the Council's HMO 
licencing standards (which states that communal living space can include kitchens, dining rooms). 
The number of bathrooms and toilets will also meet the Council's HMO licencing standards. 
Following Case Officer advice the first floor of this block has been pulled back from Hepburn Road, 
which has improved the relationship and outlook for the rooms at first floor level. Concerns however 
remain regarding the separation distance between the habitable room windows within the student 
accommodation at ground and first floor level and the neighbouring building No.84 Stokes Croft. 
The substantial side wall and gable to No.84 Stokes Croft will be located in very close proximity to 
the habitable room windows to the student accommodation in this block (separation distance of 
approximately 4 metres at ground floor level, 5 metres at first floor level). Given the close proximity 
it is considered that No.84 Stokes Croft would have an overbearing impact on the windows, 
resulting in poor outlook and limited natural light, to the detriment of the residential amenity of future 
occupants. It is apparent that some bedrooms in this block fail to meet all BRE criteria (with 
Average Daylight Factor, Visible Sky Component and Annual Probable Sunshine Hours all failing to 
be met). It is the view of the LPA that north facing windows (viewing the communal external space) 
would be more appropriate, as opposed to a significant number of windows directly facing Hepburn 
Road to the south. It appears that the internal layout could reasonably be amended to address this, 
with the corridor and circulation space (which doesn't require windows, being non-habitable) being 
moved to the southern end of the block and habitable rooms moved to the north.  
 
Student Accommodation in Nos. 100/102 Stokes Croft - every bedroom within this property will 
comply with the 6.5 square metre footprint for a 1 person bedroom in line with the requirements set 
out in Bristol City Councils HMO License Standard, as well as the 7.5 square metre footprint for a 1 
person bedroom in line with the nationally described space standards (March 2015). The 
accommodation also includes an adequate amount of internal communal living space which will 
also meet the Council's HMO licencing standards (which states that communal living space can 
include kitchens, dining rooms). The number of bathrooms and toilets will also meet the Council's 
HMO licencing standards. Concerns are however raised regarding the separation distance between 
the rear habitable room windows within the student accommodation at first floor level and Block A. 
The substantial side wall to Block A will be sited in very close proximity to the habitable room 
windows in the student accommodation (separation distance of only 4.5 metres).  Given the close 
proximity concerns are raised that Block A would have an overbearing impact on the windows, 
resulting in poor outlook and limited natural light, to the detriment of the residential amenity of future 
occupants. 
 
 
 

Page 70



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Conclusion  
 
The LPA accepts that policies related to daylight/sunlight can be applied flexibility and that there are 
some instances where amenity issues such as the ones highlighted above are unavoidable (for 
example when converting existing buildings to residential use). In this instance however the 
proposal represents the total redevelopment of a large plot and the introduction of new buildings. 
As such harmful amenity issues and relationships such as the ones highlighted should be 
avoidable. A number of residential units fail to meet BRE criteria, and whilst a flexible assessment 
approach has been taken (most units which fail to meet certain BRE criteria are deemed acceptable 
as a whole on balance) a number of residential units within the development (both apartments and 
student bed spaces) are considered to fail to provide sufficient living environment due to poor 
outlook, lack of privacy and limited natural light, specifically: 
 

- Overlooking impact between No. 90 Stokes Croft and Block B 
- Overlooking impact between habitable rooms and adjacent balconies within Block B 
- Inadequate light and outlook for Student Accommodation in Block C given proximity to 

No.84 Stokes Croft  
- Inadequate light and outlook for Student Accommodation in Nos. 100/102 Stokes Croft at 

first floor level given proximity to Block A 
 
It is therefore considered that the development as a whole represents an overdevelopment of the 
plot, which has resulted in the identified layout/amenity issues arising. Consequently the application 
would represent an over-intensive form of development, which would fail to ensure that proposed 
development achieves appropriate levels of privacy, outlook and daylight and as such would fail to 
provide a high-quality and acceptable living environment for future occupants. 
 
(F) IMPACT ON THE AMENITY OF SURROUNDING PROPERTIES  
 
Paragraph 185 of the NPPF (2021) states that planning policies and decisions should also ensure 
that new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as 
the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the 
development. Development should mitigate and reduce to a minimum potential adverse impacts 
resulting from noise from new development and avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse 
impacts on health and the quality of life and limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on 
local amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation. 
 
Paragraph 187 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decisions should ensure that new 
development can be integrated effectively with existing businesses and community facilities (such 
as places of worship, pubs, music venues and sports clubs). Existing businesses and facilities 
should not have unreasonable restrictions placed on them as a result of development permitted 
after they were established. Where the operation of an existing business or community facility could 
have a significant adverse effect on new development (including changes of use) in its vicinity, the 
applicant (or 'agent of change') should be required to provide suitable mitigation before the 
development has been completed. 
 
Policy BCS21 in the Bristol Core Strategy (2011) advocates that new development should deliver 
high quality urban design and safeguard the amenity of existing development. Policy DM29 in the 
Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) states that proposals for new 
buildings will be expected to ensure that existing and proposed development achieves appropriate 
levels of privacy, outlook and daylight. This policy, as well as DM27, further states that new 
buildings will be expected to ensure that existing and proposed development achieves appropriate 
levels of privacy, outlook and daylight.  
 

Page 71



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Policy BCS23 in the Bristol Core Strategy also states that in locating and designing development 
account should be taken of the impact of existing sources of noise or other pollution on the new 
development and the impact of the new development on the viability of existing uses by reason of 
its sensitivity to noise or other pollution. The supporting text to this policy states that new 
development sensitive to pollution will not be appropriate where existing sources of noise or other 
pollution cannot be satisfactorily mitigated. New development will also not be appropriate where it 
would prejudice the viability of other important land uses by reason of its sensitivity to pollution. 
Residential development, for example, will not usually be appropriate in locations where the 
presence of residential uses is likely to give rise to the imposition of undue operational constraints. 
 
Policy DM33 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policy also states that in areas 
of existing noise or other types of pollution, new development sensitive to the effects of that 
pollution is unlikely to be permitted where the presence of that sensitive development could 
threaten the ongoing viability of existing uses that are considered desirable for reasons of economic 
or wider social need. Policy DM35 in the same document states that noise-sensitive development in 
locations likely to be affected by existing sources of noise such as industrial/commercial 
developments will be expected to provide an appropriate scheme of mitigation to ensure adequate 
levels of amenity for future occupiers of the proposed development.  
 
In assessing such a scheme of mitigation, account will be taken of: 
 
i) The location, design and layout of the proposed development; 
 
ii) Measures to reduce noise within the development to acceptable levels, including external areas 
where possible; and 
 
iii) The need to maintain adequate levels of natural light and ventilation to habitable areas of the 
development.' 
 
In areas of existing noise, proposals for noise-sensitive development should be accompanied by an 
assessment of environmental noise and an appropriate scheme of mitigation measures. 
Development will not be permitted if mitigation cannot be provided to an appropriate standard with 
an acceptable design. 
 
Policy DM2 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) states that 
shared housing will not be permitted where it would harm the residential amenity or character of the 
locality as a result of levels of activity that cause excessive noise and disturbance to residents. 
 
Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) Policy BCAP1 states that proposals may be refused planning 
permission if they would not include a sufficient mix of uses, taking account of the existing mix of 
uses in the area and impact any change to the mix of uses would have on the character, amenity 
and economy of the area. Policy BCAP4 with regards to specialist student housing development 
states that when making assessments on residential amenity, consideration should be given to the 
particular qualities and characteristics of a residential area or residential uses that might contribute 
to it being an enjoyable or otherwise satisfactory place to live.  
 
Generally, the site is well contained and does not experience high levels of neighbouring windows 
facing it. There are however a number of surrounding residential units in close proximity which 
require consideration in terms of the amenity impact of the development (overlooking, overbearing 
and overshadowing). A Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment Report has been submitted to 
support the application, covering some of these issues.  
 
 
 

Page 72



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

1 - 5 Hepburn Road  
 
Block B of the proposed development includes a number of residential units with windows to main 
living spaces in the east facing elevation which overlook Hepburn Road. However they will be 
separated from the windows of residential properties on the opposite side at 1 - 5 Hepburn Road by 
approximately 14 - 15 metres. This separation distance is typical of the distances between front 
facades on adjacent streets around Stokes Croft and is of a distance commonly found in urban 
locations. As such it is considered that there would be no harmful overlooking impact. 
 
Similarly the separation distance is considered sufficient to ensure that there would be no harmful 
overbearing or overshadowing impact of Nos. 1 - 5 Hepburn Road by the proposed development. 
This is further confirmed in the Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment Report which shows that 
all windows have passed the required BRE criteria except for 2 basement windows which were 
already achieving very low Vertical Sky Component values. These windows are also located in the 
basement floor and covered by bridge walkways. As such, the level of impact is seen to be minimal, 
none of the windows at 1- 5 Hepburn Road incurred daylight impact levels below that of the BRE 
guidelines. Annual Predicted Sunlight Hours for all windows will also not be impacted as no 
windows are oriented within 90 degrees of due south. 
 
Dairy Croft  
 
Block B of the proposed development includes a number of residential units with windows to main 
living spaces in the south and east facing elevations which overlook Hepburn Road. However they 
will be separated from the windows of residential properties on the opposite side at Dairy Croft by 
approximately 13 - 14 metres. This separation distance is typical of the distances between front 
facades on adjacent streets around Stokes Croft and is of a distance commonly found in urban 
locations. As such it is considered that there would be no harmful overlooking impact. 
 
Similarly the separation distance is considered sufficient to ensure that there would be no harmful 
overbearing or overshadowing impact of Dairy Croft by the proposed development. This is further 
confirmed in the Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment Report which shows that all windows 
comfortably passed the required BRE criteria, and as such the level of impact is seen to be 
minimal. None of the windows incurred daylight impact levels below that of the BRE guidelines. 
Annual Predicted Sunlight Hours for all windows will not be impacted either, as no windows are 
oriented within 90 degrees of due south. 
 
Development on South Side of Hepburn Road  
 
An application for the refurbishment and extension to an existing workshop building including 
change of use from a car garage to a fabrication design studio and erection of three residential flats 
was approved in November 2016 to the south side of Hepburn Road under planning application 
reference 16/05295/F. This permission however wasn't implemented and is no longer extant.  
 
Notwithstanding this it is important that the proposed development doesn't prejudice the future 
development potential of this site, which could reasonably come forward for similar development at 
some stage in the future. As such, the amenity impact on this site has been considered.  
 
Block B of the proposed development includes a number of residential units with windows to main 
living spaces in the south facing elevations which overlook Hepburn Road. However, using the 
approved plans for application 16/05295/F as a guide, they will be separated from the windows of 
any development on the south side of Hepburn Road by approximately 16 metres. This separation 
distance is typical of the distances between front facades on adjacent streets around Stokes Croft 
and is of a distance commonly found in urban locations. As such it is considered that there would 
be no harmful overlooking impact. 

Page 73



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
Similarly the separation distance is considered sufficient to ensure that there would be no harmful 
overbearing or overshadowing impact of this site by the proposed development. This is further 
confirmed in the Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment Report which shows (using the 
approved plans for application 16/05295/F as a guide) that the majority of windows pass the 
required BRE criteria and Annual Predicted Sunlight Hours for all windows will not be impacted as 
no windows are oriented within 90 degrees of due south. Whilst three windows failed to pass the 
Vertical Sky Component test these related to the commercial element of the approved scheme and 
as a whole it is not considered that this is sufficient warrant refusal. 
 
84 Stokes Croft  
 
This property is located on the opposite side of Hepburn Road from proposed Block C which 
contains commercial/workshop units at lower levels with student accommodation above. The 
separation distance is very close; 4 metres at ground floor level, 5 metres at upper levels. The 
building is presently in residential use comprising 8.no flats following permission granted in 2004 
(ref: 04/02612/F & 04/02613/LA). 
 
This property contains two windows facing Hepburn Road in close proximity to the proposed 
development, however they are boarded up and do not currently serve as outlook for any flats 
within No.84 Stokes Croft. The proposed windows to the student accommodation will also be 
located at a higher level than these windows, meaning they will not directly face one another. As 
such it is not considered that these windows will be harmfully overlooked by the proposal. A number 
of other windows are located in the north facing elevation of a rear annexe of No.84 Stokes Croft, 
however some of these windows do not serve habitable rooms and all of the windows are set back 
considerably from Hepburn Road (by approximately 18 metres) which is considered sufficient to 
ensure that any overlooking from the proposed development will not be detrimental.  
 
The Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment Report shows all windows at 84 Stokes Croft have 
comfortably passed the required BRE criteria except for the two windows noted above which are 
boarded up and do not currently serve as outlook for any flats. Notwithstanding this it is recognised 
that these windows are already considerably enclosed and overshadowed due to the narrow, 
densely built-up nature of Hepburn Road at this point. As such it is not considered that the 
development would result in any overbearing or overshadowing impact on these windows which 
would be considerably or harmfully above the existing situation, should these windows be re-
introduced as clear glazed in the future. 
 
86 - 98 Stokes Croft  
 
These properties contain a mix of ground floor commercial/residential units with student cluster flats 
located at upper levels. Proposed Block B contains a number of residential units with windows to 
habitable rooms directly facing the rear elevations of these buildings, which in turn include habitable 
room windows facing Block B.  
 
90 Stokes Croft contains a retail unit and barber shop on the ground floor at the front of the site with 
a 7 bed student cluster flat situated elsewhere on the ground floor and on the first, second and third 
floors. This student cluster flat includes rear windows which will directly face the habitable bedroom 
windows of residential units within Block B, at a distance of only 7 metres. Given the close proximity 
between windows it is considered that the development will have a harmful overlooking impact on 
this property, which would fail to achieve adequate levels of privacy for existing occupants of No.90 
Stokes Croft.  
 
The separation distance between windows within Block B and all other directly facing windows 
within 86-98 Stokes Croft will be approximately 10 metres. The separation distance of 10 metres is 

Page 74



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

not ideal, however on balance is considered sufficient to ensure that no harmful overlooking will 
arise between windows to the detriment of the privacy of existing occupants. Whilst it is accepted 
that it is a close relationship it is consistent with the relationship between windows found elsewhere 
in the local area and is a distance commonly found in dense urban locations. Following the 
submission of sectional drawings and taking into consideration the 25 degree rule of thumb 
assessment in relation to outlook the LPA is also satisfied that the separation distance between 
Block B and Nos. 86-98 Stokes Croft is sufficient to ensure that the windows will not experience 
such a harmful sense of enclosure to warrant refusal.  
 
103 - 111 Stokes Croft 
 
These properties are located on the opposite side of Stokes Croft to the main frontage buildings 
and contain commercial uses at ground floor level however habitable residential rooms are located 
above at first and second floor levels. The proposed additional stories/rooftop extensions to Nos. 
98, 100 and 102 Stokes Croft will increase the scale of those buildings and will introduce new 
windows at a higher level. However, the separation distance across the main road of approximately 
15 metres is considered sufficient to ensure that any overlooking across Stokes Croft will not be 
detrimental to the occupants of Nos. 103 - 111. Similarly, it is not considered that the scale of the 
extensions, coupled with the separation distance, will be sufficient to result in any detrimental 
overshadowing or a harmful sense of enclosure. The Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment 
Report also confirms that all windows at these properties have comfortably passed the BRE 
required criteria, and as such the level of impact is seen to be minimal. None of the windows at 103 
- 111 Stokes Croft incurred daylight  impact levels below that of the BRE guidelines. Annual 
Predicted Sunlight Hours for windows will not be impacted either, where all windows pass the 
required BRE criteria. 
 
The Carriage Works  
 
The adjacent site to the north (The Carriage Works) contains a grade II* Listed former works 
building to which only the façade remains. The site is subject of major redevelopment and 
regeneration scheme comprising 1000m2 commercial floor area, new public realm and 119 
dwellings (consented under application: 14/05930/F and subsequent variations/permissions). Most 
of the residential buildings and development is located to the north, a relatively substantial distance 
away from the proposed development. However, one block within the Carriage Works development 
is located directly along the northern boundary to the application site, close to proposed Block A. 
This block has been constructed and transferred to Sovereign Housing to be used for affordable 
housing. 
 
The main outlook for the residential units within this block is to the north, however there are also 
several small windows on the south facing elevation, which provide light to hallways. No windows 
are proposed in the north facing elevation of Block A and as such no concerns are raised that there 
will be any harmful overlooking. It is recognised that Block A will significantly reduce light to the 
existing hallway windows of the adjacent Carriage Works block, which is not ideal. However the 
windows do not serve habitable rooms and as such it is not considered that they provide important 
outlook or light for occupants. It is therefore not considered that any loss of light or overbearing 
impact will be harmful enough to the amenity of occupants of the adjacent Carriage Works block to 
warrant refusal.  
 
23 - 25 Hepburn Road  
 
Nos. 23 - 25 Hepburn Road are residential properties which contain external amenity space at the 
rear and several windows in their rear elevations which face the eastern boundary of the application 
site. It is recognised that Croft Dale is sited in relatively close proximity to the rear elevations of 
Nos. 23 - 25 Hepburn Road (approximately 12 metres away at the closest points). The newly 

Page 75



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

constructed residential block within the Carriage Works development is also located in relatively 
close proximity (approximately 15 metres away) meaning a certain sense of enclosure already 
exists. Croft Dale however is only two storeys in height (6 metres in height to eaves, 9.3 metres to 
ridge) and is set away from the boundary. Further, it is noted that the section of the residential block 
within the Carriage Works development closest to the rear boundaries with Nos. 23 - 25 Hepburn 
Road has been restricted to two storeys in height to reduce any harmful overbearing and 
overshadowing impact. Block A of the proposed development will be sited right up to the eastern 
boundary of the application site, much closer to the rear of Nos. 23 - 25 Hepburn Road than Croft 
Dale currently is (approximately 8 metres from the rear of No.23 Hepburn Road at the closest point; 
four metres closer in total). Block A will also be considerably taller in height than Croft Dale, being 
four storeys at approximately 12.5 metres in height in total). No cross-sectional drawings showing 
the proximity/relationship between Block A and these properties has been provided (full cross-
sectional drawings showing the proximity/relationship between the development and neighbouring 
sites was requested during the course of the application). Based on the submitted information 
however it is evident that the proposed development will considerably increase the scale, massing, 
bulk and proximity of development in relation to the rear elevation of these properties. It is 
considered that this scale and proximity would result in Block A having a harmful overbearing and 
overshadowing impact on the rear elevations and external amenity spaces of Nos. 23 - 25 Hepburn 
Road, to the detriment of the amenity of occupiers of those properties. This is further confirmed 
within the Daylight and Sunlight Impact Assessment Report which indicates that some windows fall 
below recommended BRE Criteria.  
 
With regards to overlooking, Block A contains no windows in the east facing elevation along the 
boundary which could overlook the rear elevations and private amenity spaces of Nos. 23 - 25 
Hepburn Road. Whilst Block A includes a number of windows to habitable rooms in the south facing 
elevation they will be sited at an oblique angle in relation to the rear elevations of Nos. 23 - 25 
Hepburn Road meaning it is not considered that any overlooking will be harmful enough to warrant 
refusal.  
 
Noise and Disturbance  
 
The application has been considered by the Council's Pollution Control Team. Initial concerns were 
raised that the submitted Acoustic Report/Assessment was undertaken during Covid-19 lockdown 
restrictions and as such would not have accounted for a true representation of the existing noise 
climate. As such a further acoustic assessment was requested and undertaken when surrounding 
commercial and late-night uses were fully operational and traffic back at normal levels.  
 
The Council's Pollution Control Team confirmed that, as per the recommendations and findings of 
the acoustic report, due to the high noise levels from both traffic on Stokes Croft and noise from the 
adjacent Love Inn (late night commercial venue) habitable rooms facing onto Stokes Croft and 
Hepburn Road will need to have a high level of sound insulation and mechanical ventilation 
provided. The Council's Pollution Control Team noted that windows can however still be openable 
on these facades so that occupiers can open them at their own discretion (occupants generally 
prefer the ability to have control over the internal environment using openable windows, even if the 
acoustic conditions would be considered unsatisfactory when open). 
 
The assessment gives recommended specifications for the external fabric sound insulation and 
ventilation. The Council's Pollution Control Team requested that should approval be forthcoming 
further information regarding the actual insulation and ventilation to be provided should be secured 
via condition. Specifically a condition would be attached requiring that there should be no 
commencement of development until there has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority a detailed scheme of noise insulation measures for all residential 
accommodation, this scheme shall also include details of ventilation. The scheme of noise 
insulation measures will need to take into account the recommendations detailed in the Noise 

Page 76



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Assessments submitted with the application, and will need to be installed prior to occupation and 
retained in perpetuity.  
 
Stokes Croft has a long established commercial character which includes entertainment and 
nightlife. Concerns regarding the proposed new residential use prejudicing the continued use of late 
night commercial venues is acknowledged. The Council's Pollution Control Team confirmed that 
were the above measures to be implemented by the applicant/developer as agreed it will avoid 
prejudicing the ongoing viability of existing businesses through the imposition of undue operational 
constraints. As such no enforcement action or restrictions could reasonably be placed on existing 
established businesses, commercial uses and community facilities in the local area. The submitted 
acoustic report assess both music noise and noise from customers in the outside area at the Love 
Inn and recommends a relatively high performance building envelope sound insulation in order to 
mitigate against noise. 
 
Given the local context, within the designated City Centre where there are many other late night 
and commercial uses, it is not considered that the intensification of shared housing, introduction of 
student accommodation or two new workshops will cause detrimental harm to the amenity of 
surrounding properties in terms of noise and disturbance. Conditions would however be attached if 
an approval was forthcoming to ensure that the rating level of any noise generated by plant & 
equipment shall be at least 5 dB below the background level. The hours of use and hours of 
deliveries of the commercial use would also be restricted via condition to ensure no harm of 
caused. 
 
A Construction & Demolition Management Plan would also be required, to ensure no harm is 
caused to the amenity of surrounding properties with regards to noise and disturbance during the 
demolition and construction period.  
 
Conclusion  
 
The LPA accepts that policies related to daylight/sunlight can be applied flexibility and that there are 
some instances where amenity issues such as the ones highlighted above are unavoidable (for 
example when converting existing buildings to residential use). In this instance however the 
proposal represents the total redevelopment of a large plot and the introduction of new buildings. 
As such harmful amenity issues and relationships such as the ones highlighted should be 
avoidable. A number of surrounding residential units fail to meet BRE criteria following 
development, and whilst a flexible assessment approach has been taken the impact of the 
development on the amenity of a number of surrounding residential properties is considered 
harmful enough to warrant refusal, specifically: 
 

- Overlooking impact between Block B and No. 90 Stokes Croft  
- Overbearing and overshadowing impact of Block A on Nos. 23 - 25 Hepburn Road  

 
It is therefore considered that the development as a whole represents an overdevelopment of the 
plot, which has resulted in the identified layout/amenity issues arising. Consequently the application 
would represent an over-intensive form of development, which would fail to ensure that existing 
development achieves appropriate levels of privacy, outlook and daylight. 
 
(G) SUSTAINABILITY AND CLIMATE CHANGE 
 
Paragraph 157 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states that in determining 
planning applications, local planning authorities should expect new development to comply with any 
development plan policies on local requirements for decentralised energy supply unless it can be 
demonstrated by the applicant, having regard to the type of development involved and its design, 
that this is not feasible or viable; and take account of landform, layout, building orientation, massing 

Page 77



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

and landscaping to minimise energy consumption. 
 
Current planning policy within the adopted Bristol Core Strategy (2011) requires new development 
to be designed to mitigate and adapt to climate change and meet targets to reduce carbon dioxide 
emissions. Policy BCS14 states that this should be achieved, amongst other measures, through 
efficient building design, the provision of on-site renewable energy generation to reduce carbon 
dioxide emissions by at least 20% based on the projected residual energy demand of new 
buildings. The approach proposed should also be supported by the provision of a sustainability 
statement and an energy strategy.  
 
Where district heating is not yet available, policy BCS14 requires development to include, where 
feasible, communal heating infrastructure suitable for connection to future networks. The mixture of 
uses and high density nature of the existing development within the central Bristol area may mean 
that there are potential sources of heat lying close to or adjacent to any given site that could supply 
it with heat. 
 
Policy BCS14 states that new development will be expected to demonstrate that the heating and 
cooling systems have been selected according to the following heat hierarchy: 
 
1. Connection to existing CHP/CCHP distribution networks 
2. Site-wide renewable CHP/CCHP 
3. Site-wide gas-fired CHP/CCHP 
4. Site-wide renewable community heating/cooling 
5. Site-wide gas-fired community heating/cooling 
6. Individual building renewable heating 
 
Policy BCS15 states that sustainable design and construction will be integral to new development in 
Bristol. This policy states that for major development such as this the Sustainability Statement 
should include a BREEAM assessment. For non-residential development a BREEAM "Excellent" 
rating will be expected. As set out in the Council's Climate Change and Sustainability Practice Note 
(July 2020) it is always more effective and less costly to factor sustainability in from the outset. 
Applicants will be encouraged not to design down to a target BREEAM score but to use it as a 
starting point, and will be encouraged to innovate. BRE have recognised this, and can now award 
credits for innovation. If it is considered that this standard cannot feasibly be achieved then detailed 
evidence should be provided to demonstrate this, and a revised level of certification should be 
agreed with the planning authority at the pre-application stage. Where viability is cited as a reason 
for not achieving the standard, a full viability assessment will be required. 
 
Bristol Central Area Plan Policy BCAP20 complements BCS15 by setting specific scaled standards 
against BREEAM. Policy BCAP21 also states that proposals for development in the City Centre that 
would require heating will be expected to demonstrate that account has been taken of potential 
opportunities to source heat from adjoining development or nearby heating networks. Proposals 
that would generate waste heat will be encouraged to incorporate infrastructure to capture its waste 
heat for reuse and/or to supply existing or future heat networks in the area. 
 
Policy BCS16 principally addresses the issues around development in flood risk areas but also 
requires all development to include water management measures to reduce surface water run-off, 
including sustainable drainage systems (SUDS). In addition Policy BCS13 of the Core Strategy sets 
out requirements for development in terms of mitigating and adapting to climate change, among 
which is the use of green infrastructure to minimise and mitigate the heating. 
 
The application has been considered by the Council's Sustainable Cities Team.  
 
With regards to Policy BCS13, following initial concerns raised by the Council's Sustainable Cities 

Page 78



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

Team a revised overheating assessment has been provided which demonstrates that there will no 
risk of overheating when assessed under the 2020 and 2050 weather scenarios. Whilst risk is 
present under the 2080 scenario this can be mitigated with replaced glazing and interstitial blinds. 
The Council's Sustainable Cities Team confirmed that this is acceptable. 
 
In terms of Policy BCS14 the proposal is for communal gas boilers and future-proofed connection to 
the St Pauls District Heat Network. Solar panels will provide a 20% reduction in CO2 emissions. 
The Council's Energy Service Team have confirmed that a day 1 connection to the heat network 
can be provided and this would be secured in accordance with the BCS14 heat hierarchy by 
Section 106 agreement instead of the communal gas boilers, were an approval forthcoming. As part 
of the Section 106 agreement however the developer will be required to set out an 'alternative heat 
system', which would be a District Heat ready system that is implemented in the event that the day 
1 connection is not achieved and replaced with a District Heat connection at its renewal date if the 
network is available. The alternative heat system will be required to comply with the BCS14 heat 
hierarchy. 
 
Concerns were raised by the Council's Sustainable Cities Team regarding the proposed alternative 
heat system; a communal gas boiler system. Whilst it is acknowledged that system accords with the 
BCS14 heat hierarchy it is not the preferred or lowest carbon option for this type of development; 
the Council's Sustainable Cities Team noted that more sustainable systems should be feasible such 
as a communal renewable (Air Source Heat Pump) system. Such a system has recently been 
deemed feasible and approved for another similar nearby student accommodation scheme to 
provide heating and hot water at No. 12-18 Stokes Croft and 2 Moon Street (application reference: 
20/04743/F). The timeframe for the St Pauls heat network is currently unknown and it is stated in 
the energy statement that any gas system that is put in place would remain for the lifetime of the 
equipment. A communal gas system in situ for the lifetime of the boilers (i.e. 10-12 years) will result 
in higher emissions than a heat pump led system or a temporary gas communal system which is 
replaced by connection to the heat network when it becomes available. The resultant increase in 
emissions from the installation of a communal gas system, to be in place for another 10-12 years, 
does not align with the objectives of BCS14 or the city's target to become carbon neutral by 2030. 
 
It was therefore requested that a heat pump led system was further explored, however the scheme 
was unfortunately not amended, despite request. The justification provided for the use of gas 
relates to the design parameters and the applicant has noted that 'heat pumps are not considered 
appropriate due to the nature of the proposed development (student-led) resulting in high hot water 
load that will arise from future occupants.'  
 
The Council's Sustainable Cities Team commented that they do agree with this assessment and 
confirmed that there are Air Source Heat Pumps on the market specifically designed for student 
accommodation and other high water load commercial applications. The Council approves them 
regularly for this type of development, a recent nearby example being No. 12-18 Stokes Croft and 2 
Moon Street as referenced above. Overall it is considered that the applicant has failed to fully 
investigate/select the lowest carbon heating solution feasible for the development, which is the 
objective of the heat hierarchy. This is disappointing, however the Council's Sustainable Cities 
Team concluded that as communal gas is on the BCS14 heat hierarchy refusal on the basis of the 
proposed heating and cooling system would not be reasonable or defendable.   
 
The applicant has provided a BREEAM pre-assessment which shows that the development is 
targeting BREEAM 'Very good'. As noted above, BREEAM 'Excellent' is required to comply with 
Policy BCS15. The proposed development as such fails to meet this policy. It was requested that 
the applicant consider which additional credits can be targeted and achieved to increase the total 
score to enable an 'Excellent' rating. In response, the applicant noted that it would not be possible 
to achieve BREEAM 'Excellent' in this instance due to the nature of the BREEAM scoring 
methodology and because the assessment was not started earlier in the design process the 

Page 79



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

opportunity to secure certain credits has technically passed already. The applicant has provided no 
further justification or evidence setting out why the BREEAM 'Excellent' standard cannot feasibly be 
achieved. Achieving BREEAM 'Excellent' has been a policy requirement since the adoption of the 
Bristol Core Strategy in 2011 and therefore it is unclear why the developer did not target this from 
the offset. The Council's Climate Change and Sustainability Practice Note states that it is always 
more effective and less costly to factor sustainability in from the outset and that applicants will be 
encouraged not to design down to a target BREEAM score but to use it as a starting point. It is 
evident that the applicant failed to target the policy requirement rating of BREEAM 'Excellent' as a 
starting point and failed to properly consider this element of sustainability from the outset. The 
application is therefore considered unacceptable and recommended for refusal due to conflict with 
Policy BCS15.  
 
(H) FLOOD RISK 
 
Paragraph 159 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states that inappropriate 
development in areas at risk of flooding should be avoided by directing development away from 
areas at highest risk (whether existing or future). Where development is necessary in such areas, 
the development should be made safe for its lifetime without increasing flood risk elsewhere. 
Paragraph 167 states that when determining any planning applications, local planning authorities 
should ensure that flood risk is not increased elsewhere. 
 
Bristol Core Strategy (2011) Policy BCS16 states that all development will also be expected to 
incorporate water management measures to reduce surface water run-off and ensure that it does 
not increase flood risks elsewhere. This should include the use of sustainable drainage systems 
(SUDS). 
 
Following consultation and following amendment, the Council's Flood Risk Team confirmed that 
they are satisfied in principle that the proposed drainage arrangements are sufficient to mitigate the 
risk of surface water/sewer and groundwater flooding to the site. Sufficient evidence has also been 
provided that the development will not cause flooding to surrounding sites. 
 
Further detail however is required of the proposed green roof and further detail of the management 
and maintenance plan of the drainage system is also required. This could be secured via condition 
if an approval was forthcoming.  
 
(I) AIR QUALITY 
 
Paragraph 186 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states that planning policies and 
decisions should sustain and contribute towards compliance with relevant limit values or national 
objectives for pollutants, taking into account the presence of Air Quality Management Areas and 
Clean Air Zones, and the cumulative impacts from individual sites in local areas. Opportunities to 
improve air quality or mitigate impacts should be identified, such as through traffic and travel 
management, and green infrastructure provision and enhancement.  
 
Policy BCS23 in the Core Strategy (2011) states that development should be sited and designed in 
a way as to avoid adversely impacting upon the amenity of the surrounding area by reason of 
fumes, dust, noise, vibration, smell, light and other forms of pollution. In locating and designing 
development, account should also be taken of the impact of existing sources of noise or other 
pollution on the new development and the impact of the new development on the viability of existing 
uses by reason of its sensitivity to noise or other pollution. Policy DM14 in the Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies (2014) also states that developments that will have an 
unacceptable impact on health and wellbeing will not be permitted. 
 
Policy DM33 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) further states 

Page 80



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

that development that has the potential for significant emissions to the detriment of air quality, 
particularly in designated Air Quality Management Areas, should include an appropriate scheme of 
mitigation which may take the form of on- site measures or, where appropriate, a financial 
contribution to off-site measures. Development in designated Air Quality Management Areas should 
take account of existing air pollution and include measures to mitigate its impact on future occupiers 
where possible and consistent with other policies of the development plan such as those on climate 
change and urban design. 
 
Following consultation the Council's Air Quality Team raised no objections to the application, noting 
that the predicted operational impacts are negligible and no new exposure will be introduced. A 
construction environmental management would be secured via condition, if an approval was 
forthcoming, to mitigate any construction impacts. 
 
(J) DOES THE PROPOSAL GIVE RISE TO ANY CONTAMINATION ISSUES? 
 
Paragraph 183 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states that planning decisions 
should ensure that a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and 
any risks arising from land instability and contamination. This includes risks arising from natural 
hazards or former activities such as mining, and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation (as well as potential impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation). 
 
Policy DM34 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) states that new 
development should demonstrate that: 
 
i. Any existing contamination of the land will be addressed by appropriate mitigation measures to 
ensure that the site is suitable for the proposed use and that there is no unacceptable risk of 
pollution within the site or in the surrounding area; and 
 
ii. The proposed development will not cause the land to become contaminated, to the detriment of 
future use 
 
A land contamination Desk Study and Phase 2 report has been provided to support the application. 
The Council's Contaminated Land Officer has reviewed the report, and confirmed it is acceptable. A 
condition would be attached to any permission (if forthcoming) requiring that no development shall 
take place (except demolition) until a detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition 
suitable for the intended use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other 
property and the natural and historical environment has been prepared, submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. In the event that contamination is found, no occupation of 
the development shall take place until the approved remediation scheme has been carried out in 
accordance with its terms. A condition would also be required that in the event that contamination is 
found at any time that had not previously been identified when carrying out the approved 
development, it must be reported immediately to the Local Planning Authority. 
 
(K) COAL RISK 
 
Paragraph 183 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021) states that planning decisions 
should ensure that a site is suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and 
any risks arising from land instability and contamination. This includes risks arising from natural 
hazards or former activities such as mining, and any proposals for mitigation including land 
remediation (as well as potential impacts on the natural environment arising from that remediation). 
 
The application site falls within the defined Development High Risk Area. The Coal Authority's 
information indicates that a coal seam outcrops at or close to the surface of the site, which may 
have been worked in the past. 

Page 81



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
Following consultation, the Coal Authority confirmed that the application site does not fall within a 
defined Development High Risk Area and is located instead within a defined Development Low Risk 
Area. This means that there is no requirement for a Coal Mining Risk Assessment to be submitted 
or for The Coal Authority to be consulted. A standard advice note in relation to coal risk would 
however be attached to any permission, if forthcoming.  
 
(L) DOES THE PROPOSAL RAISE ANY ECOLOGY ISSUES? 
 
Paragraph 185 of the NPPF (2021) states that planning policies and decisions should also ensure 
that new development is appropriate for its location taking into account the likely effects (including 
cumulative effects) of pollution on health, living conditions and the natural environment, as well as 
the potential sensitivity of the site or the wider area to impacts that could arise from the 
development. Development should limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on local 
amenity, intrinsically dark landscapes and nature conservation. 
 
Paragraph 174 also states that planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance 
the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of 
biodiversity or geological value and minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, 
including by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future 
pressures. Paragraph 180 also sets out that applications on land within or outside a Site of Special 
Scientific Interest which is likely to have an adverse effect on it (either individually or in combination 
with other developments) should not normally be permitted. The only exception is where the 
benefits of the development in the location proposed clearly outweigh both its likely impact on the 
features of the site that make it of special scientific interest, and any broader impacts on the 
national network of Sites of Special Scientific Interest. 
 
Policy DM19 in the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (2014) seeks to protect 
habitat, features and species which contribute to nature conservation, and developments are 
expected to be informed by appropriate surveys. Policy DM29 in the same document states that 
proposals for new buildings will be expected to incorporate opportunities for green infrastructure 
such as green roofs, green walls and green decks. 
 
Central Area Plan (2015) Policy BCAP25 sets out a specific requirement for the inclusion of green 
infrastructure in both the landscaping and as an integral part of building design, to help adapt to the 
effects of climate change including the impact of overheating and surface water run-off, which is of 
particular relevance to city centre developments. 
 
Following consultation, the Council's Nature Conservation Officer confirmed that the amount of 
natural habitat currently on the site is negligible so there won't be any loss in biodiversity. Whilst a 
proposed landscape plan has been submitted it doesn't include a species list (the Council would 
seek pollinator-friendly planting, ideally with a couple of fruiting trees, and the green roof should be 
biodiverse, not sedum as this has limited value for wildlife). A revised soft Landscape Plan including 
a planting schedule would therefore be secured via condition, if an approval was forthcoming. A 30-
year Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP) would also be secured, setting out 
management compartments, objectives, and prescriptions for all proposed planting on the 
development site. To ensure no protected or priority species (such as bats) are not impacted upon 
prior to the commencement of development, if an approval was forthcoming, a Precautionary 
Method of Working (PMW) would also be secured via condition. Finally, an Ecological Mitigation & 
Enhancement Strategy (EMES) prepared by a suitably qualified ecologist would also be secured, 
which should include details of the provision of 3No bird boxes, 2 insect boxes, and 2No bat tiles. 
 
 
 

Page 82



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

(M) SAFETY AND SECURITY 
 
The Avon and Somerset Constabulary Designing Out Crime Officer (DOCO) has reviewed the 
proposal and raised no objections to the proposal however made a number of recommendations 
regarding security measures that can be made to ensure the site is secure as possible once 
complete. This includes the use of shuttering to the workshops facing Hepburn Road, the use of 
lockable cabinets, CCTV, access control systems and laminated glazing. Further security 
information would be secured via condition if an approval was forthcoming in the form of a Safety 
and Security Plan.  
 
(N) FIRE SAFETY 
 
Following the Grenfell Tower fire on 14 June 2017 the government commissioned the Independent 
Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety led by Dame Judith Hackitt. The report highlighted 
the need to transform the fire and building safety regime and recommended that "some minimum 
requirements around fire safety will need to be addressed when local planning authorities are 
determining planning applications and will require input from those with the relevant expertise." 
 
Government made a commitment in 'A reformed building safety regulatory system: government 
response to the Building a Safer Future consultation' to introduce planning gateway one. Planning 
gateway one has two elements: 
 

- to require the developer to submit a fire statement setting out fire safety considerations 
specific to the development with a relevant application for planning permission for 
development which involves one or more relevant buildings, and 

- to establish the Health and Safety Executive as a statutory consultee for relevant planning 
applications 

 
The changes are intended to help ensure that applicants and decision-makers consider planning 
issues relevant to fire safety, bringing forward thinking on fire safety matters as they relate to land 
use planning to the earliest possible stage in the development process and result in better schemes 
which fully integrate thinking on fire safety. 
 
Relevant buildings are defined as being those which:  
 

- contain two or more dwellings or educational accommodation and 
- meet the height condition of 18m or more in height, or 7 or more storeys 

 
"Dwellings" includes flats, and "educational accommodation" means residential accommodation for 
the use of students boarding at a boarding school or in later stages of education (for definitions see 
article 9A(9) of the Town and Country Planning Development Management (England) Procedure 
Order 2015 as amended by article 4 of the 2021 Order. 
 
Whilst the proposed development will result in the building exceeding 18 metres/7 storeys in height 
the building will not contain two or more dwellings or educational accommodation. As such, it is not 
a 'relevant building', and therefore it is not necessary to request a fire statement of consult the 
Health and Safety Executive in this instance.  
 
Fire safety will be considered fully at building control stage, where the developer will agree fire 
safety requirements with the building control body prior to the commencement of development. Fire 
precautions covered by building regulations are not part of material planning considerations on 
which planning decisions must be based. 
 
 

Page 83



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

CONCLUSION AND PLANNING BALANCE  
 
The LPA fully supports the redevelopment of the site for mixed use purposes in principle. However, 
for the reasons set out within this report the current proposal falls considerably short of meeting a 
significant number of policy requirements and expectations and as such Officers are unable to 
recommend approval.  
 
The proposed development poses "substantial harm" to the special characteristics and significance 
of the Stokes Croft Conservation Area as a nationally protected heritage asset through the 
demolition of a Locally Listed building identified specifically of being "of merit" to the area. 
 
The introduction of poor-quality extensions and detailed design elements to existing character 
buildings will further cause harm to the character and appearance of the conservation area and 
setting of nearby heritage assets. The development would also by virtue of the density, form, scale, 
layout, siting, design, materials and detailing fail to create well-designed, high quality, beautiful 
buildings and places consistent with and in keeping with the context; would fail to deliver a safe, 
appealing, well-overlooked, well-lit and attractive environment for future occupants; would result in 
harm to neighbouring residential amenity by means of overbearing and overlooking and would 
result in the creation of sub-standard living accommodation for future occupants offering poor 
outlook and lack of privacy. 
 
Officers accept that policies related to daylight/sunlight can be applied flexibility and that there are 
some instances where amenity issues such as the ones highlighted in this report are unavoidable 
(for example when converting existing buildings to residential use). In this instance however the 
proposal represents the total redevelopment of a large plot and the introduction of new buildings. 
As such harmful amenity issues and relationships such as the ones highlighted should be 
avoidable.  
 
The development will also fail to meet the required BREEAM "Excellent" rating without adequate 
justification. 
 
In July 2021, the National Planning Policy Framework was revised and established beauty as an 
overarching objective alongside sustainable development and stated that all development that is 
not well designed should be refused, especially where it fails to reflect local design policies. 
Housing targets should not be used as a justification to grant them permission. 
 
Whilst it is recognised that the scheme will deliver some benefits these are relatively general and 
are not considered significant or substantial enough to outweigh the significant and substantial 
harm posed by the development. Efforts by the LPA to secure further public benefits through the 
reinstatement of commercial units with active frontages to properties fronting Stokes Croft at ground 
floor level (identified by Historic England as the potential 'greatest heritage benefit') were 
unsuccessful. Concerns are also raised that the number of C3 residential units is deliberately being 
restricted to below the affordable housing threshold, thus the scheme will not deliver the substantial 
social benefits associated with the provision of affordable housing in an area where there is a 
relatively small amount of affordable housing available. All the benefits associated with the 
development could be delivered in a proportionate way whilst preserving and enhancing the special 
character of the conservation area and retaining the locally listed building. There is no reason why 
the development cannot be designed to address the identified important issues and limit the harm, 
whilst also delivering further public benefits and a significant uplift in density. 
 
For these reasons the application is unfortunately thus recommended to Members for refusal. 
 
The Government's 2020 Housing Delivery Test (HDT) results are acknowledged, that indicate that 
the Council's delivery of housing was below (less than 75%) the housing requirement over the 

Page 84



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

previous 3 years. Further, the Council currently cannot demonstrate a deliverable 5 year housing 
land supply. This means that the 'tilted balance' set out in NPPF Paragraph 11(d)(ii) applies. 
Specifically, Paragraph 11 makes it clear that plans and decision should apply a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development, with section (c) of this paragraph explaining that development 
proposals that accord with an up-to-date development plan should be approved without delay. 
However, section (d) goes on to explain that where there are no relevant development plan policies, 
or where the policies which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 
planning permission should be granted unless:  
 
i. the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of particular importance 
provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or  
 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 
when assessed against the policies in this NPPF taken as a whole. 
 
This report has set out that the proposal fails to meet a number of design and heritage related 
policies including Core Strategy Policies BCS2, BCS21 and BCS22; Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies DM26, DM27, DM28, DM29, DM30 and DM31 and Bristol 
Central Area Plan Policy BCSP45. The proposal also fails to meet sustainability objectives and 
requirements included within Core Strategy Policy BCS15 and Bristol Central Area Plan Policy 
BCAP20. 
 
The fact that policies have to be considered out-of-date does not mean that they can carry no 
weight. To carry weight, policies must be consistent with the NPPF, as explained in Paragraph 219 
which, amongst other things, explains that the closer the policies in the plan are to the policies in 
the NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given to them. As such, it is perfectly possible for 
policies which are deemed out-of-date for reasons of an inadequate housing land supply to still 
carry significant weight. Such is the case in this instance, as all the policies cited within this report 
for reasons to refuse the development are consistent with the NPPF. The policies referenced 
should therefore still all carry significant weight in the determination of this application. No policies 
covered by NPPF paragraph 11(d)(i) apply in this case, so the application should be determined in 
the context of NPPF paragraph 11(d)(ii). 
 
The development would result in some benefits, and these are acknowledged. For example, the 
proposal would provide additional dwellings and student accommodation to the Council's housing 
supply. There would also be economic benefits, including short term employment associated with 
building works and longer term benefits for the economy and local businesses from new residents. 
There would also be environmental improvement of a negative site in the Conservation Area. 
However, this report demonstrates that the proposal would conflict with a number of development 
plan policies, particularly those related to preserving heritage and achieving well-designed places, 
which should still carry significant weight, as all the policies of concern are fully consistent with the 
NPPF's overall objectives. 
 
Turning to Paragraph 11(d)(ii) of the NPPF, the identified adverse impacts of the proposal would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the 
NPPF as a whole. For these reasons, the application is recommended to Members for refusal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 85



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 
RECOMMENDED REFUSE 
The following reason(s) for refusal are associated with this decision: 
 
Reason(s) 
 
 1. The proposed development would cause substantial harm to the historic character, 

appearance and significance of the Stokes Croft Conservation Area through the destruction 
of an important locally listed building (Croft Dale) and introduction of poor-quality alterations 
and development which would also cause harm to the setting of the adjacent Grade II* listed 
Carriage Works. Inadequate justification has been provided for the harm nor has it been 
demonstrated that the scheme will deliver the necessary substantial public benefits to 
outweigh the harm. The application is subsequently recommended for refusal due to conflict 
with the National Planning Policy Framework (2021); Sections 66 and 72 of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990; Core Strategy (2011) Policies BCS2, 
BCS21 and BCS22; Site Allocations and Development Management (2014) Policies DM26, 
DM27, DM29, DM30 and DM31; Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) Policy BCSP45 and the 
Stokes Croft Conservation Area Character Appraisal (2007). 

 
 2. The proposed development by virtue of the density, form, scale, layout, siting, design and 

detailing would fail to create well-designed, high quality, beautiful buildings and places 
consistent with and in keeping with the context and would fail to deliver a safe, appealing, 
well-overlooked, well-lit and attractive environment for future occupants as well as existing 
local residents and businesses. The proposed development by virtue of the density, form, 
scale, layout, siting and design would also result in harm to neighbouring residential amenity 
by means of overbearing and overshadowing (Block A on Nos. 23 - 25 Hepburn Road), 
overlooking (between Block B and No.90 Stokes Croft) and would result in the creation of 
sub-standard living accommodation for future occupants offering poor outlook and light (for 
the student accommodation in Block C and Nos. 100/102 Stokes Croft at first floor level) 
and lack of privacy (for Block B given overlooking impact between No.90 Stokes Croft). In 
addition, the proposed development would by virtue of the poor-quality design approach set 
out above, exacerbate the existing anti-social environment on Hepburn Road by further 
enclosing the narrow street and would result in the creation of an unattractive and 
oppressive access option for existing residents and future occupants within the site via the 
primary and direct pedestrian route to Stokes Croft. The application is subsequently 
recommended for refusal due to conflict with the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021); Core Strategy (2011) Policies BCS2, BCS21 and BCS22; Site Allocations and 
Development Management (2014) Policies DM26, DM27, DM28, DM29, DM30 and DM31; 
Bristol Central Area Plan (2015) Policy BCSP45; the Stokes Croft Conservation Area 
Character Appraisal (2007) and the Council's Urban Living SPD (2018). 

 
 3. The proposed development will fail to meet the required BREEAM "Excellent" rating without 

adequate justification and as such the application is in conflict with the National Planning 
Policy Framework (2021); Core Strategy (2011) Policy BCS15 and Bristol Central Area Plan 
(2015) Policy BCAP20. 

 
Advice(s) 
 
1.  Refused Applications Deposited Plans/Documents 
 

The plans that were formally considered as part of the above application are as follows:- 
 
4045_(08)20 A Proposed section elevation A-A and B-B, received 18 November 2022 

 4045_(08)010 A Existing site plan, received 17 June 2021 

Page 86



Item no. 1 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 21/02794/F : 86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale Hepburn Road Bristol 
BS1 3RJ  
 

27-Feb-23  

 4045_(08)011 A Existing ground floor plan, received 17 June 2021 
 4045_(08)012 A Existing first floor plan, received 17 June 2021 
 4045_(08)013 A Existing second floor plan, received 17 June 2021 
 4045_(08)014 A Existing third floor and roof plan, received 17 June 2021 
 4045_(08)016 A Existing elevations, received 17 June 2021 
 4045_(08)017 A Existing rear elevations and sections, received 17 June 2021 
 4045_(08)160 C Proposed lower ground floor plan, received 7 February 2023 
 4045_(08)161 C Proposed ground floor plan, received 7 February 2023 
 4045_(08)162 C Proposed first floor plan, received 7 February 2023 
 4045_(08)163 C Proposed second floor plan, received 7 February 2023 
 4045_(08)164 C Proposed third floor plan, received 7 February 2023 
 4045_(08)165 C Proposed roof plan, received 7 February 2023 
 4045_(08)231 C Proposed section elevation C-C and D-D, received 7 February 2023 
 4045_(08)234 B Proposed section elevation E-E and F-F, received 18 November 2022 
 4045_(08)233 B Proposed section elevation G-G and H-H, received 7 February 2023 
 4045_(08)234 Existing and proposed east elevation facing Stokes Croft, received 18 

November 2022 
 9675-001 E Proposed Drainage Layout, received 18 November 2022 
 Energy and Sustainability Assessment Revision C prepared by JS Lewis LTD dated July 

2022, received 2 August 2022 
 9675 01 Attenuation tank design, received 18 November 2022 
 SK/06 A Swept path assessment of a 11.4m refuse vehicle, received 18 November 2022 
 Broadband Connectivity Assessment referenced P18-2788 dated May 2021, received 17 

June 2021 
 SK11 A Swept path assessment of a large car, received 18 November 2022 
 Construction Traffic Management Plan referenced P18-2788 dated May 2021, received 17 

June 2021 
 301-RS-XX-XX-DR-L-90-01 REV C10 Landscape General Arrangement (All floors), 

received 23 November 2022 
 Noise Assessment Acoustics Report referenced A1676 R02 dated 20th July 2022, received 

2 August 2022 
 9675-000 Impermeable and permeable areas, received 18 November 2022 
 301-RS-XX-XX-DR-L-90-02 C8 Landscape General Arrangement (Lower Ground Floor), 

received 2 August 2022 
  
 
 
 

Page 87



Supporting Documents 
 

 
86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft, Crortdale, Hepburn Road 
 

1. Landscape (All Floors) 
2. Proposed Lower ground floor plan 
3. Proposed Ground floor plan 
4. Proposed First floor plan 
5. Proposed Second floor plan 
6. Proposed Third floor plan 
7. Proposed Section elevation A-A B-B 
8. Proposed Section elevation C-C D-D 
9. Existing & proposed East elevation facing Stokes Croft 
 

 

Page 88



UP

UP

UP UP

STOKES CROFT

2B3P
61m²

4B5P
86m²

st. 2.0m²

st.
2.7m²

st.
1.8m²

st.1.5m²

1B2P
51m²

st. 1.6m²

st.
2.5m²

3B4P
75m²

terrace

student accommodationstudent accommodation

ancillary store

raised planter

+23.00+25.04

+25.70

balcony balcony

stair

Hepburn Road

H
epburn R

oad

Cycle Store

Entrance

Entrance

E
nt

ra
nc

e

E
nt

ra
nc

e

Bin Store

Drop Off
(all surfaces 
and kerbs flush)

Private TerracePrivate 
Terrace

Workshop

Retail

Retail

Retail

Retail

Retail

Retail

Retail

Retail Apartments

Apartments

Apartments Apartments

Communal
Garden
  

Courtyard

Courtyard

Courtyard

+25.25
  

+25.00
  

+22.00

Apartments

22A Jordan Street
Liverpool
L1 0BP
Tel: 07788991854

Email: Elaine@reshaped.uk.com

Client:    Caci & Co

Project:   Stokes Croft

Title: Landscape General Arrangement-
         (All floors) 
        
Drawing Status       Date Created          Drawing Scale

Drawing Number                                     Rev:

    Planning                      21/02/21                    1:100@A1
            

reShaped
Landscape Architecture

301-rS-XX-XX-DR-L-90-01                                 C10

Landscape General Arrangement (D)

Shrub Planting  

Existing Pavement (Retained)

Cycle Store

1.8m High Black Vertical Bar Mild Steel Gates 
and Railings (B) 

Timber Bench

1.1m High Black Vertical Bar Mild Steel Gates 
and Railings on stone clad wall (B)

1.2m High Black Vertical Bar Mild Steel Safety 
Railing on Parapet

Tree Planting

Site Boundary

Existing Roadway (Retained)

Sedum Roof

Specimen Shrub Planting

Retaining Wall to match Architect's details

Steps with Handrail (B)

Ramp with Hand Rail (B)

Contrasting Tactile Paving (B)

Concrete Paver such as Brett Charcoal Aura

Concrete Paver such as Brett Grey Delta

Concrete Flag such as Saxon

N

Roof

P
age 89



2B3P
61m²

3B5P
86m²

st. 2.0m²

st.
2.7m²

st.
1.8m²

st.1.5m²

+23.00

student accommodation

ancillary store

energy centre
37m²

ancillary
12m²

workshop
80m²

stair

workshop
54m²

student accommodation

residential accommodation

circulation

workshop

bin store

bike store

ancillary

energy centre

retail units

m 54321

N

bike store 97m²
28 stands 56 spaces

bin store
18m²

ancillary

notes

date

project no.

drawing

job title

scale

status drawn/checked

client

drawing no. revision

Arturus Architects LLP, Brentwood, 48 Eastf ield,  Br istol ,  BS9 4BE
+44(0)117 316 9467 |  www.ar turus.co.uk |  mai lbox@ar turus.co.uk

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling this drawing.
Use figured dimensions only. This drawing is copyright. ©2022 Arturus Architects LLP.

Crescent Property Developments

86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft &
Croft Dale

Proposed Lower Ground Floor Plan

4045 (08)160 C 1:100@A1

26.07.22 planning gm/rg

A  17.11.22  landscaping amended
B  18.11.22  Doors and lobby added to workshops. Area amended.
C  02.02.23  Workshop entrance and access gates amended on LGF.

P
age 90



2B3P
61m²

4B5P
86m²

st. 2.0m²

st.
2.7m²

st.
1.8m²

st.1.5m²

1B2P
51m²

st. 1.6m²

st.
2.5m²

3B4P
75m²

5 bed cluster

ancillary store

terrace

ancillary store

raised planter

+23.00+25.04

+25.70

balcony balcony

student accommodation

residential accommodation

circulation

workshop

bin store

bike store

ancillary

energy centre

retail units

m 54321

N

bike store
28 spaces

bin store

retail unit and store

notes

date

project no.

drawing

job title

scale

status drawn/checked

client

drawing no. revision

Arturus Architects LLP, Brentwood, 48 Eastf ield,  Br istol ,  BS9 4BE
+44(0)117 316 9467 |  www.ar turus.co.uk |  mai lbox@ar turus.co.uk

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling this drawing.
Use figured dimensions only. This drawing is copyright. ©2022 Arturus Architects LLP.

Crescent Property Developments

86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft &
Croft Dale

Proposed Ground Floor Plan

4045 (08)161 C 1:100@A1

26.07.22 planning gm/rg

A  09.11.22 Student entrance and landscaping amended.
B  17.11.22  Bike store and landscaping amended
C  02.02.23  Workshop entrance and access gates amended on LGF.

P
age 91



4 bed cluster

terrace

st. 3.9m²

4B6P
100m²

student accommodation

residential accommodation

circulation

workshop

bin store

bike store

ancillary

energy centre

retail units

m 54321

N

2B3P
61m²

3B4P
72m²

st. 2.0m²

st.
2.7m²

st.
2.5m²

planter

balcony

terrace

6 Bed Cluster

ancillary store

ancillary store

storage

kitchen/living/dining

5 bed cluster4 bed cluster

kitchen/living/dining kitchen/living/dining

5 bed cluster4 bed cluster

kitchen/living/dining

notes

date

project no.

drawing

job title

scale

status drawn/checked

client

drawing no. revision

Arturus Architects LLP, Brentwood, 48 Eastf ield,  Br istol ,  BS9 4BE
+44(0)117 316 9467 |  www.ar turus.co.uk |  mai lbox@ar turus.co.uk

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling this drawing.
Use figured dimensions only. This drawing is copyright. ©2021 Arturus Architects LLP.

Crescent Property Developments

86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft &
Croft Dale

Proposed First Floor Plan

4045 (08)162 C 1:100@A1

26.07.22 planning gm/rg

A  09.11.22 Student layout and landscaping amended.
B  17.11.22  landscaping amended
C  02.02.23  Workshop entrance and access gates amended on LGF.

P
age 92



student accommodation

residential accommodation

circulation

workshop

bin store

bike store

ancillary

energy centre

retail units

m 54321

N

5 bed cluster4 bed cluster

ancillary store

storage

6 bed cluster

kitchen/living/dining

kitchen/living/dining kitchen/living/dining

notes

date

project no.

drawing

job title

scale

status drawn/checked

client

drawing no. revision

Arturus Architects LLP, Brentwood, 48 Eastf ield,  Br istol ,  BS9 4BE
+44(0)117 316 9467 |  www.ar turus.co.uk |  mai lbox@ar turus.co.uk

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling this drawing.
Use figured dimensions only. This drawing is copyright. ©2021 Arturus Architects LLP.

Crescent Property Developments

86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft &
Croft Dale

Proposed Second Floor Plan

4045 (08)163 C 1:100@A1

26.07.22 planning gm/rg

A  09.11.22 Student layout and landscaping amended.
B  17.11.22  landscaping amended
C  02.02.23  Workshop entrance and access gates amended on LGF.

P
age 93



+25.04

+26.00 ground

+29.00 first

+23.00 lower ground

+25.56
+25.33

+22.70

+32.00 second

 lower ground +22.70

ground +25.70

first +28.70

datum +20.00

parapet +29.80

ridge +34.84

+35.5 parapet

+20.00 datum

+25.04

+34.31 ridge

+25.46+25.40 +25.46

section/elevation B-B

section/elevation A-A

+20.00 datum

+20.00 datum

m 54321

A

B A

B

notes

date

project no.

drawing

job title

scale

status drawn/checked

client

drawing no. revision

Arturus Architects LLP, Brentwood, 48 Eastf ield,  Br istol ,  BS9 4BE
+44(0)117 316 9467 |  www.ar turus.co.uk |  mai lbox@ar turus.co.uk

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling this drawing.
Use figured dimensions only. This drawing is copyright. ©2022 Arturus Architects LLP.

Crescent Property Developments

86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft &
Croft Dale

Proposed Section Elevation 
A-A & B-B

4045 (08)230 A 1:100@A1

26.07.22 planning gm/rg

A  09.11.22 Sections AA and BB amended.

P
age 94



student accommodation

residential accommodation

circulation

workshop

bin store

bike store

ancillary

energy centre

retail units

m 54321

N

kitchen/living/dining

4 bed cluster

6 bed cluster

roof light
above

notes

date

project no.

drawing

job title

scale

status drawn/checked

client

drawing no. revision

Arturus Architects LLP, Brentwood, 48 Eastf ield,  Br istol ,  BS9 4BE
+44(0)117 316 9467 |  www.ar turus.co.uk |  mai lbox@ar turus.co.uk

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling this drawing.
Use figured dimensions only. This drawing is copyright. ©2021 Arturus Architects LLP.

Crescent Property Developments

86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft &
Croft Dale

Proposed Third Floor Plan

4045 (08)164 C 1:100@A1

26.07.22 planning gm/rg

A  09.11.22 Student layout and landscaping amended.
B  17.11.22  landscaping amended
C  02.02.23  Workshop entrance and access gates amended on LGF.

P
age 95



section/elevation C-C

+24.61

+23.64

+23.03

+22.24

+24.54

+25.04

+22.21
+22.70

+28.70

+25.27
+24.88 +25.05

+25.25

+22.70 lower ground

+25.70 ground

+28.70 first

+20.00 datum

+29.80 parapet

+34.84 ridge

+29.20 parapet

+34.31 ridge

+22.70 lower ground

+25.70 ground

+28.70 first

+20.00 datum

datum +20.00

datum +20.00

m 54321

+25.70

section/elevation D-D

D

C

C

D

m

54321

N

notes

date

project no.

drawing

job title

scale

status drawn/checked

client

drawing no. revision

Arturus Architects LLP, Brentwood, 48 Eastf ield,  Br istol ,  BS9 4BE
+44(0)117 316 9467 |  www.ar turus.co.uk |  mai lbox@ar turus.co.uk

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling this drawing.
Use figured dimensions only. This drawing is copyright. ©2022 Arturus Architects LLP.

Crescent Property Developments

86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft &
Croft Dale

Proposed Section Elevation 
C-C & D-D

4045 (08)231 C 1:100@A1

26.07.22 planning gm/rg

A  09.11.22 Sections CC and DD amended.
B  18.11.22 Door added to section/elevation D-D.
C  02.02.23  Workshop entrance and access gates amended on LGF.

P
age 96



datum +20.00

Existing East Elevation - Facing Stokes Croft

datum +20.00

Proposed East Elevation - Facing Stokes Croft

Additional storey added
render, stone dressing and windows to match existing

J

J

m

54321

N

notes

date

project no.

drawing

job title

scale

status drawn/checked

client

drawing no. revision

Arturus Architects LLP, Brentwood, 48 Eastf ield,  Br istol ,  BS9 4BE
+44(0)117 316 9467 |  www.ar turus.co.uk |  mai lbox@ar turus.co.uk

Responsibility is not accepted for errors made by others in scaling this drawing.
Use figured dimensions only. This drawing is copyright. ©2022 Arturus Architects LLP.

Crescent Property Developments

86-92 & 96-102 Stokes Croft &
Croft Dale

Existing & Proposed
East Elevation Facing Stokes Croft

4045 (08)234 1:100@A1

17.11.22 planning gm/rg

P
age 97



27/02/23  10:13   Committee report 

 

Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
 

 
ITEM NO.  2 
 

 
WARD: Filwood   
 
SITE ADDRESS: 

 
83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

 
APPLICATION NO: 

 
22/02730/X 
 

 
Variation/Deletion of a Condition 

DETERMINATION 
DEADLINE: 

10 March 2023 
 

Application for the amendment of conditions following consent granted under application 
no.21/03335/X -  30 (hours of operation) and 32 (list of approved drawings) - now proposed change 
to hours of opening to 06:00 - 19:00 Monday to Fridays and 08:00 - 19:00 Saturday, Sundays & Bank 
Holidays to allow street cleansing staff to collect their vehicles at 06:00 and at 07:00 to allow staff to 
enter the site to ensure the HRRC is ready for opening to the public at 08:00. Changes to site layout 
relating to modular building moved south with addition of ramps, firewater tank moved, addition of 
diesel tank and addition of substation. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

 
Grant subject to Condition(s) 

 
AGENT: 

 
SLR Consulting Ltd 
Treenwood House Rowden Lane 
Bradford On Avon 
BA15 2AU 
 

 
APPLICANT: 

 
Bristol Waste Company 
Albert Road 
Bristol 
BS2 0XS 
 

The following plan is for illustrative purposes only, and cannot be guaranteed to be up to date. 
 
LOCATION PLAN: 

 
 

DO NOT SCALE Page 98

Agenda Item 9b



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

    
SUMMARY 
 
This application has been brought before Members in the public interest given the nature of the 
proposal. 
 
The application seeks the variation of the hours of operation of the HRRC to allow operations on site to 
now also be undertaken between 6:00 and 8:00 (Mondays to Fridays, but not including Bank Holidays). 
Currently the site operates between 8:00 and 19:00.  
 
Following consideration and negotiation with BCC's Pollution Control Team the increase in operational 
hours is considered acceptable. This is subject to the adherence to the submitted Extension of 
Operating Hours - Noise Management Plan which sets out specifically what activities are to be 
undertaken during the earlier hours. This plan is secured by condition. 
 
An assessment of the noise in accordance with BS4142, which takes into account the impulsivity and 
intermittentness of the noise from the centre, finds that between 06:00 and 07:00 noise from all the 
activities proposed will be lower the background noise level at nearby residential properties at Headley 
Lane and Novers Hill. Whilst this does not necessarily mean that all noises from the centre will not be 
audible at nearby premises it does mean that they should not cause any adverse impact or harm to 
residents. It should also be noted that this conclusion is based on the noisier activities (which will in 
reality only be carried out after 07:00 as set out in the Extension of Operating Hours - Noise 
Management Plan) being carried out between 06.00 and 07.00 when the background noise level, largely 
due to traffic, would be expected to be lower. 
 
As a result, no objection is raised in respect of the proposed earlier opening hours subject to the 
operations happening within the stated time periods as set out in the Extension of Operating Hours - 
Noise Management Plan and associated condition. 
 
The application also seeks variation of the layout of the site to allow minor changes to improve 
operational working and accessibility. These alterations do not differ substantially from the originally 
proposed scheme and there for the visual impact is acceptable. 
 
The recommendation to Members is therefore to APPROVE the application subject to conditions. 
 
 
BACKGROUND 
 
The site is located on the eastern side of Hartcliffe Way and was previously occupied by Bristol City 
Council's street cleansing contractor and is also used as a store for the Council's supply of road salt 
and fleet of gritting lorries prior to being re-developed as a HRRC which is now in operation. 
 
The site is within a designated Principal Industrial and Warehousing Area (PIWA). The adjoining site to 
the site to the south has an allocation (BSA1119) within the Local Plan for Industry and Warehousing 
or a HWRC. 
 
Hartcliffe Way itself is situated in a valley between two residential areas, Knowle West to the east and 
both Headley Lane/Bishopsworth to the west. On the west side of Hartcliffe Way between the main road 
and Headley Lane is the northern tip of Crox Bottom a Site of National Conservation Interest (SNCI) 
and the eastern section of the Malago Valley SNCI. The Bishopsworth and Malago Conservation Area 
is also located west of the site and include the area of Manor Woods Valley Local Nature Reserve/Open 
Space which extends south into Bishopsworth. The site is surrounded to the east and south by the 
Pigeonhouse Stream and adjacent meadows SNCI which also extends into the south-western corner 
of the site.  
 

Page 99



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

The land that is located at Novers Hill, east of Hartcliffe Way and west of Novers Lane/ Novers Hill (site 
refs: BSA1108 and BSA1114) is allocated within the Bristol Local Plan, Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies as suitable for housing and industry. 
 
 
RELEVANT HISTORY 
 
56/02750/U_U Erect Transport Depot. 2 November 1956 NO OBJECTION 
 
57/01703/U_U Erection of Paper Baler House. 9 July 1957 NO OBJECTION 
 
59/03725/U_U Erection of an extension to existing paper baling depot for handling waste cardboard. 24 
December 1959 NO OBJECTION 
 
61/03546/U_U Erection of Composting Plant at the rear of Cleansing Depot. 2 November 1961 NO 
OBJECTION 
 
62/00044/U_U Erection of Weighbridge & Office. 2 February 1962 NO OBJECTION 
 
69/00229/P_U Extend Cleansing Depot to form Car Park. 9 April 1969 NO OBJECTION 
 
75/03547/U_S Alterations to existing building and provision of new access ramp and loading bays in 
waste paper baling shed. 4 December 1975 NO OBJECTION 
 
88/03812/S Hartcliffe Way Depot, Hartcliffe Way, Hartcliffe, Bristol. Glass storage area. 20 January 
1989 NO OBJECTION 
 
94/01395/C Depot for the storage of vehicles incorporating office accommodation, storage building, fuel 
island & bunkers 20 July 1994 PERMISSSION GRANTED 
 
12/05168/F Redevelopment of existing depot to create a new household waste recycling centre. New 
carriageway junction, bridge and revised internal layout. Demolition of building C and partial demolition 
of building B (Major application) 2 July 2013 PERMISSSION GRANTED 
 
13/00500/SCR Request for a Screening Opinion as to whether an Environmental Impact Assessment 
is required for a proposed recycling centre. 22 June 2012 NOT EIA 
 
19/04644/SCR Request for a Screening Opinion as to whether an Environmental Impact Assessment 
is required for a proposed Household Reuse and Recycling Centre (HRRC). 11 October 2019 NOT EIA 
 
19/05204/F Construction and operation of a split level Household Recycling (with Canopy) and Re-Use 
Centre, with demolition of some existing structures and retention of existing office and welfare facilities; 
vehicle parking and manoeuvring area; drainage and water management system, perimeter fencing, 
lighting, retaining walls, tree planting, 2no new vehicle bridges, separate pedestrian access, temporary 
construction haul road with ancillary off-site highway improvement works to facilitate new access and 
egress points at 83 Hartcliffe Way. GRANTED 10.08.2020 
 
21/03335/X Application for removal and variation of conditions 23 (ANPR system) and 32 (List of 
Approved Plans) of permission 19/05204/F - Construction and operation of a split level Household 
Recycling (with Canopy) and Re-Use Centre, with demolition of some existing structures and retention 
of existing office and welfare facilities - proposed removal of condition 23 as it is proposed to use a 'pre-
booking time slot system' to control the source/number of vehicles using the site and vary condition 32 
as revised drawings are required in relation to the demolition of the existing office building and 
replacement with modular office. GRANTED 11.11.2021 
 

Page 100



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 
COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT  
 
The proposed minor nature of the amendment means there is no requirement for the applicant to 
demonstrate community engagement prior to submitting the application. It is however noted that a 
Statement of Community Involvement was submitted as part of the original permission under application 
reference 19/05204/F. 
 
 
APPLICATION DETAIL 
 
The application sought the amendment of conditions following consent granted under application 
no.21/03335/X - 30 (hours of operation) and 32 (list of approved drawings) - now proposed change to 
hours of opening to 06:00 to allow street cleansing staff to collect their vehicles  and at 07:00 to allow 
staff to enter the site to ensure the HRRC is ready for opening to the public at 08:00. Changes to site 
layout relating to modular building moved south with addition of ramps, firewater tank moved, addition 
of diesel tank and addition of substation. 
 
Following negotiations which are discussed in detail in the Key Issue below, the Description of 
Development has been amended to: 
 
Application for the amendment of conditions following consent granted under application no.21/03335/X 
-  30 (hours of operation) and 32 (list of approved drawings) - now proposed change to hours of opening 
to 06:00 - 19:00 Monday to Fridays and 08:00 - 19:00 Saturday, Sundays & Bank Holidays to allow 
street cleansing staff to collect their vehicles at 06:00 and at 07:00 to allow staff to enter the site to 
ensure the HRRC is ready for opening to the public at 08:00. Changes to site layout relating to modular 
building moved south with addition of ramps, firewater tank moved, addition of diesel tank and addition 
of substation. 
 
 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION 
 
Initial Consultation 
 
The application was initially publicised through site notices and an advert in a local paper.  In addition, 
individual notification letters were sent out to neighbouring premises. 
 
5no. objections were received and are summarised below (full comments can be read on the BCC 
website) 
 
- Site opening at 06:00 and 07:00 and changes to the site layout with additional ramps and tanks.  This 
will create additional noise throughout the valley. This should have been planned for from the outset, 
how much has this additional work cost council tax payers. 
 
- When shall we expect the amendment to this amendment? It is interesting that the proposal document 
sent by the council was received on the day the site opened. 
 
- There are no dates for when these proposals should be started or finished 
 
- The increase in volume of all traffic including recycle lorries, metro bus and general traffic throughout 
the day using Novers Lane leading into Novers Hill as a short cut. Has increased the noise pollution I 
am having to put up with.  
 
- The noise throughout the day not just during peak traffic time's has increased considerably and is 
constant 

Page 101



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 
- This picturesque valley is also a virtual echo chamber, which loudly accentuates and reverberates 
most sounds throughout the valley - especially at night and during the early hours of the day. Having 1-
2 hours of constant heavy vehicle manoeuvring at this highly sensitive time of the day, would be 
intolerable, insensitive and exceptionally disturbing to the peace and tranquillity of most inhabitants so 
early in 
the morning.  
 
- If the site needs to open at 08:00am, can accept the need for prior preparation by staff to open up. 
However, no plausible reason for street cleaning staff to collect their vehicles before 07:00am at the 
earliest.  
 
- The noise from the facility is already loud, too loud for a residential area. It already begins very early 
in the day and is of course worse in the summer when windows need to be left open overnight. The 
climate emergency means that temperatures will get hotter with the increased need to have windows 
open for ventilation. 
 
- The facility opens 7 days a week, there is no respite from the noise.  
 
- The noise data submitted with this application seems to be from before the recycling centre opened? 
There is now real noise data that can be recorded and used for the basis of this decision. 
 
- Although noise impact assessments concluded that there is a 'negligible' risk of adverse impact from 
noise, this does not mean that there will not be an increase in noise, at a very anti-social time in the 
early morning, 7 days a week 
 
- Surely it is possible to carry out all the activities listed in 'Table 2-1 Summary of Proposed Site 
Operations' between the hours of 08:00-09:00am? 
 
- Bulk haulage loaded out (green waste, black bag and wood) sounds like an activity that should be 
carried out post 08:00, there must be other options open to the HRRC? 
 
Re-consultation 
 
Following officer concerns regarding the information contained within the noise report (specifically the 
lack of realistic assessment of the noise impacts when the facility had been opened) a further noise 
assessment was requested. As such a further public re-consultation was undertaken once this had been 
received. 
 
2no. objections were received and are summarised below (full comments can be read on the BCC 
website) 
 
- The noise of the reversing warning beeping travels all the way up Manor Valley to Brooklyn Road and 
Ilchester Crescent 
 
- Nothing further has been added to ensure that an earlier opening of the site does not continue to 
disrupt local people. 
 
- If there is a genuine need to get equipment at this time it was known long in advance of this specific 
application.  
 
- This site is already causing noise disruption. For example see complaint ref: 29274273. This is 
happening already at the existing starting times. (Case Officer Note: This complaint reference number 
is not recognised as generated by BCC so we cannot comment on this. As noted below the Pollution 
Control Officer notes there have been no complaints received by the Neighbourhood Enforcement Team 

Page 102



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

regarding noise or other nuisances from the operation of the Household Recycling Site since it opened 
in June 2022. Issues relating to noise disturbance are discussed in detail in the key issue below). 
 
- Bristol Waste should be reducing the opening hours in an effort to save money. There is not a need 
to be open so early. I've passed by the site and it is not busy at that early time. And I've visited the site, 
it is never full. 
 
- Bristol Waste should be transparent about the use of the site. Publish the data showing number of 
visits across the day. And then make the case for extended hours based on that. Bristol Waste is 
charging for services when it could reduce running costs. 
 
- Times have changed since this application was first submitted, they should think again about whether 
they can run effectively during the existing hours or reduce the opening hours. It will not increase 
flytipping, as booking slots are not fully used already. 
 
 
OTHER COMMENTS 
 
BCC Transport Development Management has commented as follows:- 
 
Condition 30 
 
BWC would like to operate 4 street cleansing vehicles from the site from 06:00. This is earlier than the 
current opening time of 08:00. Similarly, BWC are seeking that staff should be allowed to arrive at 07:00. 
 
These changes would be considered to have a very minor effect on traffic flows in the area and therefore 
we have no objection to the proposal. 
 
Condition 32 
 
A number of minor changes are required to the layout including modular office building moved south 
and addition of access ramps, firewater tank moved, addition of a diesel tank and addition of a 
substation. The substation has required the cycle rack location to be moved. 
 
These changes are minor and are not considered to have any significant transport impacts. 
 
We therefore have no objection to the proposed variations of conditions. 
 
BCC Pollution Control has commented as follows:- 
 
Please refer to Key Issue below and full comments set out on the BCC website. 
 
Environment Agency (Sustainable Places) has commented as follows:- 
 
We have no objections to the variation of condition 32 approved drawings 
 
BCC Contaminated Land Environmental Protection has commented as follows:- 
 
Following receipt of the following detailed information regarding the fuel tank we have no objection to 
the proposed variation. Presuming the outstanding conditions are discharged under the separate 
application no further conditions will be required in the event this variation is issued: 
 
The diesel tank is situated an impermeable, bunded operations yard designed specifically to contain 
volumes far in excess of the total loss of the diesel tank. The bunded operational area is protected by 
an electrically operated Penstock valve. Full operation training has been given to the emergency 

Page 103



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

response team. This will prevent contaminates entering into the foul system which is separate from the 
storm water system. Should a total loss occur, the diesel will be contained in the yard for specialist clean 
up . 
 
Absorbent material (spill kits) will be available on site and will be deployed to contain drips and small 
spillages. Plant operators and construction staff will be trained by the BWC with regard to spill 
prevention/mitigation measures and procedures and in the use of relevant mitigation material (e.g. spill 
kits) The Diesel tank is covered 24/7 by motion activated CCTV which is monitored remotely by the 
BCC integrated security system this will mitigate vandalism  
 
There is an interceptor on the site and the water would discharge to foul drainage sewer through a 
separator and not to the Pigeonhouse stream. 
 
BCC Flood Risk Manager has commented as follows:- 
 
We have no comment or objections to the variation of Condition 32, given it does not impact the drainage 
plan 
 
BCC Urban Design has commented as follows:- 
 
Urban Design Surgery - Verbal Comment 06.07.22 
 
Given the nature of the operation, the changes will not alter the overall visual impact of the facility. The 
trees/vegetation on the frontage and edges of the site are crucial in softening the appearance of the 
HRRC and the proposals should not negatively impact on those areas/planting already approved. 
 
 
RELEVANT POLICIES 
 
PAN 2 Conservation Area Enhancement Statements (November 1993) 
Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
 
National Planning Policy Framework – July 2021 
Bristol Local Plan comprising Core Strategy (Adopted June 2011), Site Allocations and Development 
Management Policies (Adopted July 2014) and (as appropriate) the Bristol Central Area Plan (Adopted 
March 2015) and (as appropriate) the Old Market Quarter Neighbourhood Development Plan 2016 and 
Lawrence Weston Neighbourhood Development Plan 2017 and the Hengrove and Whitchurch Park 
Neighbourhood Development Plan 2019. 
 
In determining this application, the Local Planning Authority has had regard to all relevant policies of 
the Bristol Local Plan and relevant guidance. 
 
KEY ISSUE - ARE THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS ACCEPTABLE 
 
Change to Hours of Operation 
 
Section 12 (Achieving Well-Designed Places) of the NPPF outlines that planning policies and decisions 
should ensure that development create places with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users. Policy BCS21 (Quality Urban Design) of the adopted Core Strategy states that new development 
should safeguard the amenity of existing development. Policy DM30 (Alterations to Existing Buildings) 
of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies (Adopted July 2014) states that 
extensions and alterations to buildings will be expected to safeguard the amenity of the host premises 
and neighbouring occupiers. Finally, Policy DM35 (Noise Mitigation) of the Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies (Adopted July 2014) outlines that development which would have 
an unacceptable impact on environmental amenity or biodiversity by reason of noise will be expected 

Page 104



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

to provide an appropriate scheme of mitigation. 
 
The applicant Bristol Waste Company (BWC) has applied for an extension of the Hartcliffe Way 
Household Re-use and Recycling Centre (HRRC) site opening hours which were originally agreed 
under application reference 19/05201/F and originally conditioned as follows: 
 
''No operation on site in association with the recycling or re use of waste shall take place outside the 
hours of 08:00 - 19:00 (except for in the event of an emergency)  
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby premises and the area generally'' 
 
The applicant has set out that the reasons for the requested change to the opening hours within the 
application documents which are as follows: 
 
- BWC would like to operate 4 street cleansing vehicles from the site but as these vehicles would need 
to leave the site before it opens to the public at 08.00, BWC are seeking an extension to the opening 
hours, to enable street cleansing staff to access the site from 06.00.  
 
- BWC would like some HRRC staff to arrive at the site at 07.00 in order to get the site ready for opening 
to the public at 08.00.  
 
A BCC Pollution Control officer reviewed the information submitted to support BWC's application. As a 
result initial concerns were flagged, with the Pollution Control Officer commenting that whilst the 
extension of hours here for cleansing staff to arrive, some vehicles to leave and some load out of some 
waste was unlikely to cause any harm to residents in the area, they were not convinced that the noise 
assessment had fully assessed all the activities that were to be carried out between 6 am & 8 am in 
reality.  Several operations including the HRRC Hooklift, bulk haulage loaded out and onsite RORO 
exchanges had not been included in the assessment. Due to the sensitivities of this site and the 
objections raised by residents it was felt that an assessment based on actual noise levels created during 
all the activities proposed to be carried out between 6 am and 8 am was required.  
 
The applicant subsequently undertook a revised noise assessment as requested. Following receipt, the 
Pollution Control officer reviewed the assessment accordingly and concluded: 
 
''This application is for the amendment of condition 30 which restricts the hour of operation to between 
06:00 - 08.00. The applicant has provided a noise assessment which details the activities will be carried 
out during the extended hours. 
 
The noise assessment for the extended hours is based on all activities that could be carried out between 
06.00 and 08.00 being carried out between 06:00 and 07:00. It has to be noted that noisier activities, 
such as the load out of some waste will not commence until after 07:00 and the assessment can 
therefore very much be considered as a worst-case scenario with noisier activities being carried out at 
the quieter time. Only some vehicle movements will occur between 06:00 and 07:00.  
 
The applicant has further indicated that the increase in hours will only be required for weekdays with no 
extension of hours being needed on Saturday, Sundays, or Bank Holidays. 
 
An assessment of the noise in accordance with BS4142, which takes into account the impulsivity and 
intermittentness of the noise from the centre, finds that between 06:00 and 07:00 noise from all the 
activities in table 2-1 will be lower the background noise level at nearby residential properties at Headley 
Lane and Novers Hill. Whilst this does not necessarily mean that all noises from the centre will not be 
audible at nearby premises it does mean that they should not cause any adverse impact or harm to 
residents. Again this is based on the noisier activities which will only be carried out after 07:00 being 
carried out between 06.00 and 07.00 when the background noise level, largely due to traffic, would be 
expected to be lower.'' 

Page 105



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 
As a result, no objection is raised in respect of the opening hours subject to the operations set out 
happening within the stated time periods. To ensure this will happen, the applicant was asked to update 
the noise assessment to reflect further clarifications received in correspondence. The applicant was 
also asked to produce an Extension of Operating Hours - Noise Management Plan to specifically set 
out what tasks will be undertaken and when (clarified in the table below) and how noise 
complaints/queries will be avoided or addressed if necessary.  
 

 
 
Following receipt of these documents the Pollution Control Officer reviewed them and commented as 
follows: 
 
''I refer to my previous comments on this application and the revised Operating Hours-Noise 
Management Plan submitted on 20 February. 
 
I now feel that the plan suitably controls activities that will be carried out before 7 am and offers a 
comprehensive measure that should be taken to prevent noise along with a noise monitoring procedure 
should any complaints of noise be made.  
 
For completeness I have also checked the Council's records and can see that no complaints have been 
received by the Neighbourhood Enforcement Team regarding noise or other nuisances from the 
operation of the Household Recycling Site since it opened in June 2022. 

Page 106



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 
I therefore no longer have any objection to this application.'' 
 
The revised hours of operation and associated Extension of Operating Hours - Noise Management Plan 
are therefore accepted as being suitable to reasonably mitigate harmful impacts of the increased hours 
of operation by virtue of noise nuisance. These are conditioned accordingly to ensure compliance for 
the lifetime of the development. 
 
In addition to the above, Transport Development Management (TDM) have confirmed that the changes 
to the hours of operation would be considered to have a very minor effect on traffic flows in the area 
and therefore have no objection to the proposal on highways grounds. 
 
Re-siting of Replacement Modular Building and other Layout Changes 
 
The Authority is required (under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 
Act 1990) to pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of the conservation area. The case of R (Forge Field Society) v Sevenoaks DC [2014] 
EWHC 1895 (Admin) ("Forge Field") has made it clear where there is harm to a listed building or a 
conservation area the decision maker ''must give that harm considerable importance and weight." [48]. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021 states that when considering the impact of a 
proposed development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given 
to the asset's conservation (and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be). This 
is irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to substantial harm, total loss or less than 
substantial harm to its significance. Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a designated heritage 
asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), should require clear and 
convincing justification. 
 
Para 195 states that where a proposed development will lead to substantial harm to (or total loss of 
significance of) a designated heritage asset, local planning authorities should refuse consent, unless it 
can be demonstrated that the substantial harm or total loss is necessary to achieve substantial public 
benefits that outweigh that harm or loss. Para 196 further states that where a development proposal will 
lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should 
be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its 
optimum viable use. Para 197 also states that the effect of an application on the significance of a non-
designated heritage asset should be considered in determining the application. In weighing applications 
that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required 
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage asset. 
 
In addition, Bristol Core Strategy (Adopted 2011) Policy BCS22 seeks to ensure that development 
proposals safeguard or enhance heritage assets in the city with Policy DM31 in the Site Allocations and 
Development Management Policies (Adopted 2014) expressing that alterations to buildings should 
preserve or enhance historic settings. 
 
Policy BCS21 also requires new development in Bristol to deliver high quality urban design and sets 
out criteria to measure developments against including the need for development to contribute positively 
to an area's character and identity, creating or reinforcing local distinctiveness. Policy DM27 expresses 
that the layout, form, pattern and arrangement of streets, buildings and landscapes should contribute 
towards to creation of quality urban space and that the height, scale and massing of development should 
be appropriate to the immediate context, site constraints, character of adjoining streets and spaces and 
setting. Policy DM26 expands upon BCS21 by outlining the criteria against which a development's 
response to local character and distinctiveness will be assessed. Development will not be permitted 
where it would be harmful to local character and distinctiveness or where it would fail to take the 
opportunities available to improve the character and quality of the area and the way it functions. This 
policy states that development should also respond appropriately to the height, scale, massing, shape, 

Page 107



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

form and proportion of existing buildings, building lines and set-backs from the street, 
skylines and roofscapes. Policy DM29 further states that the design of new buildings should be of high 
quality. 
 
Alterations are proposed to the site layout approved under application reference 21/03335/X as follows: 
 
-The modular office building will be moved south from the approved location - the change has arisen as 
more room for foundation pads to the north were required and to avoid a clash with existing services 
and make the office wheelchair accessible.  
 
- The firewater tank has been moved from the north west of the site to a location to the south of the 
perimeter road. The proposed location is on even ground and in a more practical location.  
 
-A diesel tank and forklift charging point needed to be included at the site and these are shown close to 
the south eastern boundary 
 
-The inclusion of a substation to the east of the Reuse Building has required the cycle racks previously 
shown in this location, to be relocated to the west of the office building 
 
- Western Power Distribution (WPD) have confirmed that a high voltage connection is needed at the 
site hence the need for a substation. The substation will comprise a generic WPD glass reinforced 
plastic (GRP) cabinet measuring 2.3m in height and 3.1m in length. The cabinet will be 2.265m wide. 
The cabinet will be dark green and would not be overly visible from outside of the site. 
 
- In order to accommodate the proposed street cleansing vehicles at Hartcliffe Way, four parking spaces 
will be demarcated to the north of the office building. The drivers of the street cleansing vehicles would 
leave their private cars in these spaces during the day. One of the containers in the operational area 
would also be repurposed to accommodate the street cleansing equipment i.e., bin bags, shovels, 
brooms. 
 
Overall, the proposed changes to the layout of the HRRC are minor in nature or are located well within 
the site away from the most visible vantage points from Hartcliffe Way. As such the impact of the 
proposals remain similar to that already approved and as such would not result in such harm to the site 
or surrounding area including views from the adjacent Conservation Area to warrant refusal in this 
instance.  
 
TDM have also commented that the changes are minor and are not considered to have any significant 
transport impacts. 
 
 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
These changes would be considered to have a very minor effect on traffic flows in the area and therefore 
no objection to the proposal on highways grounds 
 
Matters relating to Flood Risk and Contamination are acceptable as per comments above. 
 
All matters relating to payment of planning obligations have been fulfilled and are not required to be 
duplicated on this permission. 
 
 
CONCLUSION  
 
Approval is recommended accordingly. 
 

Page 108



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN 

27-Feb-23

EQUALITIES ASSESSMENT 

The public sector equalities duty is a material planning consideration as the duty is engaged through 
the public body decision making process. 

"S149 of the Equality Act 2010 provides that a public authority must in the exercise of its functions have 
due regard to:- 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment ,victimisation and any other conduct prohibited under the Act

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it

(c) foster good relationships between persons who share a relevant characteristic and those who do
not share it.

During the determination of this application due regard has been given to the impact of the scheme 
upon people who share the protected characteristics of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage 
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 

The proposal will insofar as the opening hours amendment have a neutral impact on equality matters, 
however the proposed alterations to the office building to include accessible ramps will improve the 
working environment for those employees and visitors to the site that may have mobility and any other 
associated issues regarding accessing buildings.  

It is considered that there will be a positive impact on equalities overall. 

RECOMMENDED GRANT subject to condition(s) 

Pre occupation condition(s) 

1. Verification Report

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the Verification Report and associated
Appendices dated September 2022 (ref: P19108_R14 R1) prepared by Yellow Sub Geo and the
Covering Letter (P19108_L03_BCC) dated 9th September 2002 submitted under
22/02623/COND.

Within 3 months of the date of this permission, a final validation report which includes the
validation of clean cover for soft landscaped areas shall be submitted to, and approved in writing,
by the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and
neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. This is in line with
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

2. PV Panel Details

The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the following information approved
under application reference 20/03844/COND

Page 109



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 - MECHANICAL, ELECTRICAL & PLUMBING - PERFORMANCE SPECIFICATION Rev P01 
dated August 2020 prepared by Services Design Solution Ltd (insofar it relates to PV Panels) 

 - Building Modelling & Simulation SBEM Report Rev P01 dated 18.02.2020 prepared by 
Services Design Solution Ltd 

 - Energy & Sustainability Planning Report Rev P01 dated 5 June 2020 prepared by Services 
Design Solution Ltd 

  
 Within 3 months of the date of this permission, the following information shall then be submitted 

to the Local Planning Authority and approved in writing. 
  
 o Evidence of the PV system as installed including exact location, technical specification and 

projected annual energy yield (kWh/year) of the installed system e.g. a copy of the MCS 
installer's certificate.  

  
 o A calculation showing that the projected annual yield of the installed system is in combination 

with other on-site renewables sufficient to reduce residual CO2 emissions by the percentage 
shown in the approved Energy Statement.  

  
 The approved renewable technology shall then be installed and operational prior to the first 

occupation/operation of the use which they serve and retained as operational thereafter in 
perpetuity. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the development contributes to mitigating and adapting to climate 

change and to meeting targets to reduce carbon dioxide emissions 
 
 3. Protection of Retained Trees and Vegetation During the Construction Period 
  
 The approved fence(s) as shown on Drawing No. 191010-HAR-TPP-Rev A-DB&AM Tree 

Protection Plan prepared by Hillside Trees Ltd shall be maintained until all equipment, machinery 
and surplus materials have been removed from the site.  Within the fenced area(s) there shall 
be no scaffolding, no stockpiling of any materials or soil, no machinery or other equipment 
parked or operated, no traffic over the root system, no changes to the soil level, no excavation 
of trenches, no site huts, no fires lit, no dumping of toxic chemicals and no retained trees shall 
be used for winching purposes.  If any retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, 
another tree shall be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such size and species, 
and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the council. 

  
 Reason:  To protect the retained trees from damage during construction, including all ground 

works and works that may be required by other conditions, and in recognition of the contribution 
which the retained tree(s) give(s) and will continue to give to the amenity of the area. 

 
 4. Energy and Sustainability in accordance with the Energy Statement 
  
 The development hereby approved shall incorporate the energy efficiency measures, renewable 

energy, sustainable design principles and climate change adaptation measures into the design 
and construction of the development in full accordance with the Sustainability Statement (ref: 
SLR Ref: 402.08721.00003 Version No: 3 February 2020 received 25-02-2020) prepared by 
SLR Consulting Limited prior to the first occupation/operation of the development.  

  
 A total 35.5% reduction in carbon dioxide emissions beyond Part L 2013 Building Regulations 

in line with the energy hierarchy shall be achieved, and a reduction in residual carbon dioxide 
emissions of 20% or more shall be achieved through on-site renewable technologies. 

   
 Reason: To ensure the development incorporates measures to minimise the effects of, and can 

adapt to a changing climate in accordance with policies BCS13 (Climate Change), BC14 

Page 110



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

(sustainable energy), BCS15 (Sustainable design and construction), DM29 (Design of new 
buildings). 

 
 5. Completion of Pedestrians/Cyclists Access - Shown on approved plans 
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or the use commenced until the means 

of access for pedestrians and/or cyclists have been constructed in accordance with the approved 
plans and shall thereafter be retained for access purposes only. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 
 6. Completion and Maintenance of Vehicular Servicing facilities - Shown on approved plans 
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until the facilities for 

loading, unloading, circulation and manoeuvring have been completed in accordance with the 
approved plans.  Thereafter, these areas shall be kept free of obstruction and available for these 
uses. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that there are adequate servicing facilities within the site in the interests of 

highway safety. 
 
 7. Completion and Maintenance of Car/Vehicle Parking - Shown on Approved Plans  
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until the car/vehicle 

parking areas (and turning spaces) shown on the approved plans has been completed and 
thereafter the area shall be kept free of obstruction and available for the parking of vehicles 
associated with the development.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that there are adequate parking facilities to serve the development 

constructed to an acceptable standard. 
 
 8. Completion of Vehicular Access - Shown on Approved Plans 
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or use commenced until the means of 

vehicular access has been constructed and completed in accordance with the approved plans 
and the said means of vehicular access shall thereafter be retained for access purposes only 
for the lifetime of the development. Any access point opening onto the adopted highway shall 
include suitable drainage provision within the curtilage of the site, to prevent the discharge of 
any surface water onto the adopted highway. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the vehicular access point is safe and includes adequate drainage. 
 
 9. Completion and Maintenance of Cycle Provision - Shown on approved plans 
  
 No building or use hereby permitted shall be occupied or the use commenced until the cycle 

parking provision shown on the approved plans has been completed, and thereafter, be kept 
free of obstruction and available for the parking of cycles only. 

  
 Reason: To ensure the provision and availability of adequate cycle parking. 
 
10. Highway works - General Arrangement Plan 
  
 The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the information (including the General 

Arrangement Plan H101) submitted under application reference 20/03844/COND 
  

Page 111



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 No development shall take place over the route of any public right of way prior to the confirmation 
of a Town & Country Planning Act 1990 path diversion/stopping up order. 

  
 Prior to first occupation these works shall be completed to the satisfaction of the Highway 

Authority and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of public safety and to ensure that all road works associated with the 

proposed development are: planned; approved in good time (including any statutory processes); 
undertaken to a standard approved by the Local Planning Authority and are completed before 
occupation. 

 
Post occupation management 
 
11. Phasing Plan  
      
 The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the Phasing Plan for Construction 

dated Mon 09/11/20 submitted under application reference 20/03844/COND unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

    
 Reason: To clarify the timescales for the development and ensure the provision of highway 

works whilst ensuring the ongoing function of the public highway surrounding the site. 
 
12. Remediation Strategy 
  
 The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the information approved under 

application reference 20/04918/COND. Any changes to these components require the written 
consent of the local planning authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and 

neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and 
ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. This is in line with 
paragraph 170 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
13. Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) 
  
 The Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), SLR Ref: 402.08721.00003, 

Version No: 3, November 2020 approved under application reference 20/03844/COND shall be 
adhered to throughout the demolition/construction period. 

  
 Reason: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding occupiers during the construction of the 

development. 
 
14. Structure Adjacent To/Within 6m of the Highway  
  
 The development shall be undertaken in full accordance with the information approved under 

application reference 21/00890/COND and the associated AiP. 
  
 Reason: To ensure the works safeguard the structural integrity of the adopted highway during 

the demolition and construction phase of the development. 
  
15. Construction Management Plan - Major Developments 
  
 The Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), SLR Ref: 402.08721.00003, 

Version No: 3, November 2020 which includes the CMP approved under application reference 

Page 112



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

20/03844/COND shall be adhered to throughout the demolition/construction period. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of safe operation of the adopted highway in the lead into development 

both during the demolition and construction phase of the development. 
 
16. Access Bridges - (Flood Risk) 
  
 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed with the soffit levels of the southern and 

northern vehicle access bridges set no lower than 16.1 metres above Ordnance Datum (AOD) 
as shown in drawings 010S Proposed Southern Exit Bridge GA Details SLR Consulting Ltd 
December 2019 and 0101N Proposed Northern Entrance Bridge GA Details SLR Consulting Ltd 
December 2019 respectively. 

  
 Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants. 
 
17. Finished Floor Levels 
  
 The development hereby permitted shall be constructed with finished floor levels set no lower 

than 16.1 metres above Ordnance Datum (AOD) as outlined in section 8.1, page 22 of the Flood 
Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Strategy prepared by SLR Consulting Ltd 
402.08721.00003. v01 October 2019.  

  
 Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants. 
 
18. Detail of timber screens surrounding the concrete bays  
  
 The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the following drawings approved under 

application reference 20/03844/COND and maintained in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority 

  
 3153_L_D_3_02_REV B TIMBER SCREEN DETAIL 
 3153_L REV C PLANTING SCHEDULE 
 3153_L_SW_0_01 _REV F LANDSCAPE SOFTWORKS 
  
 Reason: To protect and enhance the character of the site and the surrounding area and to 

ensure its appearance is satisfactory  
 
19. Landscaping & Tree Planting  
  
 The Landscaping and Tree Planting proposals hereby approved (Landscape-Softworks, Dwg 

3153-L-SW-0-01 Rev C; 3153_L_HWRC - Planting Maintenance Specification & 3153-Planting 
Schedule-HWRC Rev A) shall be carried out no later than during the first planting season 
following the date the is ready for occupation or in accordance with a program of works, details 
of which shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. All planted 
materials shall be maintained for 5 years and any trees removed, dying, being severely damaged 
or become seriously diseased within 5 years of planting shall be replaced with others of a similar 
size and species to those originally required to be planted.  

  
 Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory and in line with Bristol 

City Council Policy DM17 
 
20. Ecological and Landscape Management 
  
 The development hereby approved shall be carried out and then managed and maintained in 

accordance with the full provisions of the Ecological Precautionary Method of Working Version 

Page 113



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

01 dated October 2019; the Landscape and Ecological Management Plan dated October 2019, 
(it should be noted that 3153-Planting Schedule-HWRC Rev A replaces the previous version of 
this document at Appendix A and the Landscape Softworks Drawing 3153-L-SW-0-01 Rev C 
prepared by The Landmark Practice. 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory and in the interests 

of ecology. 
 
21. Artificial Lighting (external)   
  
 Any light created by reason of the development shall meet the Obtrusive Light Limitations for 

Exterior Lighting Installations in table 2 of the Institute of Light Engineers Guidance Notes for 
the Reduction of Obtrusive Lighting, GN01:2011. 

  
 Reason: In order to safeguard the amenities of nearby occupiers and in respect of nature 

conservation. 
 
22. Floodplain Compensation 
  
 The development shall be undertaken, managed and maintained in accordance with the cover 

letter 402.08721.00003 dated 23 May 2022 and reference to EA-002 Revision P0 submitted 
under application reference 22/02623/COND and shall thereafter be maintained and retained as 
approved for the lifetime of development. 

  
 Reason To prevent any increase in flood risk as a result of this development by ensuring 

compensatory storage of flood water is provided. 
 
23. Flood Evacuation Plan - Commercial Property 
  
 The development shall be undertaken, managed and maintained in accordance with the 

Emergency Flood Response Plan Version No: 3.0 Final July 2022 prepared by SLR submitted 
under application reference 22/02623/COND. 

  
 The FEP shall be reviewed at intervals not exceeding 3 years, and will form part of the Health & 

Safety at Work Register maintained by the applicant. 
  
 Reason: To limit the risk of flooding by ensuring the provision of a satisfactory means of flood 

management on the site 
 
24. Electric Vehicle Charging Points  
  
  The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the letter dated 19 April 2022 from 

SLR Consulting Ref: 416.08721.00003 (in respect of Condition 9 only) submitted under 
application reference 22/02001/COND unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

  
 The Electric Vehicle Charging Points as approved shall be installed prior to occupation and 

retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 
  
 Reason: To promote sustainable travel, aid in the reduction of air pollution levels and help 

mitigate climate change. 
 
25. Marked Cycle Route within the Site 
   
 The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the following drawings submitted 

Page 114



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

under application reference 22/02001/COND unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

  
 - 402_08721_00003_07_030.C3 PROPOSED WHITE LINING & SIGNAGE LAYOUT 
 - 402_08721_00003_07_010.C13 PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT  
  
 The cycle route as approved shall then be installed prior to occupation or use commenced and 

retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime of the development. 
  
 Reason: To promote sustainable travel, aid in the reduction of air pollution levels and to ensure 

the safety of cyclists 
 
26. Tree planting plan - Landscape condition 
  
 The development shall be undertaken in accordance with the:   
  
 3153_Planting Schedule - HWRC Issue 24.11.21 Rev D prepared by The Landmark Practice 
 Landscape Softworks Plan (3153_L_SW_0_01 Rev H) prepared by The Landmark Practice 
  
 submitted under application reference 21/06605/COND unless otherwise agreed in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority. 
  
 The planting shall be carried out no later than during the first planting season following the date 

when the development hereby permitted is ready for occupation or in accordance with a 
program, details of which shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning 
authority. 

  
 Any tree(s) that die(s), are/is removed, become(s) severely damaged or diseased shall be 

replaced and any new planting (other than trees) which dies, is removed, becomes severely 
damaged or diseased within five years of completion shall be replaced. Replacement planting 
shall be in accordance with the approved details (unless the Local Planning Authority gives its 
written consent to any variation). 

  
 Reason: To ensure that the appearance of the development is satisfactory and in line with Bristol 

City Council Policy DM17 
 
27. Travel Plan 
  
 The development shall be managed, monitored and maintained in accordance with the Travel 

Plan prepared by SLR Consulting dated MAY 22 submitted under application reference 
22/02623/COND 

  
 The approved Travel Plan shall be implemented, monitored and reviewed in accordance with 

the agreed Travel Plan Targets to the satisfaction of the council. 
  
 Reason: In order to deliver sustainable transport objectives including a reduction in single 

occupancy car journeys and the increased use of public transport, walking & cycling. 
 
28. Pre Booking Time Slot System 
  
 The development shall be managed and maintained in accordance with the letter dated 23 MAY 

2022 from SLR Consulting (in respect of Condition 16) submitted under application reference 
22/02623/COND and retained in that form thereafter for the lifetime of the development unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

    

Page 115



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 Reason: To aid in the reduction of air pollution levels by restricting car use within BCC 
Catchment area 

 
29. Security Management Plan 
  
 The development shall be undertaken, managed, and maintained in accordance with the cover 

letter 402.08721.00003 dated 23 May 2022 with reference to Condition 17; Drawing No. 
402_08721_00003_07_PL01.C0 PL-0 'Proposed Fencing Layout' dated May 2022 and in the 
Response to Counter Terrorism Support Adviser (CTSA) document received August 2022 
submitted under application reference 22/02623/COND in perpetuity. 

  
 Reason: To ensure the site is safe and secure and to discourage fly tipping. 
 
30. Operational Management 
 

Except for in the event of an emergency, no operations on site in association with the recycling 
or re use of waste shall take place outside the hours of 06:00am - 19.00pm Monday to Fridays 
and 08:00am - 19.00pm Saturday, Sundays & Bank Holidays. The overall operation of the HRRC 
shall be undertaken in accordance with the tasks and specified time periods within the Extension 
of Operating Hours - Noise Management Plan SLR Ref: 403.08721.00003 Version 1 dated 
February 2023 hereby approved throughout the duration of the use each day, and throughout 
the lifetime of the development.  No public access shall be allowed before 8am on any day.  

  
 Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby premises and the area generally. 
  
 
31. Restriction of noise from plant and equipment 
  
 The rating level of any noise generated by plant & equipment as part of the development shall 

be at least 5 dB below the background level as determined by BS4142: 2014 Methods for rating 
and assessing industrial and commercial sound. 

  
 Reason: To safeguard the amenity of nearby premises and the area generally. 
 
List of approved plans 
 
32. List of approved plans and drawings 
   
 The development shall conform in all aspects with the plans and details shown in the application 

as listed below, unless variations are agreed by the Local Planning Authority in order to 
discharge other conditions attached to this decision. 

  
 191010-HAR-TPP-Rev A DB&AM Tree Protection Plan prepared by Hillside Trees Ltd., received 

30 October 2019 
 3153 Rev A Planting Schedule dated 02.12.19 prepared by The Landmark Practice, received 

17 December 2019 
 3153_L_HWRC Planting Maintenance Specification prepared by The Landmark Practice, 

received 17 December 2019 
 010S Proposed Southern Exit Bridge GA Details prepared by SLR Consulting Ltd dated 

December 2019, received 17 December 2019 
 0101N Proposed Northern Entrance Bridge GA Details prepared by SLR Consulting Ltd dated 

December 2019, received 17 December 2019 
 EA-002 Revision P0 Floodplain Compensation to Pigeonhouse Stream, received 20 February 

2020 
 A-001 Revision P1 Proposed Site Layout, received 15 January 2020 

Page 116



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 Table 5-4 (only) of the submitted Air Quality Assessment - Version 2 dated December 2019 
prepared by SLR, received 23 December 2019 

 015 Site location plan, received 30 October 2019 
 002 Existing site survey and planning boundary, received 30 October 2019 
 007 P0 Proposed re-use facility plans, received 30 October 2019 
 013 P0 Services plan, received 30 October 2019 
 3153_L_D_3_01 Rev A Tree pit details, received 17 December 2019 
 3153_L_SW_0_01 Rev C Landscape softworks, received 17 December 2019 
 003 Existing elevations, received 30 October 2019 
 006 Proposed site elevations, received 30 October 2019 
 Rev A Arboriculture impact assessment, method statement and tree protection plan dated 

October 2019 prepared by Hillside Trees Ltd, received 30 October 2019 
 Landscape and Ecological Management Plan dated October 2019, prepared by The Landmark 

Practice, received 30 October 2019 
 Ecological Precautionary Method of Working Version 01 dated October 2019 prepared by The 

Landmark Practice, received 30 October 2019 
 402.08721.00003 V01 Flood Risk Assessment and Surface Water Drainage Strategy prepared 

by SLR dated October 2019, received 30 October 2019 
 Version 3 Sustainability Statement dated February 2020 prepared by SLR, received 25 February 

2020 
 402_08721_00003_07_004.P4 Proposed site layout and planning boundary, received 19 

August 2021 
 402_08721_00003_07_005.P1 Proposed roof plan, received 17 June 2021 
  
 006 Proposed site elevations., received 31 May 2022 
 008 Proposed function area zoning., received 31 May 2022 
 009 REV C1 Proposed vehicle tracking., received 20 August 2022 
 010 REV C15 Proposed site layout., received 20 August 2022 
 011 Proposed external illuminance lighting., received 31 May 2022 
 011 REV C2 Proposed site layout., received 20 August 2022 
 012 Proposed external lighting layout., received 31 May 2022 
 016 Welfare plan., received 31 May 2022 
 017 Welfare elevations., received 31 May 2022 
 07 REV C8 Proposed Drainage Layout received 31 May 2022 
 Night-Time Noise Impact Assessment VERSION NO: FINAL JANUARY 2023 received 6 

February 2023 
 Extension of Operating Hours-Noise Management Plan SLR Ref: 403.08721.00003 Version 1 

February 2023 
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt. 
  
  
Advices 
  
 1 Contamination Advice: 
   
 Prior to any enabling works commencing the Pollution Control team should be consulted 

regarding materials management on site and details provided about how the works will be 
managed i.e. materials management plans, permit exemptions, DoWCoP. 

  
 2 Noise Level Advice: 
    
 The recommended design criteria for dwellings are as follows: 
    
 Daytime (07.00 - 23.00) 35 dB LAeq 16 hours in all rooms & 50 dB in outdoor living areas. 

Page 117



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

 Nightime (23.00 - 07.00) 30 dB LAeq 8 hours & LAmax less than 45 dB  in bedrooms. 
    
 Where residential properties are likely to be affected by amplified music from neighbouring pubs 

or clubs, the recommended design criteria is as follows: 
    
 Noise Rating Curve NR20 at all times in any habitable rooms 
  
 3  Tree Planting Season Advice: 
    
 You are advised that the tree planting season is normally November to February. 
  
 4 PV Advice 
   
 The projected annual yield and technical details of the installed system will be provided by the 

Micro-generation Certification Scheme (MCS) approved installer.  
   
 The impact of shading on the annual yield of the installed PV system (the Shading Factor) should 

be calculated by an MCS approved installer using the Standard Estimation Method presented 
in the MCS guidance. 

  
 5 Environment Agency Advice: 
   
 Over and above the requirement for planning permission, works in, over, under or within 8 

metres of the brink of the bank of the Pigeonhouse Stream, a designated Main River will require 
an Environmental Permit for Flood Risk Activities. Further details can be found here: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-activities-environmental-permits or by contacting your 
local Environment Agency office by emailing bridgwater.FRAP@environment-agency.gov.uk 

   
 The Pigeonhouse Stream will need to be assessed for Water Framework Directive (WFD) 

compliance, due to the proposals to construct 2 bridges across the span of the waterbody. A 
high level WFD Screening assessment to consider the potential impact on the waterbody will 
therefore need to be undertaken. This need not be an onerous exercise and can be carried out 
through following the link provided here: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-
framework-directive-how-to-assess-the-risk-of-your-activity. This is linked to the Flood Risk 
Activity Permit detailed above. 

   
 This development will require an environmental permit under the Environmental Permitting 

(England and Wales) Regulations 2016, Regulation 12. In circumstances where a waste 
activity/operation meets certain criteria, an exemption from permitting may apply, more 
information on exempt activities can be found here: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/register-your-
waste-exemptions-environmental-permits The applicant is advised to contact the Environment 
Agency for pre application advice to discuss the issues arising from the permit application 
process. Further information can be found at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environmental-permit-pre-application-advice-form 
or by contacting 03708 506506 or via email: enquiries@environment-agency.gov.uk. 

  
 6 Works on the Public Highway 
   
 The development hereby approved includes the carrying out of work on the adopted highway. 

You are advised that before undertaking work on the adopted highway you must enter into a 
highway agreement under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 with the council, which would 
specify the works and the terms and conditions under which they are to be carried out.  

   
 Contact the Highway Authority's Transport Development Management Team at 

transportDM@bristol.gov.uk allowing sufficient time for the preparation and signing of the 

Page 118



Item no. 2 
Development Control Committee B – 8 March 2023 
Application No. 22/02730/X : 83 Hartcliffe Way Bristol BS3 5RN   
 

27-Feb-23  

Agreement. You will be required to pay fees to cover the council's costs in undertaking the 
following actions: 

   
  I. Drafting the Agreement 
  II. A Monitoring Fee equivalent to 15% of the planning application fee 
  III. Approving the highway details 
  IV. Inspecting the highway works 
   
 NB: Planning permission is not permission to work in the highway. A Highway Agreement under 

Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 must be completed, the bond secured and the Highway 
Authority's technical approval and inspection fees paid before any drawings will be considered 
and approved. 

   
 7 Structure Adjacent To/Within 6m of the Highway  
   
 The development hereby approved includes the construction of structures adjacent to or within 

six metres of the adopted highway. You are advised that before undertaking any work on the 
adopted highway you must prepare and submit an AiP Structural Report.  

   
 You will be required to pay technical approval fees (as determined by the proposed category of 

structure to be assessed) before the report will be considered and approved. Contact the 
Highway Authority's Bridges and Highway Structures Team at  bridges.highways@bristol.gov.uk 

  
 8 Travel Plan Statement / Travel Plan - Not Submitted  
   
 You are advised that a Travel Plan Statement / Travel Plan is required to be prepared and 

submitted using the Travel Plan Guide for New Developments and the associated templates at 
www.bristol.gov.uk/travelplans 

  
 9 Other Highway Advice - BNET Duct and Fibre:  
  
 The applicant is advised BNET Duct and Fibre runs the length of footway on Hartcliffe Way. The 

applicant should outline the protection and quality levels expected in any build to protect BCC 
network within any highway works submission required by condition. 

  
10 Noise - plant & equipment 
   
 Anti vibration mounts should be used to isolate plant from fixed structures and a flexible 

connector used to connect the flue to the fan if there is a potential to transmit vibration to any 
noise sensitive property. Any systems will also need regular maintenance so as to reduce 
mechanical noise. 

  
11 Tree Protection:  
  
 You are advised to refer to BS5837 : 2012 Trees in relation to construction for detailed 

information on types of tree protection, protection zones and other relevant matters. 
  
 
 
commdelgranted 
V1.0211 

 
 
 

Page 119



Supporting Documents 
 

 
83 Hartcliffe Way 
 

1. Proposed site layout 
2. Noise Management Plan for Extension of Operating Hours 
 

 

Page 120



HGV EXIT

W
EI

G
H

BR
ID

G
E

OPERATIONAL AREA

STAFF CAR PARK

REJECT VEHICLE HGV &
STAFF CAR PARK ENTRY

REJECT VEHICLE EXIT

HGV ENTRY

10mx10m BAY

SHARED PATH

RAMP UP

RAMP D
OW

N TO
 E

XIT

REUSE CAR PARK

R
EJ

EC
T 

VE
H

IC
LE

 L
AN

E

NORTH BRIDGE

SOUTH BRIDGE

10mx10m BAY

10mx10m BAY

Security hut.

Footpath to tie back
to existing bridge
(ref dwg.35)

REUSE BUILDING

SITE ENTRANCE

SITE EXIT

For footpaths and junction details
at site entrance refer to
Highways set of drawings.

Ducting for future electric vehicle
charging points.
Ducts to be connected to drawpits
from proposed services network. Ducts
to be capped and sealed with draw
chords.

FLOOD PLAIN COMPENSATION AREA

R
ai

se
d 

Sk
ip

Pl
at

fo
rm

 B
ay

Interlocking Blocks Bays
(1400x700x700 units)

Proposed location for
5000l fuel tank with
isolation switch

Forklift truck charging point
type 'Jungheinrich charger
SLH 300i 80 V/170A'

Substation GRP

Distribution
Board, WPD
Cut-Out Kiosk

2,
27

REUSE
PARKING

HRRC

HGVHRRC

Pi
ge

on
ho

us
e

St
re

am

Pi
ge

on
ho

us
e

St
re

am
Fire Tank

Crash barrier

8m
 x

 4
.5

m
Q

ua
ra

nt
in

e 
Ar

ea

Be
rg

m
an

n
ro

llp
ac

ke
r

36
0

M
at

er
ia

l
ha

nd
le

r

H
oo

kl
oa

de
r

FLT

Screen mesh above
handrails to avoid
waste disposal

Street cleansing
storage container

Proposed pedestrian route

2.4m x 6m
container

Modular Building

Temporary
Generator
stone base

1

2.5m x 2.5m
Bicycle trailer hire

Smoking area to be
shielded on 3 sides
and half front

Air conditioning
units

HB2 KERB
AROUND
PARKING

KEYCLAMP
FENCEFLUSH KERB

(PARKING AT 17.27m AOD)

HB2 KERB (125mm RISE)
(PARKING AT 17.27m AOD)

LOCATION OF TRANSITION KERB
TO BE DETERMINED ON SITEHB2 KERB

AROUND
PARKING

TRANSITION
KERB

CY
CL

ES

2.4m x 6m
container

Reuse Building

Access steps

R
EJ

EC
T 

VE
H

IC
LE

 E
XI

T 
LA

N
E

SPEL bypass
separator (Ref:
208 C1/SC) or

similar approved
(unit has 800

litres silt storage).

SPEL bypass
separator (Ref: 206
C2/SC) or similar
approved.

Contains OS data © Crown copyright [and database rights] (2015) 0100031673.Contains public sector information licensed under Open government Licence v3.0

www.slrconsulting.com

Drawing Number Revision

Scale Date

SUITE 1 POTTERS QUAY5 RAVENHILL ROADBELFASTBT6 8DNNORTHERN IRELANDT: +44 (0)28 9073 24938 PARKER COURTSTAFFORDSHIRE TECHNOLOGYPARK, BEACONSIDE,STAFFORD ST18 OWPT: +44 (0)1785 241755F: +44 (0)1785 241780

Drawing Title

Project

Revision By Chk'd By CommentsDate

NOTES

LEGEND

Site

TREENWOOD HOUSE
ROWDEN LANE

BRADFORD-ON-AVON
WILTS. BA15 2AU

T: 01225 309400
F: 01225 309401

LANGFORD LODGE109 PEMBROKE ROADCLIFTON, BRISTOLBS8 3EUT: 01179 064280F: 01173 179535FULMAR HOUSEBEIGNON CLOSEOCEAN WAYCARDIFF. CF24 5PBT: 029 2049 1010F: 029 2048 79034 WOODSIDE PLACECHARING CROSSGLASGOWG3 7QFT: 0141 353 5037F: 0141 353 50384/5 LOCHSIDE VIEWEDINBURGH PARKEDINBURGHEH12 9DHT: +44 (0)131 335 683065 WOODBRIDGE ROADGUILDFORDSURREYGU1 4RDT: +44 (0)1483 8898008 STOW COURTSTOW-CUM-QUYCAMBRIDGECAMBRIDGESHIRE. CB25 9AST: 01223 813805F: 01223 813783214 UNION STREETABERDEENAB10 1TLT: +44 (0)1224 517405SUITE 1,JASON HOUSEKERRY HILLHORSFORTHLEEDS. LS18 4JRT: 0113 2580650F: 0113 281883219 HOLLINGWORTH COURTTURKEY MILLMAIDSTONEKENT. ME14 5PPT: 01622 609242F: 01622 695872SAILORS BETHELHORATIO STREETNEWCASTLE UPON TYNETYNE AND WEAR. NE1 2PET: 0191 261 1966F: 0191 230 2346ASPECT HOUSEASPECT BUSINESS PARKBENNERLEY ROADNOTTINGHAM. NG6 8WRT: 01159 647280F: 01159 7515767 WORNAL PARKMENMARSH ROADWORMINGHALL, AYLESBURYBUCKS. HP18 9PHT: 01844 337380F: 01844 337381SUITE 5, BRINDLEY COURTGRESLEY ROADSHIRE BUSINESS PARKWORCESTER WR4 9FDT: +44 (0)1905 751310F: +44 (0)1905 7513112ND FLOORHERMES HOUSEHOLSWORTH PARKOXON BUSINESS PARKSHREWSBURY,SY3 5HJT: 01743 2392508TH FLOOR, QUAY WESTMEDIACITYUKTRAFFORD WHARF ROADMANCHESTERM17 1HH, UKT:+44 (0)161 872 756469 POLSLOE ROADEXETERDEVONEX1 2NFT: +44 (0)1392 490152F: +44(0)1392 495572WATERHOUSE BUSINESS CENTREUNIT 77, 2 CROMAR WAYCHELMSFORDESSEX, CM1 2QET: 01245 392170F: 01245 392171

LEGEND

SLR CONSULTING IRELAND7 DUNDRUM BUSINESS PARKWINDY ARBOURDUBLIN 14T: +353-1-2964667F: +353-1-2964676UNIT 2, NEWTON BUSINESS CENTRETHORNCLIFFE PARK ESTATENEWTON CHAMBERS ROADCHAPELTOWNSHEFFIELD, S35 2PWT:+44 (0)114 2455153 2 LINCOLN STREETLANE COVENEW SOUTH WALES 2066AUSTRALIAT: 61 2 9427 8100F: 61 2 9427 820083 VICTORIA STREETLONDONSW1H 0HWT: +44 (0)203 691 5810NO. 68 STIRLING BUSINESSCENTREWELLGREENSTIRLINGFK8 2DZT: +44 (0)1786 239900BUROCLUB157/155 COURS BERRIAT38028 GRENOBLE CEDEX 1FRANCET: + 33 4 76 70 93 41

N

© Crown copyright [and database rights]              0100031673 Expires

© This drawing and its content are the copyright of SLR Consulting Ltd and may not be reproduced or amended except by prior written permission.  SLR Consulting Ltd accepts no liability for any amendments made by other persons.
© This drawing and its content are the copyright of SLR Environmental Consulting (Ireland) Ltd and may not be reproduced or amended except by prior written permission.  SLR Environmental Consulting (Ireland) Ltd accepts no liability for any amendments made by other persons.© This drawing and its content are the copyright of SLR Consulting France SAS and may not be reproduced or amended except by prior written permission.  SLR Consulting France SAS accepts no liability for any amendments made by other persons.

HARTCLIFFE WAY HRRC

HRRC DEVELOPMENT

PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT

1:250@A1 JUNE 2022

010 C15
FINAL

T0 DH DP MAR 20 TENDER ISSUE

23/04/202015

1. This drawing to be read in conjunction
with all relevant Specialists and
Engineers drawings and specifications.

2. Do not scale this drawing. All dimensions
should be site checked by the Contractor
or relevant Sub-Contractor.

3. For Proposed Site Sections refer to
drawing 014.

Possible Contractor's Access

2.1m High Palisade Fencing

Access Gate within Fencing

Concrete Hardstanding

Tarmac Hardstanding

Indicative Landscaping

Canopy Over Recycling Area

Ducting for Future Electric
Vehicle Charging Points.
(ducts capped and sealed)

Electric Vehicle Charging Stations

Public Access Areas

Existing Perimeter Site
Fencing to Remain

NOTES

LEGEND

0 10m 20m

Metres 1:250

Cycle Track White Lining

AR Interlocking Blocks Bays movedDP JUL '21C1

Permeable Paving

AR Permeable Paving IncludedDP JUL '21C2

AR Fuel tank, FKL charger, substationDP OCT '21C3

AR substation & switch room
amendedDP OCT '21C4

AR Modular building moved
substation & cycle racks movedDP JAN '22C5

PS Exit junction & road over bridge
amendedDP JAN '22C6

AR Fire tank location moved.
Containers amendedDP FEB '22C7

AR
Pedestrian crossings added.
Containers amended. Modular
Building moved

DP FEB '22C8

AR
Substation rearranged

DP MAR '22C9

AR
5No. Parking spaces removed.
Cycle trailer & smoking area
added

DP MAR '22C10

AR
Modular Building ramps revised.
Road & footpath outline revised.
Air con. units added

DP MAR '22C11

AR
AC units changed location.
Footpath adjusted to
accommodate

DP APR '22C12

AR Shared path white linings added.
Diesel tank crash barrierDP JUN '22C14

AR
Cyclepath & Footpath converted
to unsegregated shared path.
Footbrdige works updated

DP JUN '22C13

PS Shared path white markings added.
2 by-pass separators indicated.DP AUG 22C15

Page 121



 

 
 

HARTLCIFFE HRRC  
 

Extension of Operating Hours-Noise Management 
Plan 

Prepared for: Bristol Waste Company  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
SLR Ref: 403.08721.00003 
Version No: Version 1 
February 2023 

Page 122



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

.  
  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
BASIS OF REPORT 

This document has been prepared by SLR with reasonable skill, care and diligence, and taking account of the manpower, timescales and 
resources devoted to it by agreement with Bristol Waste Company (BWC) (the Client) as part or all of the services it has been appointed 
by the Client to carry out. It is subject to the terms and conditions of that appointment. 

SLR shall not be liable for the use of or reliance on any information, advice, recommendations and opinions in this document for any 
purpose by any person other than the Client. Reliance may be granted to a third party only in the event that SLR and the third party 
have executed a reliance agreement or collateral warranty. 

Information reported herein may be based on the interpretation of public domain data collected by SLR, and/or information supplied 
by the Client and/or its other advisors and associates. These data have been accepted in good faith as being accurate and valid.   

The copyright and intellectual property in all drawings, reports, specifications, bills of quantities, calculations and other information set 
out in this report remain vested in SLR unless the terms of appointment state otherwise.   

This document may contain information of a specialised and/or highly technical nature and the Client is advised to seek clarification on 
any elements which may be unclear to it.  

Information, advice, recommendations and opinions in this document should only be relied upon in the context of the whole document 
and any documents referenced explicitly herein and should then only be used within the context of the appointment.  

 

Page 123



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

.  
  

 

CONTENTS  

 INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................................... 2 

 BACKGROUND ................................................................................................................. 3 

2.1 Hartcliffe HRRC ......................................................................................................................... 3 

 NOISE MANAGEMENT PLAN ............................................................................................ 4 

3.1 Plant Operations ....................................................................................................................... 4 

3.2 Training ..................................................................................................................................... 6 

3.3 Maintenance ............................................................................................................................. 7 

3.4 Public Relations ......................................................................................................................... 7 

3.5 Noise Monitoring Scheme ......................................................................................................... 8 

DOCUMENT REFERENCES 

TABLES  

 

Table 3-1 Permitted Operations ........................................................................................................... 5 

Table 3-2 Sound Levels Commonly Found in the Environment ......................................................... 10 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix 01: Glossary of Terminology 
Appendix 02: Noise Monitoring Scheme 
 
 

Page 124



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 2  

 

 Introduction 

Bristol Waste Company (BWC) has appointed SLR Consulting Limited to produce a Noise Management Plan for 
their facility at the Household Recycling and Reuse Centre (HRRC) at the Bristol Waste Depot ("The Site”), 83 
Hartcliffe Way, Bristol BS3. 

A noise impact assessment has been previously conducted and is detailed within report ref: ‘APP 7 NOISE 
ASSESSMENT HRRC HARTCLIFFE ’.  

That report assessed the noise impact between 08:00hrs and 19:00hrs.  

Since that assessment was undertaken an extension to the operational hours at HRRC has been proposed, 
whereby the HRRC is to be operational between 06:00hrs and 19:00hrs to allow street cleansing staff and some 
HRRC staff to access the Site prior to the Site opening to the public.  

With regards to BS 4142:2014+A1:2019, assessment hours are referred to as daytime (07:00 – 23:00) and night-
time (23:00 – 07:00).  

A further report assessed the impact of the extension of operating hours between 06:00hrs and 07:00hrs at HRRC 
which was issued in December 2022, report ref:  ‘402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Night-time Noise Impact 
Assessment. ‘ 

After a review of a version of this Report submitted in December 2022 the following questions from the LPA have 
been answered by the operator to clarify operations during the extension period identified: 

 • Will all activities be the same on every day of the week or can noisier activities on a weekend remain till 
after 08.00 only? 

• “Yes, the noisier activities are not required until after 08.00 on weekends or Bank Holidays. “ 

• Could noisier activities detailed in the report be staggered so they occur later than 07.00? It would appear 
that this may naturally occur anyway.  

• “The request for the noisier activities was only for after 07.00.  

• The arrival of the Street Cleansing and drivers carrying out pre-user checks at 0.600 do not cause any 
noise issues.  

• Please note the loading out of the bulk haulage and the exchange of the RORO will not occur at the same 
time so there will not be an amalgamation of noise, they are separate activities carried out in the same 
area so we will be doing either one or the other” 

The Noise Management Plan is required to satisfy a request from Kate Cottrell at Bristol City Council (BCC) 
following an internal request  at BCC from the Pollution Control Officer (PCO), on the 19th January 2023. 

“An Extension of Hours Management Plan be submitted which shall include details of what activities will be 
carried out during what times during the extended hours, how these activities will be monitored and how any 
noise issues or complaints will be dealt with. 
 
This management plan should be read in conjunction with the above assessments where referenced. 
 
Whilst reasonable effort has been made to ensure that this noise management plan is easy to understand, it is 
technical in nature; to assist the reader, a glossary of terminology is included in Appendix 01. 

  

Page 125



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 3  

 

 Background  

2.1 Hartcliffe HRRC 

The variation in operations includes: 

1) An extension to the opening hours, to allow street cleansing and HRRC staff to access the site prior to 
the site opening for the public, which will require varying Condition 30; and  

2) Changes to the approved site layout, which will require varying Condition 32. 

During the extended hours: 

• Approximately 4-5 street cleansing staff members will enter the site at 06:00 before promptly leaving in 
the street cleansing vehicles. No waste will be brought on to the site by these vehicles. 

• In addition, BWC would like some HRRC staff to arrive at the site at 06.00 in order to get the site ready 
for opening to the public at 08.00.  

• The only operations which would take place between 06.00 and 08.00 would be the loading up of the 
green waste, black bag waste and wood to take off site, to ensure space available on site for that day’s 
incoming green waste, black bag and wood.  

• Onsite RORO exchanges would also start, to make sure the skips were empty at the beginning of the day. 

 The above required a variation of Condition 30, which sets out the approved opening hours.  

A detailed description of the Proposed Development is included within the Planning Application documentation 
and noise planning documentation referenced above. 

The proposed changes to the approved site layout would not have any implications for noise and are not 
considered further in these assessments. 

  

Page 126



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 4  

 

 Noise Management Plan 

In addition to the site-specific measures described later within this document the following general noise 
management processes should be implemented at the site. 

3.1 Plant Operations 

In regard to the wider operations schedule for the site, this would only occur between 06:00 - 19:00 Monday to 
Fridays and 08:00 - 19:00 Saturday, Sundays & Bank Holidays (except for in the event of an emergency) as agreed 
and within the identified time periods for each operation in accordance with Table 3-1 below. 

3.2 Extension Operations. 

At present the only operations which are permitted to take place between 06.00 and 08.00 would be the loading 
up of the green waste, black bag waste and wood to take off site, to ensure space available on site for that day’s 
incoming green waste, black bag and wood.  The permitted operations and time periods are summarised below: 

Onsite RORO exchanges would also start, to make sure the skips were empty at the beginning of the day. 

Page 127



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 5  

 

Table 3-1 
Permitted Operations  

Time Summer Period Winter Period 

06:00-07:00 

Site Open to Street Cleansing Staff 
 

Streets Cleansing staff arrive in 
their personal cars 

 
HRRC Hooklift driver start 

 
Streets vans and dillies leave site 

 
HRRC Hooklift leaves site 

Site Open to Street Cleansing Staff 
 

Streets Cleansing staff arrive in their 
personal cars 

 
HRRC Hooklift driver start 

 
Streets vans and dillies leave site 

 
HRRC Hooklift leaves site 

07:00-08:00 

First HRRC staff arrive 
 

Mobile plant checks conducted 
 

Bulk haulage loaded out (green 
waste, black bag and wood) (to 

ensure space 

 

available on site for that day’s incoming 

green waste, black bag and wood) 

 

Onsite RORO exchanges start 

First HRRC staff arrive 
 

Mobile plant checks conducted 
 

Bulk haulage loaded out (green waste, black bag and 
wood) (to ensure space available on site for that 

day’s incoming green waste, 

 

black bag and wood) 

 

Onsite RORO exchanges start 

08:00 –16:30 
HRRC Open to public 

 
Normal HRRC operations 

HRRC Open to public 
 

Normal HRRC operations 

16:30 –18:00 
HRRC Open to public 

 
Normal HRRC operations 

HRRC Closed 

18:00 –19:00 
HRRC Hooklift vehicle finished 

 
RORO movements stop 

HRRC Closed 

19:00 –06:00 HRRC Closed HRRC Closed 

 

  

Page 128



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 6  

 

Within the constraints of efficient site operations and the requirements of the relevant British Standards, the 
following is advisable.  

• Limit the use of particularly noise plant (such as during mobile plant checks identified) to the minimum 
time required, and not to leave equipment idling unnecessarily. 

• Similar care should be shown to RORO exchanges with the operator ensuring this activities are planned, 
and access is unrestricted so as to minimise the duration of activity to only that time necessary to 
complete operations. 

• Loading should be undertaken with care to avoid unnecessary impulsive or tonal qualities to operations. 

• Limit the number of plant items in use at any one time; i.e plan in sequence if at all possible. 

• Plant maintenance operations should be undertaken as far away from noise-sensitive receptors as 
possible; and if achievable in physically screened areas such as to the rear of the maintenance building 
to afford additional acoustic screening and avoid line of site with receptors identified. 

• Avoid increase of speed for internal site vehicle movements; and continue operate within the identified 
safe limits proposed as part of the H&S plan. This will avoid unnecessary engine or motor noise at 
receptors. 

• Ensure that operations are designed to be undertaken with any directional noise emissions pointing 
away from noise-sensitive receptors where practicable by utilising existing screening from intervening 
site structures.  

• When replacing older plant or equipment, ensure that the quietest plant available is considered 
wherever possible; and 

• Only use the required power and size of equipment. 

• Provide respite periods by limiting the number of consecutive days worked near residences; and 

• Schedule particularly noisy activities as late as possible in the morning and limit to identified operation 
periods as discussed and avoiding noisy activities occurring late into the evening/night-time period 
where outside current permits without prior approval or with permanent variation and assessment to 
reflect change in operations. 

3.3 Training 

It should be ensured that the current site induction programme and site rules include good working practice 
instructions for site staff/managers and contractors to help minimise noise and vibration whilst working on the 
site. It would be prudent to discuss through a short “toolbox talk” session the permitted activities to operatives 
who may be present during the extension period proposed. 

Good working practice guidance/instructions should include, but not be limited to, the following points: 

• Suitable initial site induction for new operatives to reflect operations timetable and permitted activities. 

• Avoid un-necessary revving of engines; and ensure pre-planning of plant movements, including ensuring 
clear access routes. 

• Plant used intermittently should be shut down between operational periods promptly to avoid excess 
noise generation by the site; 

• Avoid reversing wherever possible ad safe to do so in accordance with the site H&S plan;  

• Ensure that tailgates are shut and locked before leaving the tipping area;  

Page 129



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 7  

 

• Drive carefully and within the site speed limit at all times; 

• Report any defective equipment/plant as soon as possible so that corrective maintenance can be taken. 

• Regular scheduled team” toolbox teams” on appropriate processes during specific time periods. 

• Respectful attitudes and behaviour by operatives in regard to the surround in the context of potentially 
sensitive receptors. 

3.4 Maintenance 

A weekly inspection of all plant shall be made to ensure that: 

• Any plant found to be requiring interim maintenance should be identified by the operator and repairs 
undertaken by a qualified engineer as soon as possible.  

• Regular and effective maintenance of plant can play an important part in keeping noise levels under 
control. 

• Always ensure that doors fitted to any acoustic enclosures around fixed plant remain closed, the fitting 
of self-closing mechanisms is advisable. 

3.5 Public Relations 

It is essential to maintain good public relations with local residents in nearby noise-sensitive receptors most 
pertinently those on Novers Hill and Headley Lane.: 

• Endeavour to be good neighbours, i.e.: 

• Get to know the neighbours, be concerned about them and try to understand their problems, encourage 
them to know the site personnel, listen as well as talk, 

• Hold regular liaison meetings and provide information as freely as possible, 

• Create a good impression by running a tidy and efficient site, 

• Ensure lines of communication, including: 

• A nominated point of contact for issues relating to the site, as provided below: 

• Primary Site Contact 

o Lee Andow 

o Hartcliffe HRRC Supervisor  

o M:  07710 396972 

o Lee.andow@bristolwastecompany.co.uk 

o www.bristolwastecompany.co.uk 

o Bristol Waste Company 

o Hartcliffe Way, Hartcliffe, Filwood Park, Bristol, BS3 5RN 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 130

mailto:Lee.andow@bristolwastecompany.co.uk
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.bristolwastecompany.co.uk%2F&data=05%7C01%7Cvtaylor%40slrconsulting.com%7C54ff26d7bfff446e493a08db0aa8e406%7C109cec53a87742eb93e8b9f5c282ba38%7C0%7C0%7C638115492736088883%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=7ZhD7KF3B1ShMkZvEODTkhJGRtZl2L0i0lRRX6XyHww%3D&reserved=0


Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 8  

 

• Secondary Offsite Contact 

o Craig Powell  

o Contract Manager – Processing  

o M:  07795446343 

o www.bristolwastecompany.co.uk 

o Criag.powell@bristolwastecompany.co.uk 

o Bristol Waste Company 

o Albert Road, Bristol, BS2 0XS 

• SLR understand BWC also support having a liaison committee, 

• Give advance notice and explanation of activities that might cause complaint, 

• Keep systematic records of complaints and the remedial actions taken, 

• Follow up complaints with correspondence and action, 

• Ensure that site staff are environmentally aware and are trained to cope with issues, 

• Do not rely on the letter of the law where there are obvious problems, but culpability cannot be easily 
proved; be prepared to be flexible, 

• Try to co-operate and avoid being adversarial. 

3.6 Noise Monitoring Scheme 

The noise monitoring scheme, outlined in Appendix 02, details the actions which should be undertaken following 
a non-compliance with the consented noise limits and/or a complaint being received, namely: 

• If existing typical background sound levels during the assessment period (See ‘402.08721.0003 - 
Hartcliffe Way - Night-time Noise Impact Assessment. ‘ ) are exceeded during a survey as a result of 
operations at the recycling site, an investigation shall be instigated within one working day to identify 
the cause of the exceedance. 

• Such an investigation may involve the identification and cessation of the activity or activities considered 
to be the cause of the non-compliance and/or the investigation of mitigation measures to reduce the 
noise emission levels from the activity or activities, for example the use of loading bays further from 
receptors, or better screened. 

• Any deviation from agreed working practices shall be identified immediately and conformance to the 
working practice reinstated.  

• A further noise survey shall be undertaken as soon as possible following the implementation of 
mitigation to re-assess the noise levels against the consented noise limits.  

• A complaints response system shall be maintained by BWC for the site enabling any complaints regarding 
noise to be reported and appropriate action taken. 

 

 

Page 131



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 9  

 

APPENDIX 01 

Glossary of Terminology 

  

Page 132



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 10  

 

In order to assist the understanding of acoustic terminology and the relative change in noise, the following background 
information is provided. 

The human ear can detect a very wide range of pressure fluctuations, which are perceived as sound. In order to express 
these fluctuations in a manageable way, a logarithmic scale called the decibel, or dB scale is used. The decibel scale typically 
ranges from 0 dB (the threshold of hearing) to over 120dB. An indication of the range of sound levels commonly found in 
the environment is given in the following table. 

 

Table 3-2 Sound Levels Commonly Found in the Environment 

Sound Level Location 

0 dB(A) Threshold of hearing 

20 to 30 dB(A) Quiet bedroom at night 

30 to 40 dB(A) Living room during the day 

40 to 50 dB(A) Typical office 

50 to 60 dB(A) Inside a car 

60 to 70 dB(A) Typical high street 

70 to 90 dB(A) Inside factory 

100 to 110 dB(A) Burglar alarm at 1m away 

110 to 130 dB(A) Jet aircraft on take off 

140 dB(A) Threshold of Pain 

Acoustic Terminology 

dB (decibel) The scale on which sound pressure level is expressed. It is defined as 20 times the logarithm of the ratio 
between the root-mean-square pressure of the sound field and a reference pressure (2x10-5Pa). 

dB(A) A-weighted decibel. This is a measure of the overall level of sound across the audible spectrum with a 
frequency weighting (i.e. ‘A’ weighting) to compensate for the varying sensitivity of the human ear to 
sound at different frequencies. 

LAeq LAeq is defined as the notional steady sound level which, over a stated period of time, would contain the 
same amount of acoustical energy as the A - weighted fluctuating sound measured over that period.  

L10 & L90 If a non-steady noise is to be described it is necessary to know both its level and the degree of 
fluctuation. The Ln indices are used for this purpose, and the term refers to the level exceeded for n% of 
the time. Hence L10 is the level exceeded for 10% of the time and as such can be regarded as the 'average 
maximum level'. Similarly, L90 is the ‘average minimum level’ and is often used to describe the 
background noise. It is common practice to use the L10 index to describe traffic noise. 

LAmax LAmax is the maximum A - weighted sound pressure level recorded over the period stated. LAmax is 
sometimes used in assessing environmental noise where occasional loud noises occur, which may have 
little effect on the overall Leq noise level but will still affect the noise environment. Unless described 
otherwise, it is measured using the 'fast' sound level meter response. 

  

Page 133



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 11  

 

APPENDIX 02 
Noise Monitoring Scheme  

  

Page 134



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 12  

 

Purpose 

The purpose of this potential assessment scheme will facilitate potential future data acquisition with a prescribed 
methodology to demonstrate to BCC LPA that the permitted development is being operated within the 
consented noise limits, and in such a manner as to identify and minimise potential emerging noise impact at 
nearby noise-sensitive receptors.  

If the consented noise-limits are found to be breached, the noise monitoring scheme will prompt remedial 
actions to ensure ongoing future compliance. 

Noise Sensitive Locations 

The closest noise-sensitive receptors are considered to be: 

• NSR1 – a series of residential properties approximately 80m to the west of the Site, on Headley Lane; 
and 

• NSR2 – a series of residential properties approximately 160m to the east of the Site, on Novers Hill. 

Where possible, the noise monitoring locations selected should allow noise information this is representative of 
the identified locations to be gathered without the necessity to access private land. Typically, an indicative 
boundary between the property and the public realm will be suitable. 

Noise Measurement Equipment 

Environmental noise levels shall be measured using sound level meters conforming to type 1 or better of the 
latest versions of British Standard EN 61672-1:2003 Electro-acoustics, Sound Level Meters, Specifications. 

The sound level meters shall be field-calibrated before and after monitoring using an acoustic calibrator 
conforming to the latest version of British Standard EN 60942:2003 Electro-acoustics – Sound Calibrators. 

All sound level meters shall be calibrated to a traceable standard by a UKAS-accredited laboratory, or equivalent, 
within a 24-month period before the survey and all acoustic calibrators shall be calibrated to a traceable standard 
by a UKAS-accredited laboratory, or equivalent, within a 12 month period before the survey. 

Noise Survey Methodology 

Noise measurements shall be undertaken by a suitably qualified person at the noise-sensitive locations identified 
above. The noise measurements shall be undertaken during a normal working day and night, during typical 
working hours, avoiding meal breaks and times when plant and equipment within the site are not operational. 

If relevant and possible measurements should be taken during the specific identified period relating to complaint. 

Noise levels shall also be measured during a period when the site is not operational, for example during a lunch 
break or shift change, to enable the noise levels attributable to site operations alone, to be determined by decibel 
subtraction. 

The sound level meter shall be positioned such that the microphone is located 1.2 to 1.5 metres above local 
ground level in free-field conditions, i.e. at least 3.5 metres from the nearest vertical, reflecting surface, at all 
survey locations. 

Operational noise levels shall be measured over a one-hour period during the normal working day. 

A note of the prevailing weather conditions shall be made at the time of the survey and the audibility of the site 
shall be noted at each measurement location during each measurement period. 

Page 135



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 13  

 

Frequency of Measurements 

Noise monitoring shall be flexible in its frequency and an assessment of the risk of potential impact should be 
made for all operations, with monitoring being undertaken when: 

• Atypical operations are being undertaken close to the site boundary; 

• Atypical operations are outside the specification for the normal operation of the site; and 

• Atypical operations are being undertaken at elevated positions within the site. 

As a minimum, if none of the above points apply, noise monitoring should be undertaken on the basis of 
complaint or concerns only if and when they arise and BCC LPA inform the client, at which time a review shall be 
undertaken in consultation with the Local Planning Authority and the client representative acoustic engineer, to 
determine next steps for potential mutually agreeable mitigation for implementation. 

Reporting 

On completion of any additional noise survey a report shall be prepared and issued to BWC in a format suitable 
for submission to BCC LPA. Depending on the prevailing weather conditions, the report shall be submitted within 
ten working days (wherever possible) of a written request from BWC to undertake the monitoring. 

The report shall contain, as a minimum: 

• the results of the noise survey, i.e. noise levels during site operations and noise levels with the site not 
operating, in terms of the LAeq, and LA90 noise indices; 

• details of the instrumentation used to include calibration details; 

• details of the prevailing weather conditions on the day of the survey; 

• details of the audibility of the site; and 

• details of any extraneous noise sources that influenced the noise climate. 

Non-compliance with Noise Limits/Receipt of Complaint 

If the consented noise limits are exceeded during a survey as a result of operations at the Hartcliffe HRRC or a 
complaint is received by a local resident, an investigation shall be instigated within one working day to identify 
the cause of the non-compliance/complaint. 

Such an investigation may involve the identification and cessation of the activity or activities considered to be 
the cause of the non-compliance/complaint and/or the investigation of mitigation measures to reduce the noise 
emission levels from the activity or activities, for example the replacement of noisy plant with quieter 
alternatives and/or the use of temporary screening mounds. 

Any deviation from agreed working practices shall be identified immediately and conformance to the working 
practice reinstated.  

A further noise survey in accordance with the above methodology shall be undertaken as soon as possible 
following the implementation of mitigation to re-assess the noise levels against the consented noise limits.  

A complaints response system shall be maintained by BWC for the site enabling any complaints regarding noise 
to be reported and appropriate action taken promptly. 

 

Page 136



Bristol Waste Company 
Extension of Houses Noise Management Plan – Hartcliffe HRRC 
Filename: 402.08721.0003 - Hartcliffe Way - Noise Management Plan for Extension of Hours 
(Condition 30 Variation)  

 
SLR Ref No: 403.08721.0003  

February 2023 

  

 
Page 14  

 

Programme of Implementation 

The principles of noise monitoring scheme shall be implemented on an ad hoc on-going basis in line with the 
terms identified above dictating as and when a further assessment may be deemed as required and will be 
subject to written approval from BCC LPA of methodology and timescales. 

Data Retention 

The noise survey data obtained during the routine noise surveys shall be retained by BWC or by agreement by 
their sub-consultant for the full duration of the permitted operations or in accordance with the requirements of 
GDPR. 

 

Page 137



 

 

EUROPEAN OFFICES 
 
 
United Kingdom 

AYLESBURY 
T: +44 (0)1844 337380 
 
BELFAST 
belfast@slrconsulting.com 
 
BRADFORD-ON-AVON 
T: +44 (0)1225 309400 
 
BRISTOL 
T: +44 (0)117 906 4280  
 
CARDIFF 
T: +44 (0)29 2049 1010  
 
CHELMSFORD 
T: +44 (0)1245 392170  
 
EDINBURGH 
T: +44 (0)131 335 6830 
 
EXETER 
T: + 44 (0)1392 490152  
 
GLASGOW 
T: +44 (0)141 353 5037  
 
GUILDFORD 
T: +44 (0)1483 889800 

 
 
Ireland 

DUBLIN 
T: + 353 (0)1 296 4667  
 

. 

LONDON 
T: +44 (0)203 805 6418 
 
MAIDSTONE 
T: +44 (0)1622 609242  
 
MANCHESTER 
T: +44 (0)161 872 7564 
 
NEWCASTLE UPON TYNE 
T: +44 (0)191 261 1966  
 
NOTTINGHAM 
T: +44 (0)115 964 7280  
 
SHEFFIELD 
T: +44 (0)114 245 5153 
 
SHREWSBURY 
T: +44 (0)1743 23 9250  
 
STIRLING 
T: +44 (0)1786 239900 
 
WORCESTER 
T: +44 (0)1905 751310  
 
WORCESTER 
T: +44 (0)1905 751310  

 
 
France 

GRENOBLE 
T: +33 (0)6 23 37 14 14 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 138


	Agenda
	1 Welcome, Introduction and Safety Information
	Planning Committee Diagram v0.6 (PDF)

	4 Minutes of the previous meeting held on Wednesday 18th January 2023
	5 Action Sheet
	6 Appeals
	7 Enforcement
	9 Planning and Development
	Development Control Committee B
	8 March 2023
	Report of the Director: Economy of Place


	9a 21/02794/F 86 to 92 and 96 to 102 Stokes Croft, Croftdale, Hepburn Road
	BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY
	RELEVANT HISTORY
	APPLICATION
	RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY AND CONSULTATION
	RELEVANT POLICIES
	KEY ISSUES
	RECOMMENDED REFUSE
	Supporting Documents

	9b 22/02730/X 83 Hartcliffe Way
	BACKGROUND
	RELEVANT HISTORY
	APPLICATION DETAIL
	RELEVANT POLICIES
	KEY ISSUE - ARE THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS ACCEPTABLE
	RECOMMENDED GRANT subject to condition(s)
	Supporting Documents


